COMMUNITY RIGHTS, MANAGEMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES AND THE ENVIRONMENT



PRIORITY AREA 2: COMMUNITY RIGHTS, INDIGENOUS PEOPLES, LAND-RELATED RIGHTS, NATURAL RESOURCES & THE ENVIRONMENT

#ThaiBHRNetwork CC





This work is licensed under Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International Public License ("Public License").

To view a copy of this license, visit: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4. o/legalcode For more information about the NBA on BHR, please contact:

Emilie Pradichit
Founder & Director
Manushya Foundation
emilie@manushyafoundation.org

Ananya Ramani
Human Rights and Advocacy
Coordinator
Manushya Foundation
ananya@manushyafoundation.org



About the Thai BHR Network

The Thai Business and Human Rights Network (TBHRN) is an informal, inclusive and intersectional coalition of human rights defenders, community leaders, researchers, academics, and non - governmental organisations from the local, national and regional spheres, who are joining hands to ensure local communities are central to the business and human rights response in Thailand. The Network engages in advocacy, dialogue, and monitoring of business and human rights commitments made by the Royal Thai Government, in particular in engaging in the development and monitoring of the National Action Plan on Business and Human Rights. More information on the TBHRN and its role can be accessed at:

https://www.manushyafoundation.org/coalition-building-workshopreport



SPECIAL THANKS

On behalf of Manushya Foundation, I would like to convey our sincere gratitude to all the individuals who have engaged in our business and human rights strategy, who have all contributed sincerely and meaningfully to the development of the Independent CSO National Baseline Assessment (NBA) on Business & Human Rights in Thailand, and who all share our common vision of communities at the heart of our work, thus bringing to focus and empowering local and affected communities to be at the center of the business and human rights response in Thailand.

We are eternally grateful to the national, regional and international experts that dedicated their time, their invaluable support and guidance to help our organisation and the community members we work with, comprising the Thai BHR Network; to understand the language of business and human rights (BHR), its application in the region and internationally that in turn contributed to the successful collection and collation of evidence-based data and information into our own Independent CSO National Baseline Assessment (NBA) on business and human rights in Thailand. In this regard, we are especially grateful to Commissioner Angkhana Neelapaijit of the National Human Rights Commission of Thailand (NHRCT) for her invaluable expertise on the protection of human rights defenders and on the importance of applying a gender lens in the context of business and human rights in Thailand; Ms. Debbie Stothard for her extensive contribution with capacity building on business and human rights achieved through workshops conducted together with ALTSEAN-Burma; Mr. Prabindra Shakya for sharing his knowledge and expertise on the application of the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights (UNGPs) particularly on issues related to indigenous peoples; Ms. Golda Benjamin for her direction on the methods to document cases arising out of adverse business conducts; Ms. Patchareeboon Sakulpitakphon for imparting to communities an understanding on the responsibility of companies with regards to Pillar 2 of the UNGPs; Ms. Cindy Woods for providing an insight into existing National Action Plans on Business and Human Rights and the necessity for a National Baseline Assessment; Professor Vitit Muntarbhorn for his invaluable remarks, contributions and support to community researchers and the work of Manushya Foundation; and Professor Surya Deva for his support and important recommendations for the development of a meaningful National Action Plan (NAP) on Business and Human Rights (BHR).

We also would like to pay a special tribute to **Ms. Nattaporn Artharn**, who we owe a debt of gratitude to, for her constant and steadfast support, her meaningful contribution serving as our Community Empowerment Coordinator from 2017-2018, for the roll-out of our regional NBA dialogues and BHR capacity building workshops, for her dedication in empowering grassroots communities throughout all our events, for her invaluable grounded knowledge and positive spirit, and also for the inspiration she has granted to the shaping of our work on business and human rights by placing the concerns and solutions of communities at the center of all processes and content.

Manushya Foundation also extends its genuine appreciation and thanks to the Rights and Liberties Protection Department (RLPD) of the Ministry of Justice (MoJ), in particular **Ms. Nareeluc Pairchaiyapoom**; Former Thai representative to the ASEAN Intergovernmental Commission on Human Rights (AICHR), **Dr. Seree Nonthasoot**; and **Dr. Netithorn Praditsarn** of UN Global Compact Network of Thailand, for their acknowledgment of our work and the contributions made by representatives from our community coalition. We are particularly grateful for the safe space provided by the cooperation with the Rights and Liberties Protection Department (RLPD) of the Ministry of Justice (MoJ) in implementing Manushya Foundation's business and human rights' strategy; in particular, the co-hosting of four Regional National Baseline Assessment Dialogues (January-March 2017), the first experts meeting to inform the independent national baseline assessment on business and human rights in Thailand (2-3 September 2017), and the second experts meeting to discuss the findings and recommendations of the independent national baseline assessment on business and human rights in Thailand (28 February-1 March 2018).

Manushya Foundation, also expresses its heartfelt gratitude and deepest appreciation to all the grassroots community members, civil society and academics who are part of the Thai BHR Network, and partners who joined in their individual capacity, including representatives from and/or working on the following issues: rights of migrant workers, labour rights (formal and informal workers), trade unions, indigenous peoples, stateless persons, community rights, land-related rights, environmental rights, people with disabilities, LGBTI individuals, sexual and reproductive health, drug users, people living with HIV, sex workers, women's rights, the protection of human rights defenders, the impact of Thai outbound investments and trade agreements. We are forever thankful to them for the important contribution of their valuable time, their knowledge, their unique insight into their experiences and the situation on the ground in Thailand, and for providing meaningful input into the Independent CSO National Baseline Assessment (NBA) on Business & Human Rights in Thailand, and/or critical comments into the draft NAP on BHR. These individuals include the following:



- Amao Pongpanawan, Ethnic Peoples Development Foundation
- 2. Amporn Pripanasumpun, Indigenous Women Network of Thailand (IWNT)
- 3. Anuwat Promma, New Esaan Movement
- 4. Asmah Tanyongdao, Secretary Board Member of Manushya Foundation
- 5. Asmee Pu, Saiburi Basin of a River Youth Network
- 6. Buppavan Angkurasee, Amnat Charoen Women's Friend Center
- 7. Busayapa Srisompong, SHero & Migrant Rights Promotion Working Group (MRPWG)
- 8. Chainarong Sretthachau, Mahasarakham University
- 9. Chatchalawan Muangjan, EMPOWER Foundation
- 10. Chatjaporn Loyplew, Rak Talae Thai Association
- 11. Direk Hemnakorn, Thepa Community Leader, Green World Network
- 12. Dr. Somnuck Jongmeewasin, Silpakorn University International College
- 13. Jetsada Taesombat, The Foundation of Transgender Alliance for Human Rights (Thai TGA)
- 14. Jintana Srinudet, Consumer Rights Association
- 15. Jitti Pramongkit, Indigenous Women Network of Thailand (IWNT)
- 16. Jum Veerawan, Sangsan Anakot Yawachon Development Project
- 17. Junnapa Kuendee, Assembly of the Poor & Samacha Khon Jon Korani Kuen Pakmoon
- 18. Kanda Pramongkit, Indigenous Women Network of Thailand (IWNT)
- 19. Kanlaya Chularattakorn, Indigenous Women Network of Thailand (IWNT)
- 20. Kannikar Siriwong, Indigenous Women Network of Thailand (IWNT)
- 21. Kaosar Aleemama, Muslim Attorney Centre Foundation (MAC)
- 22. Kath Khangpiboon, Thammasat University
- 23. Katima Leeja, Indigenous Women Network of Thailand (IWNT)
- 24. Kieratikarn Techavadranakool, Rainbow Dream
- 25. Kittisak Rattanakrajangsri, Asia Indigenous Peoples Pact (AIPP) & Indigenous Peoples' Foundation for Education and Environment (IPF)
- 26. Kongpop Sennunta, Migrant Workers Federation (MWF)
- 27. Krisda Tuprung, CRC Coalition Thailand
- 28. Kraitong Ngamsurach, Valeo Rayong Labour Union
- 29. Krittipong Joopoh, Organic Family
- 30. Kunlakan Jintakanon, Network of Women Living with HIV in Thailand
- 31. Laofang Bundidterdsakul, Legal Advocacy for Indigenous Communities (LACIC) Thailand



- 32. Malinee Vachsook, Network of Women Living with HIV in Thailand
- 33. Manavee Dengdo, Land rights Activist, Budo Community
- 34. Manop Keawphaka, HomeNet Thailand
- 35. Manop Sanid, Change East Network
- 36. Manop Yasanop, Dignity Return Thai Informal Workers
- 37. Matcha Phorn-In, Sangsan Anakot Yawachon Development Project
- 38. Nada Chaiyajit, Intersex activist
- 39. Nan San May Khine, MAP Foundation
- 40. Napaporn Songprang, Vice-Chair of Manushya Foundation
- 41. Nattaporn Artharn, Coordinator of Ban Na Moon-Dunsad Environmental Conservation Group
- 42. Nattawut Chotikan, Faculty of Law, Thaksin University
- 43. Nattawut Kasem, Environmental Justice Foundation (EJF)
- 44. Nattawut Srijermthong, Thai Network of People Who Use Drugs (TNPUD)
- 45. Nattaya Petcharat, STELLA Maris Songkla
- 46. Nisarat Jongwisan, Tamtang Group
- 47. Nitaya Chuchuen, M-Moon
- 48. Nittaya Muangklang, Esaan Land Reform Network (ELRN)
- 49. Nongair Sairongyamyen, Sangsan Anakot Yawachon Development Project
- 50. Noppanai Rittiwong, SWING Foundation
- 51. Noreari Thungmuangthong, Indigenous Women Network of Thailand (IWNT)
- 52. Pairach Aurfur, Forersia Emission Control Technologies Labour Union
- 53. Pakorn Areekul, Political activist
- 54. Panjit Kaewsawang, Women's Rights Activist
- 55. Panachai Chanta, Inter Mountain Peoples' Education and Culture in Thailand Association (IMPECT)
- 56. Pathompong Serkpookiaw, Thai Network of People Who Use Drugs (TNPUD)
- 57. Phnom Thano, Indigenous Peoples' Foundation for Education and Environment (IPF)
- 58. Preeyapat Butprasert, Health and Opportunity Network (HON)
- 59. Punyaphat Kamonnet, Land Rights Activist
- 60. Punya Chusiri, Network of People Living with HIV in Thailand
- 61. Puttan Sakaekhum, The State Enterprise Workers' Relations Confederation (SERC)
- 62. Puttinee Gopatta, HomeNet Thailand
- 63. Ratchayaporntawee Tanawatthewakul, Health and Opportunity Network



- 64. Rattathammanoon Meepon, Andaman Power Phuket
- 65. Rokeeyoh Samaae, Thepa Community, Green World Network
- 66. Saovanee Kaewjullakarn, Thaksin University
- 67. Saowalack Pratumthong, Rak Talae Thai Association
- 68. Saowalak Thongkuay, Disabled Peoples' International Asia-Pacific Region (DPI/AP)
- 69. Saranya Boonpeng, Network of Women Living with HIV in Thailand
- 70. Saranya Katalo, Inter Mountain Peoples' Education and Culture in Thailand Association (IMPECT)
- 71. Sarawut Pinkanta, Center for Protection and Revival of Local Community Rights (CPCR)
- 72. Sarayuth Rittipin, Esaan Land Reform Network (ELRN)
- 73. Siribhadee Yensiri, Esaan Land Reform Network (ELRN)
- 74. Sirisak Chaited, LGBTI Activist & Sex Worker Activist
- 75. Sitifatimao Maauseng, Heart Support Group (Children in Deep South)
- 76. Sitthichai Tanoothong, Nakornnayok River Conservation Network
- 77. Sommai Chanthawong, EMPOWER Foundation
- 78. Somboon Kamhaeng, Community Leader, Pak Bara Seaport
- 79. Sompha Chaikla, Taphan Community Organization Council
- 80. Sompol Sitthiwetch, Andaman Power Phuket
- 81. Sompong Sakaew, Labour Rights Protection Network (LPN)
- 82. Sompong Viengchan, Woman Community Leader, Pak Mun Dam
- 83. Somyot Tohlang, Community member, Pak Bara Seaport
- 84. Suchart Intha, Migrant Workers Federation (MWF)
- 85. Sugarnta Sookpaita, Migrant Workers Federation (MWF)
- 86. Sulaiporn Chonwilai, Tamtang Group
- 87. Sumitchai Hattasan, Center for Protection and Revival of Local Community Rights (CPCR)
- 88. Sunaruk Kaeonukun, Network of People Living with HIV in Thailand
- 89. Supachai Niyompong, Rung Andaman Phuket
- 90. Supawat Samurpark, Disabled Peoples' International Asia-Pacific Region (DPI/AP)
- 91. Tee Nayod, Migrant Workers Federation (MWF)
- 92. Thankamol Bunchai, M-Moon
- 93. Thanunchay Svittnuntachai, Elderly Catholic Association
- 94. Thawatchai Khanawiwat, Plan International
- 95. Thissadee Sawangying, Health Opportunity Network (HON)



- 96. Thitiya Chutipun, Singburi Community Organisation Council/Singburi Women Group
- 97. Titipol Phakdeewanich, Ubon Ratchathani University
- 98. Udom Ngammuangsakul, University of Phayao
- 99. Vaewrin Buangoen, Kon Rak Ban Haeng Conservation Group (KRBH)
- 100. Varinyupa Buranaareepong, Asylum Access Thailand
- 101. Wanitchaya Kanthayuang, Indigenous Women Network of Thailand (IWNT)
- 102. Wannapong Yodmuang, Transwoman Activist
- 103. Watcharachai Jirajindakul, National Institute of Development Administration (NIDA)
- 104. Watchree Sirimaha, Network of People Living with HIV in Thailand
- 105. Wattana Sansa, YMP Labour Union
- 106. Winai Payakko, AGC Thailand Labour Union
- 107. Wimonrekha Sirichairawan, University of Phayao
- 108. Wipawee Silpitaksakul, Plan International Thailand
- 109. Wiraphat Wilaisilpdeler, Foundation For Older Persons' Development (FOPDEV)
- 110. Wiroon Sakaekhum, The State Enterprise Workers' Relations Confederation (SERC)
- 111. Witoowat Thongbu, Legal Center for Human Rights

Finally, Manushya Foundation would like to thank all the individuals who have participated and/or been supportive of all our business and human rights activities from 2017 till date, who we have not been able to name above, but who we still keep close to our hearts.

Through our Independent CSO National Baseline Assessment (NBA) on Business & Human Rights (BHR) in Thailand, we hope to provide the foundation for a meaningful National Action Plan (NAP) on Business and Human Rights (BHR), which would guarantee that Thai businesses are not committing or involved in human rights abuses wherever they operate. We strongly believe that our NBA on BHR could serve as a starting point to raise awareness on the challenges faced by affected communities on the ground, could help address corporate accountability, and ensure responsible business conduct. We see the Thai NAP on BHR as a critical opportunity for civil society and grassroots communities to engage collectively in order to promote a Thai economy that is sustainable and respectful of human rights, while building an understanding of private actors on the adverse impacts of their activities. It is our aspiration that this independent CSO NBA on BHR would influence the Thai NAP on BHR; a NAP that is inclusive of communities' voices, concerns and solutions. We truly believe that this represents a great opportunity for open, frank, transparent and constructive dialogue among all relevant sectors, so that we can all continue working together to ensure that Thai corporations respect human rights at home and abroad.

Emilie Palamy Pradichit

Founder & Executive Director Manushya Foundation

Emilie

Table of Contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	1
ABBREVIATIONS	2
INTRODUCTION: Manushya Foundation's Business & Human Rights Strategy	4
METHODOLOGY	6
CONTEXT	7
1. INTERNATIONAL & NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY FRAMEWORK: Existing Laws and Policies, Gaps and Legal Challenges	8
1.1. International Obligations	8
1.2. Regional Commitments	10
1.3. National Legislations	10
2. APPLICATION OF THE UN GUIDING PRINCIPLES ON BUSINESS AND HUMAN RIGHTS TO PROTECT, RESPECT AND REMEDY	15
2.1. Pillar I & Pillar III - The duty of the State to protect community rights and to ensure effective access to remedy	15
2.2. Pillar II & Pillar III - The corporate responsibility to respect community rights and to ensure effective access to remedy	17
3. PRACTICES ON THE GROUND: CHALLENGES, IMPACTS & SIGNIFICANT CASES	18
Challenge 1: The adverse impact of business activities affects the environment, health, and livelihood of rural communities	18
Challenge 2: Laws addressing community rights are themselves regressive or have gaps and barriers to effective implementation, and are at times in conflict with each other to ensure businesses' benefits	19
Challenge 3: The right to access to information of communities is violated, due to the failure to consult them or as a result of manipulation	20
Challenge 4: Community participation in decision-making is inadequate or completely absent in various occasions	21
Challenge 5: The right to public participation of communities is transgressed, using the justification of law or security	22
Challenge 6: The current system makes it possible to avoid genuine EIA	23
Challenge 7: The adverse impact on community rights resulting from business activities, when highlighted often leads to Strategic Lawsuit against Public Participation (SLAPP) lawsuits against community members, HRDs, and journalists	24
Challenge 8: Barriers are placed on attempts to access effective remedy for violations of community rights with respect to the management of natural resources and the adverse environmental impacts, emerging as a result of business activities	25
4. EXAMPLES OF GOOD PRACTICES AND GUIDELINES TO GUARANTEE COMPLIANCE WITH THE UN GUIDING PRINCIPLES ON BUSINESS & HUMAN RIGHTS AND IN THE IMPLEMENTATION OF LAW AND POLICY	26
4.1. Community-led Good Practices and Guidelines	26
4.2. Government-led Good Practices & Legislations	28
4.3. Business-led Good Practices & Guidelines	28
4.4. Good Practices & Guidelines led by Multilateral Initiatives	29
5. RECOMMENDATIONS AND ACTION PLAN FOR THE STATE: PILLAR I AND PILLAR III	31
6. RECOMMENDATIONS AND ACTION PLAN FOR BUSINESSES: PILLAR II AND PILLAR III	40
ENDNOTES	44



ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Manushya Foundation would like to sincerely thank everyone who contributed to the realisation of this Thematic Assessment Chapter on Community Rights, Management of Natural Resources and the Environment in the context of Business and Human Rights in Thailand. In particular, Manushya Foundation would like to express its deep appreciation to all members of the Thai Business and Human Rights (BHR) Network – in particular, environmental human rights defenders (EHRDs), indigenous peoples, grassroots communities, civil society organisations (CSOs), local and national academics and experts – for their invaluable inputs throughout the implementation of Manushya Foundation's business and human rights strategy and activities (Regional BHR workshops to demystify corporate accountability to HRDs and BHR Coalition building workshop), and the National Baseline Assessment (NBA) regional dialogues as well as two experts meetings held in 2017 and 2018 to inform our NBA on BHR.

Special thanks are also given to Manushya Foundation team members who developed this thematic assessment chapter, by conducting: desk research, analysis and writing, studying the international and national legal frameworks, analysis of the United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights (UNGPs), incorporating the voices and recommendations from the Thai BHR Network, and providing further analysis of good practices and development of the proposed action plan. These individuals are: Ms. Emilie Pradichit, Founder & Director, Manushya Foundation and Ms. Ananya Ramani, Human Rights Research & Advocacy Officer. Manushya Foundation is also grateful to the following individuals for their research and design assistance: Ms. Evie van Uden, Research & Development Researcher, Manushya Foundation; Ms. Laurene Cailloce, Communications & Advocacy Volunteer, Manushya Foundation; Ms. Silvia Fancello, Research & Communications Intern, and Ms. Zining Li, Human Rights & Development Intern.

Manushya Foundation would also like to acknowledge the financial contribution of Internews, which kindly supported the implementation of Manushya's BHR strategy and the development of the independent CSO NBA on BHR. We are particularly thankful to Mr. Brian Hanley, Asia Regional Director, Internews, and Ms. Carolann Minnock, former Thailand Country Director, Internews.



ABBREVIATIONS

AECEN Asian Environmental Compliance and Enforcement Network

ASEAN Association of Southeast Asian Nations

BHR Business and Human Rights

CCPR Committee on Civil and Political Rights

CERD Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination
CESCR Committee on Economic Social and Cultural Rights
CODI Community Organizations Development Institute

CHRB Corporate Human Rights Benchmark

CSO Civil Society Organisation EEC Eastern Economic Corridor

EGAT Electricity Generating Authority of Thailand
EHIA Environmental Health Impact Assessment
EHRD Environmental Human Rights Defender
EIA Environmental Impact Assessment

ENLAWTHAI Foundation

EPA Environmentally Protected Areas
EPPO Energy Policy and Planning Office
FAO Food and Agriculture Organization

FIDH International Federation for Human Rights

FPIC Free, Prior and Informed Consent

HRCHuman Rights CouncilHRDHuman Rights DefenderHRDDHuman Rights Due DiligenceHRIAHuman Rights Impact Assessment

ICCPR International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights

ICESCR International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights

IEEInitial Environmental ExaminationIFCInternational Finance CorporationILOInternational Labour Organization

ISOInternational Organization for StandardizationIWNTIndigenous Women Network of ThailandJOMPAJoint Management of Protect Areas

KRBK Kon Rak Baan Kerd Group

LGBTI Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, and Intersex

LVC La Via Campesina

MDES Ministry of Digital Economy and Society

MNRE Ministry of Natural Resources and Environment

MoJ Ministry of Justice

MoUMemorandum of UnderstandingMPCMyanmar Pongpipat Limited

MSDHS Ministry of Social Development and Human Security

NAP National Action Plan

NBA National Baseline Assessment
NCPO National Council for Peace and Order
NDF Northern Development Foundation
NEQA National Environmental Quality Bill

NFN Northern Farmer's Network **NGO** Non-governmental organisation

NHRCT National Human Rights Commission of Thailand

NLA National Legislative Assembly



NSC National Strategy Committee

OECD Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

ONEP Office of National Resources and Environmental Policy and Planning

PBS Public Broadcasting Service
PCD Pollution Control Department
PDP Power Development Plan
PSA Production Sharing Agreement
RIA Regulatory Impact Analysis

RLPD Rights and Liberties Protection Department

SCG Siam Cement Group

SEA Strategic Environment Assessment
SES Stakeholder Engagement Standard

SEZ Special Economic Zone

SLAPP Strategic Lawsuit against Public Participation

THB Thai Baht

TKL Tungkum Limited

UDHR Universal Declaration of Human Rights

UN United Nations

UNDRIP United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples

UNGC United Nations Global Compact

UNGP United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights

UPR Universal Periodic Review

UNHRCCommittee of the United Nations Human Rights Council
VP
Voluntary Principles on Security and Human Rights



INTRODUCTION: Manushya Foundation's Business & Human Rights Strategy

As part of its work in Thailand, the Manushya Foundation (Manushya) aims to further strengthen the capacity of local communities, members of the Thai CSOs Coalition for the Universal Period Review (UPR), of which many are experiencing adverse human rights impacts of corporations, to effectively engage in the UPR implementation phase and to hold the Royal Thai Government (RTG) accountable on its UPR commitments and business and human rights obligations.

After the Thai government received, during its second UPR, a recommendation from Sweden to develop a National Action Plan (NAP) on BHR with the view to implement the UNGPs, Manushya developed a strategy¹ aiming at empowering communities to be at the centre of the business and human rights response in Thailand, by guaranteeing their central role throughout the development, implementation and monitoring of the NAP. To this end, since the beginning of 2017, Manushya has reached out to local communities, national, regional and international experts on business and human rights to:

- Develop a CSO NBA on BHR, with communities' challenges and needs put at the centre of the assessment,
- Empower local communities to conduct evidence-based research and, together with academics, document Business and Human Rights issues they face, and
- Empower grass-root organisations to tip the balance of power between businesses and governments versus CSOs, and encourage more bottom-up approaches which view CSOs as equal partners. For that purpose, in addition to building capacities on BHR knowledge, Manushya also provides sub-grants to establish and sustain a national network on BHR comprising communities, academics and experts, called the "Thai BHR Network". The Thai BHR Network is an inclusive and intersectional network of grassroots communities, civil society, academics and experts, including representatives from and/or working on the following issues: rights of migrant workers, labour rights (formal and informal workers), trade unions, indigenous peoples, stateless persons, community rights, land-related rights, environmental rights, people with disabilities, Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, and Intersex (LGBTI) individuals, sexual and reproductive health, drug users, people living with HIV, sex workers, women's rights, the protection of human rights defenders (HRDs), the impact of Thai outbound investments and trade agreements.

As part of its BHR strategy and in order to inform the development of the independent CSO NBA, Manushya Foundation has supported the formation of the Thai BHR Network and has conducted a series of consultations to identify the key priority areas, as well as community-led recommendations: four Regional NBA Dialogues (January-March 2017)³, the first experts meeting to inform the independent NBA on BHR in Thailand (2-3 September 2017), and the second experts meeting to discuss the findings and recommendations of the independent NBA on BHR in Thailand (28 February-1 March 2018).⁴

In order to guarantee the safety of local communities and HRDs engaging in Manushya's strategy, all these six consultations were co-organised with the Rights and Liberties Protection Department (RLPD) of the Ministry of Justice (MoJ), Thailand.

Throughout the four regional NBA dialogues and the two experts meetings, Manushya and members of the Thai BHR Network have identified four main areas of focus for the CSO NBA:

- 1) Violations of Labour Rights and Standards;
- 2) Impacts on community rights, indigenous peoples, livelihoods, land-related rights, natural resources and the environment;
- 3) The protection of HRDs;
- 4) Trade agreements and outbound investments.

These four priority areas of focus influenced the content of the Government's NAP on BHR, following our key four priority areas. Thus, this Chapter falls under Priority Area 2 and is part of Manushya Foundation and the Thai BHR Network's Independent NBA on BHR in Thailand.⁵



Manushya Foundation and the Thai BHR Network, an inclusive and intersectional coalition of HRDs, community leaders, researchers, academics, and non-governmental organisations (NGOs) together ensure local communities are central to the BHR response and discourse in Thailand and work together to inform the development of the NAP on BHR, as well as to monitor and support its effective implementation, with communities' voices and solutions at the centre.

Role of Manushya

"Empowering local communities to be at the center of business and human rights discourse and of the NAP on BHR"

At Manushya, we strongly believe in the importance of collaboration and cooperation to further human rights and social justice and recognize the importance of approaching our work in a constructive manner to ensure the greatest positive change for the communities we serve. However, while we work with any and all willing partners to advance these causes, Manushya is a completely independent human rights organization. Our willingness to work with 'champions' to create a fairer, more equitable world is based solely on the needs of communities, with the singular purpose of ensuring no individual or group is the victim of human rights abuses caused by business conducts. Our approach lies in the empowerment of invisible and marginalized communities, sharing knowledge with them so they can assert for their rights, facilitating their meaningful engagement in the NAP process so they can become 'Agents of Change' providing solutions to improve their livelihoods.

Working with the RLPD of the MoJ in Thailand is a crucial element of achieving this. However, we see a key difference between working with and working for. For us, collaboration and critique are inseparable partners, and while we are enthusiastic to cooperate, we do so with our driving force of community empowerment at its core. This means that when we work with others, the working relationship has to be based on mutual respect for each other, ideally safeguarded by applying a bottom-up approach and not a top-down one. Our primary motivation and guiding principles are the needs of communities, not the needs of those we are collaborating with. While we believe the value of strong relationships with those in power cannot be denied as essential tools in the fight for human rights, we will not develop and maintain such relationships based on anything other than achieving the goals of the communities we serve, and we will not and have not ever shied away from being strong, critical voices against those we are working with when necessary to advance the needs of communities. Our independence is crucial to us and is what enables us to effectively tackle rights violations and inequality in Thailand.



METHODOLOGY

The methodology used in the research, analysis and writing for this Chapter on Community Rights, Management of Natural Resources and the Environment in the context of BHR in Thailand relies on primary and secondary data and resources. Firstly, primary sources, including voices, concerns, cases, experiences and recommendations of local communities and experts, were collected directly from Manushya Foundation's BHR activities; including:

- Four Regional NBA Dialogues on BHR conducted from January to March 2017⁶;
- Four regional capacity-building workshops on BHR to demystify corporate accountability to HRDs⁷ held in May-June 2017;
- Two Experts Meetings to get input from national, regional and international experts to inform its NBA and ultimately provide guidance for the development of the NAP on BHR. The First Experts' Meeting aimed at Informing the CSO NBA on BHR in Thailand in Bangkok (2-3 September 2017) and the Second Experts' Meeting focused on Findings and Recommendations for CSO BHR NBA in Bangkok (28 February to 1 March 2018)⁸; and
- The BHR Coalition Building Workshop held on 18-20 November 2017.

Secondly, this Thematic Chapter is based on desk-research and presents an analysis of the international, regional, and national legal and policy framework pertaining to community rights, the management of natural resources and the environment in Thailand, including the context of BHR and the UNGPs. The research included a systematic literature review of UN human rights bodies' and NGOs' reports, observations and recommendations; online news articles; expert papers; and other publications.



COMMUNITY RIGHTS, MANAGEMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES AND THE ENVIRONMENT

CONTEXT

Community rights, particularly those of rural communities, have been an ongoing debate under international human rights law. The first recognition of such a collective right took place under the leadership of La Via Campesina (LVC),¹⁰ an international peasants' movement which spearheaded the recognition of peasants' rights, beginning in 2001. In 2008, LVC adopted a Declaration on the Rights of Peasants, both women and men.¹¹ Another significant recognition for community rights was the coining of a definition for 'local communities' that was undertaken in 2005 during a research planning workshop in Peru.¹²

In March 2012, the Advisory Committee of the United Nations Human Rights Council (UNHRC) presented a study on the rights of people working in rural areas. ¹³ In it, it was acknowledged that the need to formally recognise these rights is crucial. Peasants and other people working in rural areas, including herders, pastoralists, and fisherfolks are marginalised, and represent about 70% of people living in extreme poverty, and 80% of the world's most hungry. ¹⁴ To close the definitional debate and to complement previously synthesised definitions, the Human Rights Council (HRC) in October 2012, established the open-ended intergovernmental working group on the United Nations (UN) declaration on the rights of peasants and other people working in rural areas. ¹⁵ More than six years after it was set up, a final declaration was eventually formalised and was adopted only on 28 September 2018. ¹⁶ This declaration on the rights of peasants and other people working in rural areas proposes a definition as follows, 'a peasant is any person who engages or who seeks to engage alone or in association with others or as a community, in small-scale agricultural production for subsistence and/or for the market, and who relies significantly, though not necessarily exclusively, on family or household labour and other non-monetised ways of organising labour, and who has a special dependency on and attachment to the lands. ¹⁷

Thai local communities are rarely involved in the process of developing and implementing projects. ¹⁸ Natural resource management projects are largely developed by the State and businesses, mirroring their own interests. ¹⁹ Hence, communities are often denied the rights to self-determination, sovereign decision-making, and participation when it comes to their livelihoods and their surrounding environment. ²⁰ Although during the first session of the UPR process in 2011 Thailand did not receive any recommendations on mining, petroleum projects, water, and natural resources management; ²¹ practices under these categories that are harmful to the environment, continue unabated. For instance, the construction of dams for development has negatively impacted the watershed ecosystem and communities through the decline of revenue, decay of natural food, increased food insecurity and change in the lifestyle of communities that rely on natural resources. ²² Further, decades of exploiting mineral resources for economic gain has disrupted the environment and the lives and livelihoods of many local communities. ²³ Mining and petroleum extraction operations destroy the ecological balance and contribute to global warming. In addition, mining causes the release of toxins into the soil, polluting water resources. ²⁴

Owing to increased water and air pollution, Thailand's economic growth has come at a great cost to both its environment and its people.²⁵ While the global trend is to decentralise large power stations, Thai public and private institutions seem to oppose this trend, increasing the reliance on fossil fuel.²⁶ In order to meet increased electricity needs, support industries, and boost the economy, the government of Thailand has implemented diverse operations and projects exploiting mineral and natural resources, including building dams, and mining or extracting petroleum.²⁷ However, such constructions have heavily impacted the environment and ecosystem, as well as the health and livelihoods of communities.²⁸ Communities have faced evictions, as well as serious violations when it comes to the right of a safe, clean, healthy, and sustainable environment due to such development projects.²⁹



Generally, natural resources management projects' policies are developed by the State and private actors, whose livelihoods are not dependent on the exploited resources.³⁰ The very concept of engaging communities in major projects which will directly or indirectly impact their lives is widely known and understood in multilateral human rights fora. However, in reality, meaningful consultations, prior participatory mechanisms and information sharing about the impact of certain activities with affected communities are mostly lacking when it comes to development projects or natural resource extraction.³¹ Such projects imposed by governments and businesses without meaningful consultation with local communities is a major cause of concern. As the final means to endure, communities resort to protests to exercise their rights. In turn, corporations and state agencies have countered protest and community activism with violence, harassment, and intimidation.³² In 2017, 197 cases of murdered land and EHRDs were reported.³³ Various investors, including development banks, have been fueling this vicious cycle of reprisals by funding abusive projects or by failing to take appropriate action against violent attacks targeting communities.³⁴

1. INTERNATIONAL & NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY FRAMEWORK: Existing Laws and Policies, Gaps and Legal Challenges

1.1. International Obligations

1.1.1. International Human Rights Law: The Right to self-determination, and to equality and non-discrimination - ratified by Thailand

The right to self-determination is a fundamental right and an essential prerequisite to individuals' human rights, which by themselves cannot be properly exercised without the realisation of the collective right to selfdetermination.³⁵ This right was first recognised by the UN Charter³⁶ and subsequently by the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR), and is provided for in both the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR) and the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR), in common Article 1. According to Article 1 of ICCPR and ICESCR, 'all peoples have the right to self-determination. By virtue of that right, they freely determine their political status and freely pursue their economic, social and cultural development.'37 Moreover, ICCPR affirms a particular aspect of the economic content of the right to self-determination, namely the right of peoples to 'freely dispose of their natural wealth and resources without prejudice to any obligation arising out of international economic cooperation based upon the principle of mutual benefit, and international law. In no case may a people be deprived of their own means of subsistence.'38 This right entails corresponding duties for all States in the international community. In fact, States should indicate factors or difficulties which prevent free disposal of natural wealth and resources contrary to the provisions of Article 1(2) of ICCPR and to what extent that affects the enjoyment of rights set forth in the Covenant.³⁹ Additionally, within the ICESCR, people have the right to freely pursue their economic, social and cultural development without interference, which is intertwined with the right of every citizen to partake in public affairs at all levels, without distinction to their race, colour, descent or national or ethnic origin. 40

Another core principle in international human rights law is the right to equality and non-discrimination, which all members of the UN have a legal obligation to promote and protect and that is essential to the exercise and enjoyment of the other human rights, including economic rights.⁴¹ Common Article 2 of the two Covenants provides a non-discrimination provision, requiring state parties to respect and ensure rights without distinction on the basis of enumerated grounds, including 'property' or national or social origin or economic status.⁴²

1.1.2. The UN Declaration on the Rights of Persons Belonging to National or Ethnic, Religious and Linguistic Minorities - adopted unanimously, without vote

Adopted in 1992, this provides that States shall 'protect the existence and the national or ethnic, cultural, religious and linguistic identity of minorities within their respective territories and shall encourage conditions for the promotion of that identity.'⁴³ Furthermore, minorities 'have the right to participate effectively in decisions



on the national and, where appropriate, regional level concerning minorit(y)ies' or 'the regions in which they live'.⁴⁴ It thereto states that 'national policies and programmes shall be planned and implemented with due regard for the legitimate interests of persons belonging to minorities' and that 'programmes of cooperation and assistance among States should be planned and implemented with due regard for the legitimate interests of persons belonging to minorities.'⁴⁵

1.1.3. The UN Declaration on the Right to Development

This Declaration, adopted in 1986, declared that everyone is 'entitled to participate in, contribute to, and enjoy economic, social, cultural and political development, in which all human beings and fundamental freedoms can be fully realised.'⁴⁶ It identifies every person as being the central subject of development and attributes to States the duty to formulate appropriate national development policies which improve 'the well-being of the entire population and of all individuals on the basis of their active, free, and meaningful participation in development and in the fair distribution' of the resulting benefits.⁴⁷

1.1.4. The 1992 Rio Declaration on Environment and Development⁴⁸ – ratified by Thailand

This Declaration establishes the right of the people to be involved in the development of their economics and the responsibility to safeguard the common environment. It emphasises that long term economic progress is ensured only when linked with protection of the environment. Principles 4, 10, and 22 entail the protection of the environment, access to information with redressal mechanisms and participation of communities and indigenous peoples in the development and management of the environment respectively. Principle 15 of the declaration establishes the precautionary clause, by stating that 'in order to protect the environment, the precautionary approach shall be widely applied by States according to their capabilities. Where there are threats of serious or irreversible damage, lack of full scientific certainty shall not be used as a reason for postponing cost-effective measures to prevent environmental degradation.'⁴⁹

This has facilitated the evolution of the precautionary approach into a guiding legal principle. The precautionary principle's key aim is to encourage decision-makers to assess and evaluate the possible harmful effects of their activities on the environment. ⁵⁰ In addition, Principle 17 of the Rio Declaration states that environmental impact assessments (EIAs) should be undertaken for proposed activities likely to have a significant adverse impact on the environment.

1.1.5. The Paris Climate Agreement⁵¹ – ratified by Thailand

It was signed by Thailand on 22 April 2016 and ratified on 21 September 2016. Through this agreement, Thailand has committed to reducing its greenhouse emissions by 20% from projected business as usual levels by 2030, with the subsequent goal to increase this to 25% subject to adequate resources as required by the agreement to keep global temperature rise below 2° C above pre-industrial levels and to commit to making efforts to further limit the temperature to 1.5° C.

1.1.6. The UN Declaration on the Rights of Peasants and other People Working in Rural Areas – ratified by Thailand

This was adopted by the Third Committee of the UN General Assembly, with 119 countries voting in favour of the adoption of this resolution.⁵² It affirms 'that all human rights are universal, indivisible, interrelated' and recognises 'the special relationship and interaction between peasants and other people working in rural areas, and the land, water, nature, and territory to which they are attached and on which they depend for their livelihood.'⁵³ Furthermore, article 2 sets out the State's duty to 'respect, protect, and fulfil the rights of peasants and other peoples working in rural areas,' 'before adopting and implementing legislation and policies, international agreements or any other decision-making processes that may affect the rights of peasants and other people working in rural areas.⁵⁴ According to this, the government is mandated to 'consult and cooperate in good faith with peasants and other people working in rural areas through their representatives' in order to obtain their 'active, free, effective, meaningful and informed participation.'⁵⁵ States shall also take 'all necessary measures to ensure that non-state actors that they are in a position to regulate (...) respect and strengthen the rights of peasants and other people working in rural areas.'⁵⁶



1.2. Regional Commitments

1.2.1. Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) Declaration on Human Rights

The obligation to ensure a sustainable environment was formalised in 2012 when Thailand signed the ASEAN Human Rights Declaration, which under Article 28(f) provides that 'Everyone has the right to a sufficient standard of living for himself or herself and his or her family including: [...] the right to a safe, clean, and sustainable environment'.⁵⁷

1.3. National Legislations

1.3.1. The 2017 Constitution of Thailand⁵⁸

The 2017 Constitution is weaker in its mandate to protect community rights than its predecessor in 2007 and the interim constitution of 2014. The constitutional provisions contained in the 2017 constitution under Articles 41, 42, 43, 57, 58, 59, and 77 establish the rights of communities to access information, participate in public consultations including through EIAs and Environmental Health Impact Assessments (EHIAs) and requires responsible government agencies to follow a Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) prior to the enactment of new laws. It also includes the right to manage, maintain, and utilise natural resources and the environment by the communities for their benefit and a commitment from the state to ensure sustainable development with regards to the state's use of resources. Article 258 highlights the relationship between environment and business activities with an agenda to encourage environmentally-friendly enterprises and ensure sustainable water resource management and waste disposal systems.

1.3.2. The Enhancement and Conservation of the National Environmental Quality Bill 1992 (NEQA)

The NEQA is the main source of law for the undertaking of EIAs.⁵⁹ Section 47 stipulates that for a project required to pass an EIA and which needs the approval of the Cabinet, 'the government agency or state enterprise responsible for such a project or activity shall prepare the EIA report at the stage of a feasibility study for such a project, and submit it to the National Environment Board for its review and comments, which supplement the Council of Ministers' consideration'.⁶⁰ Further, when considering an EIA report submitted for approval, the Council of Ministers 'may also request a person or institution, being an expert or specialising in the EIA, to study and submit a report or opinion for its consideration thereof.'⁶¹

However, the Bill does not contain any provision on disclosure of information and public participation, although Section 6 provides for participation rights and access to information in environmental conservation. ⁶² However, Section 7 and 8 limit participation in decision-making to NGOs who do not 'pursue political purposes'. ⁶³ Thus, the NEQA does not provide for citizens as private individuals to claim their rights to public participation and to access public information. Overall, general provisions of the NEQA related to public participation are not properly developed and public participation in the process of EIA is not formally addressed. ⁶⁴

1.3.3. The role of the Office of National Resources and Environmental Policy and Planning (ONEP) and the guidance for 'EIAs in Thailand'

ONEP is the main agency in charge of the EIA system. It is responsible for the development of the EIA system and the EIA review process. It is in charge of the rules and regulations for the preparation of EIA reports submitted to the National Environment Board for approval, the development of guidelines for the preparation of EIA reports for various types of projects, and the registration of EIA consulting firms. ONEP has developed guidance tools to support project proponents further understand NEQA and the EIA/EHIA process. According to the guidance, ONEP provides definitions and explanations on EIA, EHIA, and Initial Environmental Examination (IEE) processes, as well as indications for Projects within the Environmentally Protected Areas (EPA) and Projects in Forest Conservation Areas that require EIA reports, IEE reports, and Environmental Checklists.



1.3.4. The Industrial Products Standards Act (1968),⁶⁶ the Act on the Maintenance Cleanliness and Orderliness of the Country (1992),⁶⁷ the Hazardous Substance Act (1992),⁶⁸ the Public Health Act (1992),⁶⁹ the Factory Act (1992),⁷⁰ and the Fuel Control Act (1999)⁷¹

The above Acts are also relevant to the protection of the environment and public health.

1.3.5. The Climate Change Master Plan 2015-2050,⁷² the Thailand Gas Plan 2015-2036,⁷³ the Thailand Power Development Plan (PDP) 2015-2036,⁷⁴ the Alternative Energy Development Plan 2015-2036,⁷⁵ the Energy Efficiency Development Plan 2015-2036,⁷⁶ Thailand 4.0,⁷⁷ the 12th national economic and social development plan 2017-2021,⁷⁸ and the 20-year National Strategy framework 2017-2036⁷⁹

The above Acts are amongst the policy plans by the government which aim to address environmental concerns.

1.3.6. The new Minerals Act of 2017⁸⁰

The Minerals Act came into force on 29 August 2017, with the aim to better implement environmental controls and protection, decentralise power, encourage the use of updated mining technology, and provide communities living in and around the mining areas with more protection. The highlight of the new act is the setting up of mineral committees at the national and provincial levels and the transfer of the responsibility of identifying mines and mining areas, acquiring permits, conducting EIA, EHIA, and surveys to the government. This transfer along with the provisions laid out also carry negative implications such as:

- 1. less importance given to public participation as the government does the paperwork and the assessments for companies, minimising public hearings;
- 2. permission for mines to operate in protected forest areas and exemption from EIA as a requirement for mining concessions;
- 3. speedy process for acquiring mining licenses, neglecting the need for time to research and assess the impacts of the mining activity on the environment and the communities that surround the mines;
- representatives of the local community and CSOs are appointed by the chairperson, rather than being elected through a democratic process at the National Mineral Management Committee, ultimately undermining the purpose of representation and;
- 5. the vague and unclear restoration plan that provides no guarantee of environmental restoration

1.3.7. The Petroleum Act of 2017⁸¹ and the Petroleum Income Tax Act of 2017⁸²

Both acts were enacted to replace their predecessor laws. They provide for the establishment of Production Sharing Agreements (PSA) or Service Contracts for oil companies. Despite the presence of provisions for the protection to actors incurring damage as a result of operations, the law is yet to prove successful in resolving disputes between communities living near petroleum development projects. One such dispute is between the Na Moon community located on the border of Khon Kaen and Kalasin provinces and the oil drilling company Apico Ltd.⁸³

1.3.8. Exemption of EIA reviews through the issuance of National Council for Peace and Order (NCPO) orders

In 2016 and 2017, a series of NCPO orders exempting the passing of EIA process have been issued. Under the power of article 44 of the Interim Constitution, the Head of the NCPO has facilitated economic growth and enrichment of businesses over the respect of fundamental human rights of local communities. Article 44 of the interim Constitution gave the head of the NCPO discretionary power, inconsistent with the rule of law, to issue any order considered necessary for '... the benefit of reform in any field and to strengthen public unity and harmony, or for the prevention, disruption or suppression of any act which undermines public peace and order or national security, the Monarchy, national economics or administration of State affairs...'. ⁸⁴ The NCPO orders exempting the passing of EIA/EHIA are as follows:

- NCPO Order No. 3/2016 on the exemption from enforcement of city plan and Building Control Act within Special Economic Zones (SEZs)⁸⁵ absolves the construction of buildings in SEZs from the regulatory framework of the 1975 Town and City Planning Act and other regulations on buildings, which imposed the conduct of EIAs.
- NCPO Order No. 4/2016 on the exemption from enforcement of the Ministerial Regulation determining central city plan for certain business type,⁸⁶ published in the Government Gazette



suspends enforcement of the 1975 Town and City Planning law for certain undertakings, such as power plants, production and energy enterprises, and waste disposal and management projects countrywide. To illustrate, the Order exempts 29 plants, 27 of them run by the state and two by private companies, from all laws related to city planning.

- NCPO Order No. 9/2016 on the amendment to the Environment Promotion and Conservation Act⁸⁷ permits state-owned enterprises to select private subcontractors to initiate their projects before an EIA gets approval. The order amends section 47 of the NEQA 1992 to cut short the process of conducting EIAs on construction megaprojects. This will make it possible for state agencies to fast-track projects with private subcontractors benefiting, on projects related to transportation, water management, public health, and public safety. The order also allows state projects to be proposed to the Cabinet before a full EIA is completed.
- NCPO Order No. 28/2017⁸⁸ seeks to boost the efficiency of the new Eastern Economic Corridor (EEC) development, by setting up a special expert panel for EIA of projects in SEZs, in order to speed up the overall EIA process to keep it under one year. Academics and experts claim that this, as well as other similar orders, violate communities' rights and ignores environmental impacts, due to the fact that the duration of one year seems to be insufficient to produce a meaningful EIA or EHIA.

Other laws that encompass provisions on the **community right to assess environmental impacts, on natural resource management and public participation** include several legislations. The Industrial Products Standards Act (1968),⁸⁹ the Act on the Maintenance Cleanliness and Orderliness of the Country (1992),⁹⁰ the Hazardous Substance Act (1992),⁹¹ the Public Health Act (1992),⁹² the Factory Act (1992),⁹³ and the Fuel Control Act (1999)⁹⁴ address issues of environment and public health, but they neglect to provide any accountability mechanism such as those related to due diligence. Specific to public participation are, the Land Development Act 2008,⁹⁵ which lays out conditions for the consultation of impacted communities on development projects related to land, agriculture, economic, and natural resources; and the 2003 Royal Decree on Criteria and Procedures on Good Governance⁹⁶ that also provides for public hearings to be organised before the operational phase of any project. The State Administration Act (1991),⁹⁷ the Rules of the Office of the Prime Minister on Public Consultation (2005),⁹⁸ the Administrative Procedures Act (1996),⁹⁹ the Factory Act (1992) and it ancillary laws, the Town Planning Act (2015),¹⁰⁰ and the National Health Act (2007)¹⁰¹ also contain provisions related to public hearing, public participation, and disclosure of information in the context of the development project.

1.3.9. The 20-year National Strategy Plan and community rights

A 20-year National Strategy Plan has been drafted as a national development plan that sets out a framework based on which all governments, present and elected will have to design their policies and allocate their budget. The Strategy Plan provides for the recognition of the community's right to use and benefit from their land, and for access to natural resources, by fixing the conflict on forest land that is believed to intersect with community land. It also focusses on environmental issues, highlighting the importance of public participation in decision making on these aspects. It encourages businesses to create a favourable attitude, by motivating them to have good governance practices and effective management in place. However, the problem remains that this Plan also places focus on the enhancement of competitiveness as one of its main areas of focus. In addition, this Plan contains provisions that define terms very broadly, thus leaving its application up to the interpretation of the National Strategy Committee (NSC) set up by this Plan. This Committee consists of 34 members, 17 ex-officio, and 17 qualified members that have been appointed to this post by the Cabinet, which would mean it is made up of NCPO members and its allies. This reinforces continuity in their maintenance of control for the next 20 years over the governance and legislations of the country, even if a new democratic government were to be elected.

1.3.10. Adoption of the draft Community Forest Bill

Adopted by the National Legislative Assembly (NLA) at its third reading on 15th February 2019, the Community Forest Bill was primarily developed 30 years ago to ensure that those who are residing locally in forests can work together with the state in the management and the usage of natural resources in a manner that is sustainable for the environment.¹¹¹ This will become enforceable as law, following the signature of the King and the



publication in the government gazette. 112 It sets out a process whereby the locals have to develop a five-year plan on the use and conservation of the forest within their community and this blueprint will undergo a process of the assessment once every five years. 113 This Bill has been justified based on the fact that it is believed that management of community forests is essential to ensure cooperation and food security, prevent global warming, and protect people's basic rights. But while making such a claim, the draft Bill undermines the rights of people residing in the forest to participate and make decisions on the management of the local environment. 114 Besides disempowering communities, the draft Bill also results in several issues primarily because of the limitation of the scope of its application, which in turn results in the further marginalisation of those living in areas beyond its scope. 115 This happens for the following reasons: 116 (1) Community forests have been identified by the Bill as those that are outside the conservation area managed by the State, thus excluding communities that are dependent on the forest and living in conservation areas designated as national parks. (2) This does not address the customary rights of ownership to land of hundreds of communities residing in conservation areas, resulting in a charge of trespass or their eviction, particularly on the rise since the forest reclamation policy and NCPO orders 64 and 66/2014 issued by the NCPO. (3) Communities that depend on and help sustain forests are disqualified from protection and discriminated against under this draft law. (4) With the forest department controlling the use of resources, the law further exacerbates the failure to protect land tenure, livelihood or food security for the local communities. (5) The law does not ensure the engagement of the forest department with communities with both as equal partners.

1.3.11. The Factories Act and its amendments 117

On 22nd February 2019, the NLA revised the Factories Act of 1992 with amendments to change the definition and regulation of factories in the country. A factory has been redefined by this Bill as a place where the machinery exceeds 50 horsepower, with 50 workers or more. All places of work that do not meet these qualifications are not required to register any longer and are subject to lesser regulations as a result. As a result, 43% or 60,000 factories will no longer be subjected to regulation by this Act. Without rule preventing the establishment of these small unregulated factories in residential areas, it is expected that such establishment practices will grow exponentially. Redefining the physical limits of a factory as well, they can now be easily expanded under the amendment to Article 19/1 of the Factories Act. To further encourage investment, factory licences will also have no expiration date and would not require renewal procedures to be complied with; following the removal of Articles 14 and 15 of the Act. This slackening of procedural regulation over factories will result in lesser physical inspections of premises to ensure that the establishments meet the environmental or labour standards, otherwise expected for the renewal of a license. This suspension of licensing and the removal of regulation for small factories will also cause an increase in pollution and the absence of motivation for factories to meet standards of decent work.

1.3.12. 'Waste to energy' and the harm caused by the Alternative Energy Development Plan and the PDP¹¹⁸

Starting in 2014, the NCPO has prioritised the generation of energy from waste processing plants, as a strategy for waste management. To achieve this goal, the Ministry of Energy enacted the ten-year Alternative Energy Development Plan for 2012-2021. Through this plan, it has aimed to promote the participation of communities in the conversion of waste to energy, their involvement in activities to sort waste, and sharing of knowledge with the municipal authorities, the general public, and students to develop an understanding of waste management. Besides these campaigns, the activities of waste management operators are being incentivised to encourage their activities. These include the provision of investment assistance, investment incentives from the Board of Investment, waiving of import tariff for machinery, an exemption from corporate tax for eight years, and reduction in the corporate tax bill by 50% for another five years. In addition to this, the PDP of 2018 drafted by the Energy Policy and Planning Office (EPPO) has also reaffirmed energy production largely from waste through waste-to-energy plants. It has been, however, opined that such plants are not clean or safe, both for the environment and for public health, particularly owing to the greenhouse gases released during their processes. The Interior and Energy Ministries are also further subsidising these activities to boost investment through an increase in the power purchase quota from these sources, through the PDP. Fear has been expressed over the proliferation of such plants as hastened development instead of addressing waste management could result in more hazardous pollution from lower environmental protection standards imposed on these plants and



improper management of their activities. These could have an effect on the environment and the health of the local population and their ecosystems. Such lowered environmental protection standards are supported by special laws and exemptions guaranteed by the NCPO to private companies for the construction of such plants. Geographically, these plants can also be constructed anywhere with city development plans being overridden. To compound these factors, these small waste-to-energy power plants are often exempt from EIAs, do not have to undertake public consultation, have lower pollution control standards, and are regulated by the Ministry of Interior and the Energy Regulation Commission instead of through ONEP.

1.3.13. Amendment to the National Parks Act of 1961 and the Wildlife Conservation Bill 119

With 140 votes in favour, seven abstentions, and only one vote against; the amendment to the National Parks Act and the Wildlife Conservation Bill were adopted together on 7 March 2019 following second and third readings by the NLA. Widespread opposition to these bills was expressed for several reasons, including with respect to the restriction it places on the right to access the forest and natural resources; on placing limitations on the duration of residence to 20 years and access to resources for individuals with overlapping claims that are in conflict with the State over ownership of the land in forests; their restriction on community rights; and harsh penalties imposed under the bills that further threaten those residing in the forests. Despite protests from affected communities during the deliberation process over the adoption of these bills and prior to it, concerns they expressed were dismissed as it was suggested that those residing in the forest will still have access to forest resources but only under new conditions set. In addition, they were not allowed to participate in the discussion or consulted on the bill or any other decision-making processes, which would affect and have an adverse impact on their rights.

1.3.14. Draft of Rice Bill

The draft of the Rice Bill passed its first reading in February 2019 and is expected to go through the second and third readings. The Bill has been proposed by representatives of the Ministry of Finance and members of the NLA. 120 However, it has been argued that the Bill was drafted in a haste; with no public hearings or consultation with all stakeholders, particularly farmers. 121 Various actors have also expressed their concern that the Bill is likely to negatively affect the livelihood of communities and farmers. Two major controversial points emphasised in the draft Rice Bill are the ban on non-certified paddy seeds and the requirements for rice mills to issue purchase papers which specify the variety of rice, quality, weight, and moisture content. Farmers themselves are worried that they will be forced to buy commercial, certified varieties of paddy seeds instead of developing their own varieties and that it would be more difficult to get paddy seeds. Critics also raised concerns about the purchase-paper requirements of rice mills as this could increase mills' operating costs, which could lead to an increase in crop prices for farmers. As a result of these events, a closed-door meeting has been held, with an agreement to revise the bill to address concerns expressed. 122 Thereafter, the NLA ad hoc committee removed or rephrased some controversial clauses. 123 With the Rice Bill being expected to affect the livelihood of communities and farmers, it is important that they should be informed of the drafting of the Bill to provide their comments at every stage. 124 Although the NLA ad hoc committee had a meeting with over 70 farmer representatives, during the meeting representatives were only informed why the Rice Bill would be good for them.¹²⁵



2. APPLICATION OF THE UN GUIDING PRINCIPLES ON BUSINESS AND HUMAN RIGHTS TO PROTECT, RESPECT AND REMEDY

2.1. Pillar I & Pillar III - The duty of the State to protect community rights and to ensure effective access to remedy

Community rights are established in the introduction to the UNGPs, by stating that 'these Guiding Principles should be understood as a coherent whole and should be read, individually and collectively, in terms of their objective of enhancing standards and practices with regard to BHR so as to achieve tangible results for affected individuals and communities, and thereby also contributing to a socially sustainable globalisation.' The duty to protect these rights is mainly established in the first three Guiding Principles. Efforts to protect and ensure respect for community rights is a positive action taken by the State. Having promulgated legislation on this, Thailand partly complies with Guiding Principle 2 of the UNGPs towards the requirement to clearly set out the expectation that businesses respect human rights, ¹²⁶ and Guiding Principle 3 that mandate the enforcement of laws that force businesses to respect human rights. ¹²⁷ The Thai government recognised that protection of local people's livelihood and the environment in the context of large-scale development projects to minimise impacts must include measures, such as the requirement to systematically conduct EIAs and EHIAs, the establishment of monitoring committees, and measures to alleviate or compensate affected people, through the provision of new shelters for their relocation. ¹²⁸ While it is laudable that the government acknowledged the problem and has identified measures to redress the situation, the listed measures suffer from major flaws and are largely inadequate in protecting local communities.

To illustrate, while the Constitution of Thailand of 2007 contained rather robust provisions recognising and protecting community rights, ¹²⁹ ¹³⁰ the Constitution of 2017's provisions regarding community rights are much weaker ¹³¹ and the continuous use of Article 44 of the interim Constitution of 2014 coupled with repressive NCPO orders undermine these rights regardless of the protection afforded by the constitutional provisions. In theory, though, the 2017 Constitution still guarantees the right of communities to manage, utilise, and preserve traditional practices, natural resources and the environment to ensure their sustainable livelihood. ¹³² The main source of law for public consultation is Article 77 of the Constitution, on RIA prior to the enactment of new laws, ¹³³ but does not allow for meaningful public consultation nor sufficient time for stakeholders to provide substantive input prior to the development and adoption of new legislation. The Thai system requires to publish a notice on the government-run or the agency's website when drafting new laws. ¹³⁴ Public hearings allow for the public to comment on draft laws within 15 days, criticised as it does not provide enough time for key stakeholders to research, comment, and provide input and gather evidence and data regarding draft laws. ¹³⁵ This is not compliant with Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) guidelines which represent the international standard in terms of RIAs ¹³⁶ and are important under the UNGPs, as stakeholder engagements are needed to develop NAP's and to fulfil the public consultation requirement contained therein.

Gaps also exist in other laws with respect to community rights, such as the general provisions of the NEQA related to public participation that are not properly developed, wherein public participation in the process of EIA is not formally addressed. Since the EIA provisions contained in the NEQA are broad in nature, additional guidelines and rules have been issued by relevant agencies, including through Ministerial Notifications. For example, in 2009, a Ministerial Notification containing guidelines to conduct an EHIA was published. This was further amended, with the last amendment in 2017. Nevertheless, the elements of the notification fall short of protecting human rights within a business framework as although the notification sets out the requirements for EHIAs in cases that 'heavily affect the community', often, this impact on the community cannot be determined until an EHIA has been carried out. As such, the notification only requires EHIAs in cases where projects have an immediately obvious impact on communities, something which often is not clear before a project has started. By establishing the requirements of EHIAs to apply only when a project seems to heavily affect the community, this notification fails to adhere to the standards set out in the UNGPs on human rights due diligence (HRDD) through EHIAs as enshrined in principles 17-21. Additionally, the new Minerals Act (2017)¹³⁹ reduces the process of acquiring mining; transfers the responsibility of finding mining land, acquiring permits, and conducting



environmental surveys to the government; which will diminish local voices in mining operations. Thus, the outcome of public hearings will carry less weight.

Other laws also contain provisions related to the community's right to public participation, such as the Land Development Act 2008, the 2003 Royal Decree on Guidelines and Procedures on Good Governance, ¹⁴⁰ the State Administration Act (1991), ¹⁴¹ the Rule of Office of the Prime Minister on Public Consultation (2005), ¹⁴² the Administrative Procedures Act (1996), ¹⁴³ the Factory Act (1992), ¹⁴⁴ and its ancillary laws, the Town Planning Act (2015), ¹⁴⁵ and the National Health Act (2007), ¹⁴⁶ also contain provisions related to public hearings, public participation and disclosure of information in the context of development projects. However, these provisions have routinely been overlooked when State authorities and private actors implement development projects across the country.

On the right of access to information, the Official Information Act 1997 is extremely vague regarding the timeframe for accessing information, only stating that the relevant body must comply within a reasonable time. In addition, the implementation of the Official Information Act has largely been seen as weak because of its several limitations, including non-compliance with the timeframes set by the law, excessively long proceedings, rejection of requests on frivolous grounds, discretionary powers of officials to apply for exemptions, obsolete methods of organising information, overlapping laws making it difficult to enforce decisions of the Tribunals, and lack of responsibility of officials in charge of implementing the law. Other provisions such as NCPO Order 3/2016, 147 148 NCPO Order 4/2016, 149 NCPO Order 9/2016, 150 and NCPO Order 28/2017 151 152 also prove contradictory as they amount to violations of Articles 58 and 77 of the Constitution 153 because they give rise to violations of the freedom to seek, receive, and impart information, and of the right to take part in public affairs. The government of Thailand is thus required, under Guiding Principle 1, to redress this situation through effective policy and legislation, 154 which it fails to do.

Moving from law to practice, the government has the tendency to withhold information and only organise public hearings as a formality instead of as an exercise to seek the opinions of local communities. Despite provisions in the law, exploitation of natural resources lacks participatory mechanisms and consultations with genuine access to information for impacted individuals and communities affected. Additionally, authorities often impede the work of communities, such as submitting petitions or organising public information sharing events. This is especially the case when the activities are related to opposing development projects for environmental or land rights. Since the coup, the NCPO has also been providing expedited licenses to palm oil, logging, and mining companies. This practice is putting thousands of communities at risk of losing access to their land and natural resources and results in them being frequently targeted over land disputes by both State and non-State actors. State actors.

On access to remedy, the commentary on Principle 25 of the third Pillar of the UNGPs, lays the foundation for access to remedy, and refers explicitly to communities by stating 'For the purpose of these Guiding Principles, a grievance is understood to be a perceived injustice evoking an individual's or a group's sense of entitlement, which may be based on law, contract, explicit or implicit promises, customary practice, or general notions of fairness of aggrieved communities.' The Constitution of Thailand in Article 41(3) sets out the communities' right to approach the court against State agencies by providing that, 'A person and community shall have the right to... take legal action against a State agency as a result of an act or omission of a government official, official or employee of the State agency.'158 Moreover, the right to take environmental cases to court is established in several existing laws, including the Civil Procedure Code, the Act on the Establishment of Administrative Courts and Administrative Court Procedures, the NEQA, and the Penal Code, in which penalties are prescribed for environmental violations. The NEQA provides for private organisations registered in accordance with the provisions of the NEQA to act as a party in a court case and to sue for damages incurred. 159 The most common legal recourse in Thailand for the violation of community rights is tort law. The Administrative Court is also useful for preventive purposes, as a case can be filed to suspend or withdraw a company's license for a development project if it poses the risk of harm to a community. 160 According to the government, the term 'community rights' appears often in litigation cases related to disputes between rural communities and businesses exploiting natural resources as well as in cases of opposition to a communities' land-related rights. 161



The RTG is also of the view that a number of Administrative Court rulings recognise of cultural rights, ¹⁶² and that Administrative Courts are also responsible for cases related to the violation of communities' rights, in the context of development projects. ¹⁶³

As a State-based means of non-judicial grievance redressal, the Community Organisations Development Institute (CODI) established by the Ministry of Social Development and Human Security (MSDHS) is mandated to support local communities who experience rural land rights problems.¹⁶⁴ Activities carried out by the CODI include the 'provision of housing for those affected and establishment of data collection and mapping system for local communities'.¹⁶⁵

As a State based non-judicial means of grievance redressal, the National Human Rights Commission of Thailand (NHRCT) serves as the focal point of contact to receive complaints with respect to potential human rights violations. Between 2010 and 2015, the NHRCT complaint mechanism received a total of 3,907 cases of the petition, issued 4,755 investigation reports and coordinated 1,495 cases of human rights protection. HRCT is very engaged on the issue of community rights, as can be attested by the number of committees and subcommittees dedicated to community rights, and economic, social, and cultural rights. For the period 2005-2015, the NHRCT received 48 complaints related to mining management. It grouped these complaints into five categories: (1) people participation, and decision and policy making process; (2) participation in administrative process; (3) right of a safe, clean, healthy, and sustainable environment; (4) land tenure with disputes on asset management and rehabilitation and remedies accessed, and (5) right to judicial process with intimidation and threats made to community rights defenders. 168

2.2. Pillar II & Pillar III - The corporate responsibility to respect community rights and to ensure effective access to remedy

Principle 13 of the UNGPs requests business enterprises to avoid, and if already caused, address and mitigate human rights impacts caused by their activities. 169 This cannot be done without safeguarding the rights of the communities that may be potentially affected by business activities. Principle 18 highlights the need to engage with affected communities and mentions that in order to gauge human rights risks, business enterprises should, amongst other things, engage in meaningful consultation with potentially affected groups and other relevant stakeholders, including for tracking company performance. The commentary under Principle 18 states that "(t)o enable business enterprises to assess their human rights impacts accurately, they should seek to understand the concerns of potentially affected stakeholders by consulting them directly in a manner that takes into account language and other potential barriers to effective engagement...". 171 With respect to Pillar 3 and grievance mechanisms, Principle 29 sets out that companies "should establish or participate in effective operational-level grievance mechanisms for individuals and communities who may have been adversely impacted". 172 Principle 31 also lays out effectiveness criteria for operational-level grievance mechanisms. ¹⁷³ Communities seeking redress to remediate a business-related violation through non-state based grievance mechanisms in Thailand is very rare. The most well-known mediation process established between a local community and a business was in the case of an oil spill in Rayong province, where State-owned petrochemical company PTTGC had one of its pipelines burst into the sea.¹⁷⁴ A community of fishermen who were affected by the spill engaged in a dialogue with the company. 175 However, PTTGC ended up paying only 30,000 baht to the fishermen, which was deemed extremely insufficient for the damage incurred. ¹⁷⁶ The community has since then sought remedy by suing the company through a judicial mechanism, ¹⁷⁷ highlighting the failure of businesses to provide mechanisms to ensure effective access to remedy.



3. PRACTICES ON THE GROUND: CHALLENGES, IMPACTS & SIGNIFICANT CASES

Challenge 1: The adverse impact of business activities affects the environment, health, and livelihood of rural communities

Impact

The extractive industry generates millions of dollars for companies and revenue for the government, but its effects are devastating to the communities of rural Thailand. The devastation caused is severe in most cases and directly affects the health, food security, water, livelihood, and environment of communities and individuals. According to the NHCRT's report to the UN Human Rights Council following the Second Cycle of the UPR, "People in certain localities have suffered from illnesses believed to be caused by the pollution emanating from industrial activities for many years, while the government has failed to solve the problem". 178

There are multiple negative impacts in a poorly managed and operationalised extractive industry. Some of these adverse impacts are: (1) increased health risks to the communities due to air, water, and land pollution caused by the tailings and gasses emitted, in addition to the contribution to global warming and ultimately climate change;¹⁷⁹ (2) hazardous substances emitted as tailings contaminate the water and land causing a decrease in food production and consequential harm when produced and consumed by communities;¹⁸⁰ (3) deforestation causes soil erosion that affects agricultural lands, leading to loss of livelihood,¹⁸¹ and (4) all the aforementioned impacts lead to social disruption, poverty, displacement, and forced relocation.¹⁸²

The case of Klity Creek¹⁸³

Due to the business activities of Lead Concentrates (Thailand) Co. Ltd. in Kanchanaburi province, chemicals such as lead and tin residue were discharged into the Klity Creek. The water, soil, and aquatic wildlife were affected by the high levels of lead content. This adversely impacted the quality of life of those living around Klity Creek, whose lives were dependent on the natural resources. It was particularly damaging for locals who were entirely dependent upon the creek as their only source of clean water. A 14-year dispute in Kanchanaburi's Thong Pha Phum district came to an end after three judicial processes, in September 2017.

These occurrences first came to light in 1998, when lead contamination by illegal water discharge was exposed and the Department of Mineral Resources ordered the closure of the company. Villagers reported the contamination and the resulting death and illness, to both the company and state agencies, however, this was ignored. Therefore, they proceeded to take the company to court, which was found guilty of polluting the river. In 2017, the Supreme Court's Environmental Division rendered a judgment, ordering the payment of a compensation of 36 million baht to 151 villagers, in addition to the restoration of the creek to its original state. Is In February 2018, the Pollution Control Department (PCD) started the restoration process, Is but the removal of lead did not cover all affected territories. Is This resulted in the continuation of harm being caused to the villagers and the environment. Is Furthermore, the effects of this can be encountered in other areas, since the water from the creek flows to the Mae Klong river that supplies water and food resources to other parts of Thailand. Nevertheless, it is mandated that the process must be completed by August 2020 and must include the suction of lead from the upper and lower Klity villages. Towards this end, a trilateral meeting between the government authority, community leaders and the company appointed for the restoration was held in April 2018 to follow up on the restoration process, 190 but as of December 2018, the compensation has yet to be paid.



Challenge 2: Laws addressing community rights are themselves regressive or have gaps and barriers to effective implementation, and are at times in conflict with each other to ensure businesses' benefits

Impact

One of the very significant challenges to the community and the environment are Thailand's regressive and problematic laws. The new Minerals Act of 2017, ¹⁹² the Petroleum Act of 2017, ¹⁹³ NCPO Orders 9/2016, ¹⁹⁴ 3/2016, ¹⁹⁵ 4/2016, ¹⁹⁶ and 28/2017¹⁹⁷ are infamous for their neglect of upholding community rights or focusing on environmental protection and promotion. Moreover, they also prove detrimental in relation to the access to information and participation of communities in the decision-making processes, which have an impact on the environment and development. State authorities utilise special security laws, such as NCPO Order 3/2015, ¹⁹⁸ Article 44 of the 2014 Interim Constitution, ¹⁹⁹ and the 2015 Public Assembly Act²⁰⁰ to restrict freedom of assembly rights for individuals opposing mining and petroleum projects.

The laws of Thailand related to community rights, environmental impacts, and development and management of natural resources are ineffective and lack the capacity to protect the rights of the communities and environment. The impact of these ineffective laws includes a low regard for the nation in the international community on the subject of BHR, and a lack of space for communities to exercise their rights; leaving them bitter towards the government and causing corresponding indirect negative impacts such as food insecurity, displacement, loss of livelihood, poverty, and ultimately social disruption. ²⁰²

The case of Thepa Coal-fired Power Plant

The case involving this power plant is an important and classic case demonstrating the ineffective and detrimental impact of environmental laws and the laws that protect the rights of communities in Thailand. The local communities raised many concerns and accessed many State-based non-judicial grievance mechanisms against the establishment of the power plant, but governments did not respond to most of their grievances. When the community through a network called Songkhla-Pattani complained to the Electricity Generating Authority of Thailand (EGAT) that they were not informed of the public hearings and of the negative impacts of the coal-fired power plant, the government officially responded that all the hearings were transparent and inclusive of all opinions.

The network had organised a peaceful protest against the establishment of the power plant on 27 July 2015, during the third public hearing. These protestors were not invited for the second public hearing that was carried out in secret. The network had organised a peaceful march to submit a letter to the Prime Minister. However, the people who marched were blocked and 16 of them were arrested despite it being a peaceful march. Finally, in an attempt to completely shut down the power plant, the network organised a peaceful hunger strike in front of the UN Headquarters in Bangkok elevating the issue from national to international level. All these efforts were undermined when the Ministry of Energy signed contradictory Memorandums of Understanding (MoUs), one in favour of the Network to withdraw the EIA and the other in favour of supporters of the power plant project. Clear violations of the rights of the people are evident through the deliberate withholding of information about the EIA and in the public hearings by EGAT corresponding to article 58 of the current Constitution ANEQA, 1992, purchase of land owned by the communities and forced eviction, destruction of community structures, curtailing the right to food, subsistence, and livelihood.

The case of Siam Cement Group (SCG)²¹⁴

On 5 March 2019, the Cabinet passed a resolution that allowed SCG as a special case to use land in a reserve forest for the operation of a limestone quarry, in Tab Kuang and Muak Lek forest reserve of Saraburi province that was of more than 3,200 rai (512 hectares). This proposal was strongly supported by the Ministry of Natural Resources and Environment (MNRE) which persuaded the Cabinet to pass this proposal, claiming that this reserved forest was at one time a part of the concession area that belonged to SCG and that its mining permits for this land only expire in April 2036. Others supporting this claim reiterate that the old concession was granted only after the completion of all the necessary screening processes and approval by the National Environment Board. It has also been stressed that such legal exemptions can be granted on condition of necessity with the



importance in this case being the relevance and necessity of industrial development. It was expressed that in this situation the government could place protective measures to control the activity of the private enterprise and to prevent any adverse environmental impact that could result. However, this stance faced widespread opposition. It was believed that such mining activity could be a threat to the environment, ecosystem, and the natural resources of what is considered 'a top-grade headwater area'. Contradicting the supportive view expressed, it was also suggested that these lands could have already been in a national park when the concession was granted. This Cabinet Resolution is also considered as being contradictory and in violation of the 20-year National Strategy, the five-year mining plan and Article 17 of the Minerals Act that prohibits mining in 'national parks, archaeological sites, national security areas and headwater forestland.' Criticising the process, it has been highlighted that the government rushed the granting of the Cabinet Resolution which it should have refrained from doing while instead of waiting for the elected government that would be voted into power to evaluate and make such a decision. Therefore, currently, an attempt is being made to try and secure an injunction against the Cabinet Resolution before the Central Administrative Court.

Challenge 3: The right to access to information of communities is violated, due to the failure to consult them or as a result of manipulation

Impact

According to obligations set out in international standards, such as those of the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP) and International Labour Organisation (ILO) Convention 169, communities need to be consulted before the commencement of any development project, fulfilling the criteria of Free, Prior and Informed Consent (FPIC). Informed consent 'implies that all information relating to the activity is provided...and that information is objective, accurate, and presented in a manner or form that is understandable to indigenous peoples.' However, often communities are the subject of withholding information, which violates their right to evaluate and freely determine their opinion on the project.

The case of limestone mining in Songkhla province²¹⁵

In the south of Thailand in Songkhla province, a community that was affected by the Kuha limestone mining activity requested a copy of the EIA report. However, in violation of their rights, they were supplied with an unfinished copy of the EIA.

The case of exploration drilling in the northeast of Thailand²¹⁶

In the northeast of Thailand, in the case of an exploration drilling project, the affected community asked for information about the chemical and drilling technology to be utilised. The relevant authorities failed to provide any details or information in this regard.

The case in Lampang province²¹⁷

In a case similar to the exploration drilling project in the northeast of Thailand, in the Ngao district of Lampang province in northern Thailand, information was requested by the affected community on a lignite mining project. However, this information was not provided by the relevant authorities.

The case of Apico Ltd. in Kalasin province

In 2003, the government granted a petroleum concession to Apico Ltd., in Kalasin province. After that, the villagers only heard about the project again in 2014 when the EIA was approved. An opposing group, Na Moon-Doon Sat Conservation Group, said that the company had held two public hearings during the EIA process. However, these were only attended by members of the sub-district administrative offices, sub-district chiefs, and village heads. Moreover, the group claims that the EIA process was conducted without public participation. Instead of asking locals for consent, the company had given them gifts and requested them to sign upon receiving. ²¹⁹



The Case of Mitr Phol Group's sugarcane factory and power plant in Khon Kaen province

Mitr Phol Group proposed to build a sugarcane factory and power plant in Ban Phai district in Khon Kaen province and brokers have begun buying land for the project starting in 2017. However, local communities have not been informed by the government about the project. Due to the potential negative impacts the project may have, various people have opposed the project. They have organised themselves into various networks; including Khaeng Lawa Conservation and Rehabilitation Network; Pa Kok Conservation Group, Hug Ban Kerd; and Love My Hometown. In February 2019, about 200 locals protested against the project and presented a letter with their concerns to the provincial governor. Protestors required provincial authorities to review projects and establish a villager-government committee to research the impact the project would have on people's health and the environment; the impact of the project, and an impact report before holding any public hearings. The governor agreed to set up such a committee but said that it would not have decision-making power. Currently, a public hearing is scheduled for 1 April 2019.

The case of Mitr Phol sugar refinery and biomass power plant in Yasothon province²²²

A company owned by Mitr Phol Group created a proposal for the construction of a sugar refinery and a biomass power plant in Pa Tiew district in Yasothon province. In 2015, land for the project was purchased by brokers. However, neither the local government nor the company informed local communities about what the land would be used for or about the project. A year later, villagers were made aware of the project through a poster, announcing a 'public hearing'. The public hearing was held in the form of a Chinese banquet. During the 'public hearing' attendees were informed of the benefits of the project and were given gifts. Moreover, the list of attendees was later used during the project's EIA. Locals opposed the project and organised themselves into the 'Say Bai River Conservation Network'. They complained that they were not informed about the project and the impact it would have on communities and the environment. Further, locals wanted to know which steps were taken to prevent damages to health, quality of life, and the environment, and what remedies would be available to them. The Network also asserted that the public consultation should have taken place before the project operator could obtain a permit to operate so that local communities could have provided their informed consent.

Challenge 4: Community participation in decision-making is inadequate or completely absent in various occasions

Impact

Communities are neglected in policymaking and the implementation of natural resource management, development, and on issues such as environmental impact, even when such decision-making process affects them and the enjoyment of their rights. These decisions are often made by the government and businesses, or to benefit them. This can be seen in the process of deliberation on the National Forest Park Act and the Wildlife Conservation Bill, where communities that would be negatively impacted by the adoption of these bills were not just ignored during the development of this policy but were actively ejected from the NLA when they voiced their desire to be part of the decision-making process.²²³ Development projects are aimed at increasing economic growth and the quality of life of people but often prove to be detrimental to local communities and the environment. Moreover, their feedback and consultation processes do not include all stakeholders, especially the communities that are likely to be affected by the development project. 224 This issue is compounded wherein, traditionally, there is a remarkably low rate of participation of women, especially rural and indigenous women, in the preparation of policies and in the decision-making processes related to natural resource extraction.²²⁵ Patriarchal structures have overshadowed women's contribution and men continue to be at the centre of decision-making: male community leaders make the important decisions in male-only meetings. Even within communities allowing wider participation, women are often outnumbered or remain on the margins of decision-making. This has often resulted in gender-blind laws and policies regulating the exploitation of natural resources. 226 Women-only meetings or focus groups, household surveys, and having women lead consultation and engagement activities represent some of the steps that may be essential to guarantee a truthful understanding of the gendered impacts of development projects.²²⁷



Devastating impacts of the lack of community participation and decision making are imminent with regard to community rights and environmental impact. The community knowledge and understanding of the environment are undermined and the environment is plundered for economic gains.²²⁸ This can lead to threats to the right to life, food, water, a secure environment to live, livelihood and ultimately forcefully displace the communities causing social disruption. Moreover, this is also a threat to all flora and fauna in the region where the business establishment is set up.²²⁹

The lack of public participation in policy-making also proves to be an obstacle to the adequate distribution of resources for public needs and in order to meet the development goals. ²³⁰ Although Thailand has attempted to address this challenge by adopting the OECD guidelines on promoting public consultation in policy-making and by strengthening RIAs, there is still a lack of cooperation between public authorities and local stakeholders. ²³¹ At the beginning of the 2000s, Thailand introduced new laws for the implementation of mandatory RIAs in order to comply with the OECD Reference Checklist for Regulatory Decision-Making. ²³² However, compliance remained weak due to the absence of a dedicated agency to check on RIA reports, the lack of appropriate consultation with stakeholders, the underdevelopment of guidelines, and the limited capacity of officials to undertake RIAs. ²³³ Improvements have been made under the new Constitution of 2017 broadening the coverage of subordinate laws, with the introduction of RIA laws that require mandatory consultation with stakeholders before any new regulation is adopted. ²³⁴ Also, in 2016, guidelines were published for the Thai government to enhance the capacity and awareness of officials to conduct RIAs and to create a standard format for RIAs, along with procedures for consultation. ²³⁵

The case of Pak Mun Dam²³⁶

In regards to the construction of dams and reservoirs, several projects have already been completed while some are still in progress. The construction of large dams, such as the Pak Mun Dam has changed the ecosystem of the Mun River, significantly decreasing the number and type of fish species migrating from the Mekong River. Mun River fishing communities in ten northeastern provinces have been affected by drastic reductions in fish populations and are now faced with food insecurity. This situation has been ongoing for over 26 years. However, no measures have been taken to solve the problem. The affected communities are demanding the Pak Mun Dam be decommissioned, to restore the river and their lost livelihoods.

Voice from Expert 237

"The people who know the problem best is us, the people living with the problem, not the government: the people who have to live with impact should have the chance to participate."

Katima Leeja, WHRD from the Indigenous Women Network of Thailand (IWNT), during the Second Experts Meeting to Discuss the Findings & Recommendations of the CSO NBA on BHR

Challenge 5: The right to public participation of communities is transgressed, using the justification of law or security

Impact

The absolute power exercised by the military under the NCPO has resulted in Orders that prevent opposition of as well as the investigation into development projects and the adverse impacts that result from them.²³⁸ Other methods utilised to prevent public participation include close surveillance or gaining control of public hearings, community meetings or forums.²³⁹ The Public Assembly Act of 2015 is also exploited by the police and military authorities to bar public organisation, expression of opinions, and even the holding of protest banners or signage.²⁴⁰ These practices have resulted in an established system of excluding or discriminating against communities and their rights in the decision-making process of development project, leading to an environment of impunity that has fostered an exponential rise in the number and scale of development projects under the military rule as compared to the democratic rule.²⁴¹



The case of Dawei Special Economic Zone (SEZ)²⁴²

In the Dawei SEZ, in addition to affected communities being given limited information about the project, they were also not involved in any meaningful consultations prior to the commencement of the project. Only 27% of those impacted by the project were present at the implementation meetings for the project, and of these, 82% of them did not participate due to their lack of understanding of the project and because there was a shortage of time to answer the questions they had about the project.

The case of the Namoon community²⁴³

In Khon Kaen province, during the construction of a gas exploration plant by Apico Ltd., neither was the Namoon community consulted nor were they invited to participate in the decision-making process. Locals became aware of the project in 2014 and demanded a public hearing. However, this public hearing was accompanied by 200 army and police officers. Also, attendees were screened before they were let in, and whenever an attendee would voice his concern, law enforcement officials would approach the individual.²⁴⁴ In February 2015, Apico started transporting its drilling equipment into the area and hundreds of villagers attempted to block the road, but this was to no avail as the company's trucks were accompanied by 200 state security forces.²⁴⁵

The case of potash mining in Udon Thani province

In the province of Udon Thani, in September 2015, a public hearing about a potash mining project was organised inside a local military camp. ²⁴⁶ This was organised in the presence of 100 to 200 military officers inside the camp, and another 60 military officers present in front of the camp. ²⁴⁷

Challenge 6: The current system makes it possible to avoid genuine EIA

Impact

In Thailand, the current system of EIA and EHIA is ineffective. The process is neglected and made easier for the businesses by the government agencies carrying out the process.²⁴⁸ This enables the government to allow access to businesses to carry out operations in the protected forest areas.²⁴⁹ There is very minimal accountability and therefore, lack of genuine assessment.

For instance, the Cabinet, on 25 August 2009, gave the green light to 76 new development projects without requiring an EIA or an EHIA. The construction of new industrial plants in Map Ta Phut Estate was one of the approved projects. ²⁵⁰ The NHRCT, in its 2015 report to the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), gave a detailed analysis of the failure of the Map Ta Phut Industrial Estate, which has been problematic since 1994 as it does not take community rights into consideration in its implementation. ²⁵¹

The case of the biomass powerplant in Rayong province²⁵²

In Krasae Bon in Rayong province, Sahakit Biopower, Ltd. intentionally avoided the law that requires the construction of biomass power plant which have to conduct an EIA when they are ten megawatts or above in size: the owner constructed a 9.9 megawatts biomass powerplant.²⁵³ The biomass powerplant project was communicated to the affected communities on 8 May 2014, when the owner presented the benefits of the powerplant at the annual meeting of the Agricultural Cooperative of Klaeng district. On that occasion, he tried to ask for opinions of the participants and considered it as the first public consultation. Other public consultations organised by Sahakit Biopower prevented the people living at a distance of more than one kilometer from participating in the consultations as they did not consider them potentially affected people. However, the area where the powerplant is to be built is close to an important source of water (the Pasae river) for many communities.²⁵⁴ The powerplant will be built in the middle of a community in a very

limited space of 60 rai (0.096 square kilometer). The Thai government has refused to include this case in the UPR report and other international reports because they felt it would reflect poorly on Thailand. Affected communities have made it clear that they are not against development, but rather that they were wary of developments that occurred without transparency and community involvement.



Voices from Expert²⁵⁵

"The EIA and EHIA is an ineffective system as it exists currently, because businesses see it as a stamp of approval for their activities, and so deliberately skew or hide information to ensure approval. There is no follow up or monitoring to ensure that projects abide by the submitted EIA and EHIA. There is also often very little honest practical engagement. It is very difficult for communities to engage in projects actively and honestly, and often companies hamper this intentionally using highly technical jargon to increase barriers to participation by the layman. Regional dialects and language barriers are also a problem. This process is therefore ineffective at achieving its intended purpose"

Thornthan Kanmangmee, Mekong Staff Attorney, Earth Rights International, during the First Experts Meeting to inform the CSO NBA, 2-3 September 2017

Challenge 7: The adverse impact on community rights resulting from business activities, when highlighted often leads to Strategic Lawsuit against Public Participation (SLAPP) lawsuits against community members, HRDs, and journalists

Impact

HRDs and those with close ties to affected communities face severe discrimination, abuse and harassment, and in several cases are also victims of death and disappearances themselves.

The case of Tungkum Mining in Loei province

Tungkum Limited (TKL) mining company sued Mr. Surapan Rujichaiwat, leader of Kon Rak Baan Kerd Group (KRBK), in 2014. 256 The Group had been protesting against the mining industry and the expansion of the Phuthapfa gold mine by TKL. Based on an agreement, the charges against Mr. Rujichaiwat were dropped. 257 TKL also sued Ms. Porntip Hongchai, another member of KRBK, in the same year and for the same reason stated. The Group had been protesting and speaking out against the company's gold mining. Eventually, TKL dropped all charges on a conditional exchange that would allow the company to resume activities upon the removal of a barricade constructed to prevent their access to the mine. 258 In 2016, a third lawsuit was filed by TKL against Thai Public Broadcasting Service (PBS) journalists for reporting the impact of gold mining on the environment in the Wangsapung district of Loei province. The court ruled that all reports were honest and true, thus the case was dismissed. 259 A fourth lawsuit was filed in the form of a defamation case by TKL against Ms. Wanphen Khunna, a 15-year-old schoolgirl, for narrating a news clip about a youth camp that raised awareness about environmental issues. The clip was broadcasted by Thai PBS on 1 September 2015. The Provincial Office of Juvenile Observation and Protection refused to allow TKL's lawsuit against the girl to move forward and the Loei Juvenile Court dismissed the case. 260

The case of the Akara gold mine²⁶¹

Akara Resources gold mine operation sued environmental activist Somlak Hutanuwatr for posting about contamination to the environment in the area in which the gold mine operated in 2016. They also sued Smith Tungkasamit for sharing Somlak's Facebook post. Both Somlak and Smith were members of an investigation committee that discovered that the gold mine had contaminated the environment with heavy metals, such as iron, arsenic, and manganese. The court dismissed the case against both of them.

The case of mining by Myanmar Pongpipat Limited (MPC)

In March 2017, the Thai mining company MPC filed a lawsuit against The Nation Multimedia Group and its journalist Pratch Rujivanarom who allegedly published false information. They asserted that the company's tin mine was contaminating the water supply of Myaung Pyo Village. The court arranged mediation sessions whereby the parties settled the case non-judicially. The court arranged mediation sessions whereby the parties settled the case non-judicially.



Challenge 8: Barriers are placed on attempts to access effective remedy for violations of community rights with respect to the management of natural resources and the adverse environmental impacts, emerging as a result of business activities

Impact

Accessing effective remedies in Thailand on the management of natural resources and any effect on the environment as a result of the adverse impact of business activities is difficult because of legal barriers associated with the identity of a corporation, law and policy barriers resulting from the imposition of restrictions to protecting these rights, and physical barriers such as reprisals or SLAPP lawsuits that emerge when communities try to defend these violations.

The case of NCPO Order 4/2016

On 20 January 2016, the NCPO published NCPO Order 4/2016 in the Government Gazette, suspending the enforcement of city as well as town planning regulations for certain endeavours. ²⁶⁴ This resulted in city and town planning regulations becoming unenforceable, thus undermining an essential vehicle for safeguarding the environmental and health rights of residents and a way of ensuring sustainable and appropriate use of land. ²⁶⁵ In particular, the order left unregulated energy enterprises, waste management and disposal operations, and power productions, including those being planned by state agencies. ²⁶⁶ A case was filed by plaintiffs made up of a number of community groups, who argued that the order would result in immense and long term detrimental effects on the environment, health, and livelihood of the people by allowing projects to operate without consideration of their adverse impacts. ²⁶⁷ On 4 November 2016, the Administrative Court rejected a petition filed by eight community groups and the ENLAWTHAI Foundation (EnLaw) that sought to nullify NCPO Order 4/2016 and the easing of environmental rules and regulations on development projects. ²⁶⁸ The Court based its decision on the fact that Order 4/2016 had been issued pursuant to Article 44 of the interim constitution. ²⁶⁹ Thai courts have so far refused to review the legality of such orders, ²⁷⁰ allowing for its unhindered utilisation that would result in more violations of community rights.

The case of community rights in Loei province

The KRBK, a community-based organisation in Wang Saphung district of Loei Province has long been engaged in fighting for compensation and restoration of the environment, following the pollution of the community's water supply with heavy metals from mining activities at a mine operated by TKL.²⁷¹ The group along with locals filed a collective case against TKL demanding restoration of the environment and compensation to be paid for the impact of pollution of the water and soil, which still persists 14 years later.²⁷² These individuals and groups faced reprisals during the course of this process, as they have been facing for years.²⁷³ Despite this and taking a prodigious step forward, the Loei Provincial court has ordered the company to pay the 149 plaintiffs and amount of 104,000 Thai Baht (THB) (\$3,300) each — in addition to environmental rehabilitation that the company will have to undertake.²⁷⁴ Basing this verdict on the Constitutional recognition of community rights to resource management and usage, the court has mandated that the community claimants be involved in the rehabilitation planning.²⁷⁵

Voice from Expert²⁷⁶

"In Thailand, a corporation is a separate legal entity, and therefore corporations cannot be held criminally liable. For a corporation, the penalty faced, if found liable under criminal law, is just paying a fine or pay compensation under tort law in civil cases".

Sor Rattanamanee Polkla, co-founding director of Community Resource Centre



4. EXAMPLES OF GOOD PRACTICES AND GUIDELINES TO GUARANTEE COMPLIANCE WITH THE UN GUIDING PRINCIPLES ON BUSINESS & HUMAN RIGHTS AND IN THE IMPLEMENTATION OF LAW AND POLICY

4.1. Community-led Good Practices and Guidelines

4.1.1. Community mobilisation as well as sustainable land and forest management, to resist land evictions²⁷⁷

In 1966, Karen people settled in Huay Hin Lad Nai in northern Thailand, a small village consisting of 20 households surrounded by a National Forest Reservation Area and the Khun Jae National Park. In 1968, the Thai government allowed the Chian Rai Tha Mai logging company to operate in the area which led to the destruction of sacred forest areas and water sources. In 1984, the government annulled the forest concession, and eight years later it declared the Khun Kae National Park as a protected area and ordered the community to move out of the territory. While the villagers did not have appropriate structures and institutions in place to protect their community's land and livelihoods, the government did not recognise their customary land rights.

To challenge the government's actions and order, the community adopted a sustainable land and forest-use planning system to organise resistance against logging and evictions. They also collaborated with neighbouring Lisu and Hmong communities facing the same problems. In 1994, they formed the Northern Farmer's Network (NFN) which aims "(1) to promote and support the community on natural resources management and conservation; (2) to carry out advocacy work for the state to recognise the community's land-related rights; and (3) to promote and support a sustainable agriculture model by using the community's traditional knowledge and rotational farming". The network actively participated in actions and protests and collaborated with other stakeholders such as the Northern Development Foundation (NDF) and the National Assembly of the Poor. The NDF, together with Huay Hin Lad Nai community, conducted research highlighting the positive impact of indigenous peoples' sustainable natural resource management systems, particularly how rotational farming sequesters more carbon than it emits and is key to food security. The community also established its rules and regulations for restoring and managing the forest and resources sustainably with the participation of women and youth. They also devised innovative income generation methods to sustain their struggle and implement their plans. In 2003, the village was officially recognised under Chiang Rai province, occupying around 3,700 hectares, with 85% retained as forest cover and only 1% used for rotational farming under the present land use pattern. The villagers generate income from wild tea, honey and bamboo, among others, of which certain amount is set aside for the community forest management fund. They also revived their traditional practices and culture. The community has been in the process of getting their collective land rights recognised by the State.

4.1.2. Revision of the NEQA utilising the Study on 'EIA in Thailand'

A major study on 'EIA in Thailand: Implementation Challenges and Opportunities for Sustainable Development Planning', a Working Paper of the Asian Environmental Compliance and Enforcement Network (AECEN) conducted by Supat Wangwongwatana, Daisuke Sato, and Peter Noel King published in 2015 pointed out that the NEQA (1992) does not have any provision on public participation, which is one of the most fundamental elements of the EIA system. The NEQA should thus be amended to "include specific provisions on public participation to provide a legal basis in the management of environmental quality". Specifically, the requirement for public participation should be included in "provisions related to the development of Terms of Reference, the preparation of EIA reports, EIA review process, EIA approval, permit granting and monitoring, including requirement for disclosure of information, documents and EIA/EHIA reports to the public and relevant organisations". Procedural manuals on public participation in EIA/EHIA processes should also be produced to supplement existing guidelines. The study also insisted on the importance of integrating a legal basis for the establishment of a Strategic Environment Assessment (SEA) in the NEQA.

4.1.3. 'Integrating Human Health into Environmental Impact Assessment': A Study on the effectiveness of EHIAs²⁸¹



A study titled 'Integrating Human Health into EIA: Review of EHIA in Thailand' by Phayong Thepaksorn, Wattasit Siriwong, and Sathirakorn Pongpanic published in the Applied Environmental Research journal in March 2016, found that the current implementation of EHIAs was still problematic. Lack of strong evidence-based documentation and Thailand's political climate were identified as obstacles to the effectiveness of decision-making in the context of EHIAs. To redress these shortcomings, the authors indicated that methodologies and tools that fit with available data and resources, analytical validity, relevance, stakeholder engagement and public involvement had to be better integrated into the EHIA evaluation. The study makes the following recommendations:

- "1) Develop tools and guidelines for implementation of EHIA for different project categories. Such screening tools may be employed to decide what level of EHIA is required (e.g. rapid or comprehensive health impact assessment), provide guidance in preparing resources, community area and establishment of the EHIA advisory committee.
- 2) Train EHIA experts and conduct EHIA courses to build human resource capacity for implementing and negotiating on EHIA-related topics. It is therefore important to train multi-disciplinary teams in EHIA skills and educate community stakeholders to support the EHIA process and enhance EHIA capacity and effectiveness. In addition, the EHIA practitioners should be trained in skills for community involvement such cultural sensitivity and accountable listening.
- 3) Encourage participation of private agencies and companies from the outset.
- 4) Engage with all stakeholders and ensure full and meaningful community participation and environmental justice, including transparent EHIA communication.
- 5) Ensure full public participation in political engagement, and create incentives for EHIA use, such as involving decision makers in the EHIA process, promoting EHIA as part of improved policymaking, and motivating communities to ask for EHIA process. Such measures would all be advantageous to support EHIA development".

4.1.4. Investigating the effectiveness of mandatory integration of EHIA within EIA

A study carried out on 'Investigating the effectiveness of mandatory integration of EHIA within EIA: a case study of Thailand' by Chaunjit Chanchitpricha and Alan Bond, published in the Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal in November 2017 - analysed four power plant EHIA cases established by EGAT. It found that "the level of successful public consultation is questionable in terms of how fruitful the outcomes are". ²⁸² Issues of trust between stakeholders and authorities were identified as an area of concern. To resolve this, the authors suggested that roles of public participation in Thailand should be clarified so that it can be applied more efficiently to the EHIA process. The study made the following recommendations:

- 1) EHIAs guidelines should be revised to "strengthen procedural effectiveness based on integration of lessons learned, professional experience sharing, and documentary analysis". This should be done in collaboration with academics, ONEP and EHIA practitioners.
- 2) Institutional capacity-building needs for authorities regarding EIAs and EHIAs should be identified to assess how human resources and institutional roles can be strengthened to contribute to better effectiveness.
- 3) "[N]ational policy impact assessment should be considered so that public policy, which links with national environmental and health outcomes, can be developed more sustainably". 284

4.1.6. Human Rights Impact Assessment (HRIA) in a Brazil Land Conflict: The Sirinhaem Case²⁸⁵

A decades-long land conflict case in Brazil recently produced a rare occurrence, where a community-based HRIA was conducted at the same time as a company-led HRIA. Pastoral Land Commission (CPT) partnered with Oxfam to conduct an HRIA while Coca-Cola and PepsiCo committed to conducting their own impact assessment of the Sirinhaem case. Although Oxfam was in touch with all parties, the assessment processes of Coca-Cola, PepsiCo and CPT were conducted independently, and thus the findings from each did not inform the other's outcomes. Analysing this case, Oxfam found that parties consciously conducted parallel impact assessments to inform each other's outcomes. This process of two parallel impact assessments resulted in Coca-Cola and PepsiCo being more understanding of the community's concerns and proposed solutions. The study of this case indicated that having both the community and the company actively engage in due diligence processes resulted in more opportunities to collaborate, in order to achieve results in the future.



4.1.7. Rights and Democracy and the example of best practice by a CSO²⁸⁷

In 2004, Rights & Democracy, a Canadian organisation, developed a community-based HRIA tool - a participatory process to analyse the human rights impact of private foreign investments. This tool focuses on local communities and human rights advocates as experts. From 2005, the organisation tasked community-based organisations in Argentina, Peru, the Philippine, Democratic Republic of Congo, and Tibet to test the tool through its usage, for assessments. Through four pilot studies organised in Bolivia, the United States, Ecuador, and Cameroon in 2009 by Rights & Democracy, in partnership with Oxfam and the International Federation for Human Rights (FIDH), further tested and refined the tool. In 2011, the tool was converted into a web-based format with the title 'Getting it Right' and was made available in English, Spanish, and French. Getting it Right is the only HRIA tool specifically designed to be used by community-based organisations.

4.2. Government-led Good Practices & Legislations

4.2.1. Collaborative mapping and management in Ob Luang National Park²⁸⁸

There exist singular experiences of a successful collaborative management approach between indigenous communities and national park authorities. For example, a pilot project in Ob Luang National Park, organised by the Thai and Danish government under the Joint Management of Protect Areas (JoMPA) project, involving Karen and Hmong communities, resulted in the mapping of the area with final maps accepted by both the communities and the Park's authorities, demarcation of community farmland, and participatory management of the Park continued even after the project. Unfortunately, such an approach has not been adopted as a national policy.

4.2.2. France and the 'corporate duty of vigilance law'

After years of parliamentary debates, a duty of vigilance law²⁸⁹ was adopted by the Constitutional Court of France on 23 March 2017. This law applies to all companies headquartered in France that employ more than 5,000 people; or that are based in France or abroad and employ more than 10,000 people worldwide. It legally requires them to set up vigilance plans which include "reasonable vigilance measures to identify risks and prevent serious violations of human rights and fundamental freedoms, health and safety of persons and environment resulting from the activities of the company and of the companies it controls, either directly or indirectly, as well as the activities of subcontractors or suppliers with whom an established business relationship is maintained".²⁹⁰

In terms of stakeholder engagement, the law stipulates that the vigilance plan "should be drawn up in association with society's stakeholders, where appropriate through multi-stakeholder initiatives within sectors or at territorial level". This is a vague provision, and it does not specify to which extent stakeholders should be consulted, and who should be considered a stakeholder. Nevertheless, stakeholders now play a leading role in assessing early reports to identify gaps. More importantly, because of this law, interested stakeholders will be able to require the court to order companies to comply with the law, and bringing civil liability actions against noncompliant businesses will be easier. ²⁹²

4.2.3. The application of the precautionary principle through the judiciary in Indonesia

After Greenpeace Indonesia, together with community groups, namely Pawapeling, Walhi and Legal Aid Bandung, filed a lawsuit against the decision made by the government to continue the issuance of wastewater discharge permits to three textile companies, a judge ruled in favour of the environmental groups taking into account the precautionary principle. This represented an unprecedented decision to prevent further destruction on the basis of the precautionary principle.²⁹³

4.3. Business-led Good Practices & Guidelines

4.3.1. Guidelines for Social Responsibility: International Organisation for Standardisation (ISO) 26000

ISO 26000 provides guidance on seven core subjects: organisational governance, human rights, labour practices, the environment, fair operating practices, consumer issues, and community involvement and development. The seven core subjects include detailed guidance on issues of social responsibility for corporations. ²⁹⁴ Most notably, one chapter focuses on community involvement and development as an integral part of sustainable development. ²⁹⁵



4.3.2. The AA1000 Stakeholder Engagement Standard (SES) 2015

The AA1000 SES (2015) is a framework for assessing, designing, implementing, and communicating an integrated approach to stakeholder engagement.²⁹⁶ It was synthesised by AccountAbility, an international consulting firm which works with NGOs, States and business enterprises on issues of corporate responsibility and sustainable development.²⁹⁷ The applicability of this framework extends to 'all types and levels of stakeholder engagement'. Its applicability is relevant to the public sector, private sector, and CSOs of varying sizes, and to stakeholder engagement – both internal and external in nature. It can be applied to activities that are project based and also for other ongoing necessities.

4.3.3. Best Practice adopted by a business enterprise: The case of Lafarge

French Lafarge Cement company has been featured in Chris Laszlo's book titled "Sustainable Value: How the World's Leading Companies Are Doing Well by Doing Good". ²⁹⁸ Lafarge's cement plant in Tetouan, Morocco, was initially built on the fringes of the town but then found itself in the middle of the town following urban expansion. The plant was also starting to become obsolete. Consequently, Lafarge made the decision to build a new plant and invited the local community to advise them on where it should be located. Residents were taken to nearby sites to assess the level of nuisance, including in relation to the noise, vibration, and desecration of landscape. After several rounds of consultation, the new plant was built a few kilometres away from the initial site. The new plant is now universally accepted. ²⁹⁹

4.3.4. Aligning with the principles of the United Nations Global Compact (UNGC)

With more than 12,000 members in 170 countries, the UNGC is the largest corporate sustainability project with a range of participants including those from the business sector, labour associations, and organisations. To align with international law and policy on sustainable business practices, the UNGC has set out ten guiding principles on human rights, labour, environment, and anti-corruption as policy, and with collaboration and innovation as goals in practice. With respect to community rights, the UNGC principles 1 and 2 stipulate that 'businesses should support and respect the protection of internationally proclaimed human rights' and 'make sure that they are not complicit in human rights abuses'. These include the rights to land, resources and territories, and the carrying out of due diligence in consultation and cooperation with communities that may be affected by business activities, in line with General Comment No. 24 on State obligations under the ICESCR in the context of business activities. Furthermore, States have the obligation to protect economic rights under the Covenant and 'by granting exploration and exploitation permits for natural resources, without giving due consideration to the potential adverse impact of such activities on the individual and on communities' enjoyment of Covenant rights' would be a violation of their compliance with the Covenant. On the subject of environmental impact, principles and 8 require that businesses 'support a precautionary approach to environmental challenges' and 'undertake initiatives to promote greater environmental responsibility'.

Businesses part of the UNGC are expected to incorporate these principles in their operations and report on the progress of their efforts on an annual basis, 306 a step that has been taken by businesses in Thailand as well. 307 Failure to do so for two consecutive years results in expulsion from the UNGC. 308 In Thailand, over 50 companies have signed on to the UNGC and a number of them have made commitments to abide by its principles. 309 Notable amongst them are the CP group, 310 PTT 311 and True, 312 who have taken steps to ensure the adherence to and understanding of international human rights principles.

4.4. Good Practices & Guidelines led by Multilateral Initiatives

4.4.1. Voluntary Principles on Security and Human Rights (VP) (2000)

In 2000, a small group of governments, companies, and NGOs cooperated to develop and launch a set of VPs, which represent a set of principles designed to guide companies in maintaining the safety and security of their operations within an operating framework that encourages respect for human rights. The VPs were developed in response to reports of human rights abuses allegedly committed by security providers contracted by the extractive industry. The VPs include provisions on regular consultations between companies and host governments and local communities and the monitoring of the progress of investigations into alleged abuses. 314



4.4.2. Equator Principles (2006)³¹⁵

These principles are a financial industry benchmark for determining, assessing and managing social and environmental risk in project financing. They were endorsed by more than 20 commercial banks (known as the Equator Banks) that provide more than 75% of all development project financing around the world. The principles refer back to the **International Finance Corporation (IFC)** Performance Standards for certain projects. Equator Principle 5 specifically addresses consultation and disclosure. According to this, it is necessary for the State, the borrowing party or a third-party organisation to undertake consultation with communities who are affected by the project in a 'structured and a culturally appropriate manner'. Furthermore, it is necessary that a project incorporates the concerns of affected communities sufficiently by ensuring their 'free, prior and informed consultation' and facilitating their 'informed participation' in the process. This process mandates the public availability of the assessment documentation or non-technical summaries, for a reasonable minimum period of time, In the local language, and in a culturally appropriate manner.

4.4.3. OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011)

Article 14 of the OECD guidelines stipulate the importance of engagement with stakeholders, including communities, in order to take their views and opinions into account. Section IV of the Guidelines focus on the impact on human rights in general, including a recommendation to carry out human rights due diligence according to the company's size. Additionally, the OECD Due Diligence Guidance for meaningful Stakeholder Engagement in the Extractive Sector calls on businesses to integrate stakeholder engagement as a core principle in management systems. Sector calls on businesses to integrate stakeholder engagement as a core principle in management systems.

4.4.4. The Voluntary Guidelines on the Responsible Governance of Tenure of Land, Fisheries and Forests in the Context of National Food Security (2012)

The business sector is directly addressed in the Voluntary Guidelines set out by the UN Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO). It explicitly aims to strengthen the capacity of the private sector. The Guidelines seek to improve the governance of the tenure of land and it covers principles of implementation of responsible tenure governance, rights responsibilities and other relevant frameworks.³¹⁹ For non-state actors, including businesses, the general principles of the Voluntary Guidelines include: the responsibility to respect human rights and legitimate tenure rights; due diligence to avoid infringing on human rights and legitimate tenure rights; appropriate risk management systems to address the adverse impacts on human rights and legitimate tenure rights; the need for businesses to provide for and cooperate in the provision of remedy by non-judicial mechanisms, including effective operation-level grievance mechanisms; the need to identify and assess any actual or potential impact on human rights and legitimate tenure rights; respect for customary rights of indigenous peoples, and providing secure rights to women and other marginal groups.³²⁰

4.4.5. IFC Performance Standards (2012)

IFC Performance Standard 1 requires private sector projects that receive funding from the IFC to secure meaningful stakeholder engagement based on stakeholder analysis and engagement planning, disclosure and dissemination of information, consultation and participation, access to a grievance mechanism, and ongoing reporting to affected communities. Additionally, Performance Standard 3 (Resource Efficiency and Pollution Prevention), Performance Standard 4 (Community Health, Safety, and Security), Performance Standard 5 (Land Acquisition and Involuntary Resettlement), and Performance Standard 6 (Biodiversity Conservation and Sustainable Management of Living Natural Resources) address key requirements related to community rights that are impacted by the actions of businesses.

4.4.6. Assessing the human rights performance of businesses according to the Corporate Human Rights Benchmark (CHRB)³²⁶

The CHRB is a multi-stakeholder initiative which utilises a methodology to assess the performance of businesses in line with human rights standards, including the UNGPs amongst other international instruments and standards set therein.³²⁷ This was compiled following a consultation with more than 400 representatives including businesses, investors, state actors, CSOs, academics, and those with legal expertise.³²⁸



The CHRB methodology mandates a commitment to the rights of indigenous peoples, including with respect to FPIC, applicable particularly to the extractive industry but also extending to agricultural industries and apparel manufacturers. In this respect, the benchmarking methodology requires a publicly available statement of businesses' policy to commit to respecting the ownership, use of land, and natural resources. This includes a commitment to recognise and respect legitimate tenure rights related to the ownership and use of land as provided for in the Voluntary Guidelines on Responsible Governance of Tenure or of the IFC Performance Standards or to obtain the FPIC from indigenous peoples and local communities. This is with respect to transactions involving land and natural resources and mandates a zero tolerance for land grabbing, with a business also having to commit to respecting the right to water. In addition, the commitment also requires suppliers to make these commitments.³²⁹

5. RECOMMENDATIONS AND ACTION PLAN FOR THE STATE: PILLAR I AND PILLAR III

PILLAR I: STATE DUTY TO PROTECT				
Priority Area 1	Repeal and amendment of law and policy			
Recommendations (Goal to be achieved)	Action	Lead Agency/ Jurisdiction	Performance Indicators/ Timeline	
Repeal, or amend law and policy by the NLA, Cabinet and NCPO, including existing development related laws, forest-related laws and cabinet resolutions, particularly those related to the head of the NCPO orders, to ensure that they do not contradict existing national law and that they are in line with international obligations as set out in the ICCPR, Articles 2 and 25-27 of the ICESCR, and ICERD, and that seek to undermine Articles 41, 42, 43, 57, 58, 59, and 77 of the 2017 Constitution on communities' rights to access information and public participation in the decision-making process, in addition to redressing the harm caused.	Repeal or amend head of NCPO order 3/2016, 4/2016, 9/2016 and 28/2017 that neglect community rights and fail to ensure the protection of the environment through due diligence mechanisms. Repeal or amend head of the NCPO Orders 64/2014 and 66/2014, to resolve aspects which give authority to arrest, threaten, destroy crops, and evict local communities arbitrarily, without due notice and without prior consultation. Halt implementation of the existing forest-related laws and policies, specifically NCPO Order 64/2014, NCPO Order 4/2015, and the Forest Mastery Plan, including by refraining from arresting people on the allegation of land encroachment and threatening to evict local communities.	NCPO, NLA, MoJ	These steps must be taken in consultation with the NHRCT and local civilian agencies and with the participation of communities in these decisions affecting them and their rights through prior consultation using participatory approaches. Timeline: 2 years – 2019-2020	



Repeal or amend head of NCPO Orders 17/2015 and 74/2016 related to the acquisition of land for the creation of SEZs. According to the Orders, the authorities are not obliged to comply with normal checks and balances usually required for such development projects, in addition to acts resulting in the forced eviction of community members without sufficient compensation.

Repeal or amend head of NCPO order 47/2017, that revokes city planning in the EEC provinces of Chonburi, Rayong and Chachoengsao, which will result in the violation of national and international standards on human rights, community rights, and land-related rights.

Ensure that all policies governing waste-to-energy plants are amended to include provisions that prevent lowering of regulatory standards in their operation, to ensure the establishment of the plants takes place following public consultation, and that due diligence processes are put in place to analyse their possible impact on people and the environment.

To provide redressal for harm caused, authorities should include provisions that reopen and undertake fair investigations with respect to charges, arrests, prosecution or any other adverse impact, including with respect to food security, displacement, and loss of livelihood.

Align the provisions and enforcement of national law and policy with respecting and

The new Minerals Act of 2017 must be amended to ensure (1) public participation in the

NLA, the Ministry of Natural Resources and Environment (MNRE),

Assess the promulgation of these laws to determine if the responsible government



protecting community rights including by business enterprises, in accordance with Articles 41, 42, 43, 57, 58, 59, 77 and 258 of the 2017 Constitution of Thailand.

EIA and EHIA process, with effective public hearings; (2) strict prohibition of the conduct of mining operations in protected forests, through the dismissal of mining concessions on EIA; (3) sufficient time provided to assess the impact of mining activity on the environment and communities affected by them; (4) appointment of representatives from the local community and CSOs through a democratic process, instead of by the **National Mineral** Management Committee, and (5) detailed provisions for environmental restoration through secure processes.

The enforcement of the Petroleum Act of 2017 on the protection for damages incurred as a result of business activities must be strengthened through effective mechanisms and more stringent penalties.

The amendment to the Factories Act must be repealed and the original provisions restored, to ensure the regulation of all industrial establishments so that they do not violate the rights of the community to a healthy environment and their right to be consulted prior to establishment or expansion of the operations of these 'factories'.

Reform existing land and forest related legislation and policy, including the National Reserved Forest Act, the Forest Act, the draft Rice Bill, the Natural Sanctuary Act, and the draft Community Forest Act, the amendment to the National Parks Act, and the Wildlife Conservation Bill in line with

Amend the legislation to recognise the rights of communities. In the context of the ongoing process to review these laws, the concerned authorities should provide for and ensure full and effective participation of communities and their representative organisations

MoJ

agencies undertook an RIA process, and make such assessment public.

Timeline: 2 years – 2019-2020

MNRE, MoJ

The review of these laws and related policy must ensure the provision of redress through restitution or through just, fair, and equitable compensation.

Timeline 1 year – 2019



international standards and the to provide inputs in the

recommendation from the Statement at the end of the visit by the United Nations Working Group on BHR to Thailand that affirmed the right to participation of communities in meaningful consultations and to take part in government decision making.	revision of these legislations.		
Repeal or amend law and policy particularly special state security laws that allow for arbitrary detention, criminalise defamation and infringe on basic freedoms, constricting the space of EHRDs and community rights defenders, in line with international obligations such as the ICCPR, the ICESCR.	Repeal or amend NCPO Announcement 7/2014, head of the NCPO Orders 3/2015 and 13/2016, Article 44 of the interim Constitution, Sections 326-328 of Thailand's Penal Code, the 2015 Public Assembly Act, the 2007 Computer-related Crime Act, and the Cybersecurity Bill.	NCPO, NLA, Ministry of Digital Economy and Society (MDES)	Protection of specific rights such as the right to freedom of expression, the right to freedom of association and assembly, the right to access to information, and the right to public participation must be ensured. Timeline: 3 years – 2019-2021
Priority Area 2	Addressing root ca	uses on the violation of	community rights
Recommendations (Goal to be achieved)	Action	Lead Agency/ Jurisdiction	Performance Indicators/ Timeline
Protect EHRDs, community rights defenders, community leaders, and individuals from SLAPP cases.	Guidelines should be developed to prevent businesses from filing SLAPP lawsuits against EHRDs and	MoJ, the Attorney General	The number of prosecutions that are SLAPP lawsuits must be tracked, annually.
	those who defend community rights. Any anti-SLAPP legislation implemented should ensure that the burden of proof remains on the business/prosecution.		Timeline: 1 year – 2019
Undertake extensive and meaningful consultations with community members and their civil society representatives on ongoing and future projects, investment treaties, and free trade agreements to ensure that these protect and do not violate their rights, in line with the 2012 concluding observations of the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination to Thailand (CERD).	community rights. Any anti- SLAPP legislation implemented should ensure that the burden of proof	The Ministry of Industry	Consultations must be public, transparent, should include the opinions of all those present, and provide adequate time for the synthesis of information in the treaty, agreement or on the project. Evaluation of management of resources in particular water and the environment must be undertaken, in order to make the realisation of human rights a prerequisite for sustainability. Timeline: 2 years – 2019-



	minimally alter ecosystems or affect the quality of life in the community. Review the positive and negative impacts of Thailand's various resources management policies, including in small and large projects to evaluate those policies as lessons learned for the implementation of future projects, and in order to establish a clear legal framework for sustainable development as it impacts on natural resources.		2020
Provide training on human rights, including the rights of communities, so as to ensure human rights obligations, policies, and practices are understood.	These training must be conducted for government ministries, departments, and agencies particularly those related to economic development, management of natural resources and the environment that are responsible for drafting and implementing business-related laws and policies.	RLPD of the MoJ	Regular assessments must be carried out to ensure that the information and knowledge shared is understood and practiced. Timeline: 1 year – 2019
Priority Area 3	Review and adoption of a do		
Priority Area 3 Recommendations (Goal to be achieved)	·		
Recommendations	Review and adoption of a do the environment, through	a mechanism that is incl Lead Agency/	usive of community rights Performance Indicators/



2017 concluding observations of the Human Rights	their FPIC.		with.
Committee to Thailand and the 2012 concluding observations of the CERD to Thailand	NGOs, CSOs or institutions working on environmental issues should be given power to carry out an EIA process by law. An expert panel of multisectoral experts on human rights, environment, geoscience, community development and planning, policy, administration and governance should be set up as an independent panel to review the report and provide recommendation for amendments.		Timeline: 2 years – 2019- 2020
Require business enterprises, through regulatory or reporting requirements such as annual audits and renewals, to adopt and adhere to policy commitments for respecting human rights; undertake a HRDD process to identify, prevent, mitigate, and address their human rights impacts; and remediation processes for adverse human rights impacts.	Requirements on business enterprises should include guidance to consider additional human rights standards for groups requiring particular attention such as rural communities, indigenous peoples, and women beyond national laws; draw on independent external experts and involve meaningful consultations with the affected communities to assess their human rights risks and agree on appropriate actions to prevent or remedy adverse impacts; and establish criminal liability for business enterprises operating in Thailand or Thai investments abroad causing human rights violations, particularly in violation of the due diligence obligation.	The Ministry of Industry, MNRE, MoJ	The efficacy of these processes must be assessed by an analysis of the perpetuation or resolution of adverse human rights impacts caused by businesses to local communities. A qualitative and quantitative analysis must be carried out in this regard through the involvement of community representatives, CSOs, experts with knowledge of the local context, academics, and government representatives. Timeline: 1 year – 2019
Conduct a survey of existing development projects in various parts of Thailand, to determine the land disputes as well as other impacts on the community.	Such a survey should be undertaken with the effective participation of the concerned communities and take into account the archaeological and historical evidence, to establish the ownership and control of the communities over their lands	MNRE, Ministry of Tourism and Sports, MoJ	This must be done in consultation with affected communities and with the involvement of the NHRCT. Timeline: 2 years – 2019-2020



	and resources.		
Establishing inclusivity, participation, and decision- making roles of community members, in line with Article 1 of ICCPR and ICESCR, Committee on Civil and Political Rights (CCPR) General Comment No. 12 and CERD General Recommendation No. 12.	A mechanism to ensure prior information and informed consent from the community to be established. Commend local and traditional knowledge of communities by involving them in environmental management, development, and decision making. Ensure the EIA reports and other studies are shared with the local communities, enabling them to assess any detrimental impact that may occur. No new business project should commence without the permission of communities directly affected by the business.	The Ministry of Interior, MNRE, the Ministry of Commerce	This inclusivity should be undertaken through an effective, multi-stakeholder process. Timeline: 1 year – 2019
Priority Area 4	•	right to access informat	ion
Recommendations		Lead Agency/	Performance Indicators/
(Goal to be achieved)	Action	Jurisdiction	Timeline
There must be no reservation on the access to information that impacts the community, environment, and development.	Community representatives who are directly affected should be allowed to participate when the Expert Committee's comments are delivered to the National Environment Board. ONEP should ensure public access to the EIA report once it is handed in by the consultant. Any amendments to the EIA should be announced to communities. Any information related to the community's well-being and the environment sought by an individual or community affected by the activities of business	MNRE, and the National Environment Board	Information should be available in its entirety, in a manner, which is accessible in language and mode by all persons in the community including those that are living in remote areas and of all socio-economic levels. Timeline: 1 year – 2019
Ensure transparency and the	enterprises should be made available, through the responsible agency. Establish a mechanism that	MNRE, and The	This transparency



with Article 1 of ICCPR and ICESCR, CCPR General Comment No. 12 and CERD General Recommendation No. 12.	projects in a systematic manner and that allows communities to access information without restriction.		businesses and the government to inform the communities prior to the development of a project. Timeline: 1 Year – 2019
Priority Area 5	The	right to public participat	
Recommendations (Goal to be achieved)	Action	Lead Agency/ Jurisdiction	Performance Indicators/ Timeline
Ensure public-participation of community members on issues of environment and management of natural resources, in line with the 2015 concluding observations of the CESCR to Thailand, the 2017 concluding observations of the Human Rights Committee to Thailand and the 2012 concluding observations of the CERD to Thailand. The engagement of local stakeholders and NGOs in public policy needs to be improved in order to deliver efficient and effective public services, especially in the rural areas, inspired by the OECD Guiding Principles for Public Consultation and Article 77 of	Adopt a human-rights based approach in development projects, through participatory mechanisms in order to ensure that no decision is made that may affect access to resources without consulting the individuals and communities concerned, with a view to seeking their FPIC. Ensure guaranteed participation of communities and CSO representation from the inception of projects through all the steps of the project, including monitoring, evaluation, and decision-making processes until the completion of the project. Ensure local communities, including indigenous peoples and ethnic minorities, play a vital role in the environmental management and development of their land, as their knowledge and local wisdom is essential and must be considered in decision-making processes. In order to achieve active participation in policy processes, Thai ministries and agencies need to follow the new guidelines on Public Consultation for government officials carrying out public consultations with relevant stakeholders.	The Ministry of Commerce MNRE	Seek assistance from the international community working in the area of community, environment, and business to ensure compliance with international standards. Timeline: 1 year – 2019 Independent review of participation in the policy processes must be carried out. Timeline: 1 Year – 2019
the 2017 Constitution.	DILLAD III. ACCTOC T	O DEMEDY	
Driority Arca 1	PILLAR III: ACCESS T		al machanisms
Priority Area 1	Creation of eff	ective grievance redress	ai mechanisms



Recommendations (Goal to be achieved)	Action	Lead Agency/ Jurisdiction	Performance Indicators/ Timeline
Remove barriers to access effective judicial remedies through courts, in line with the 2012 concluding observations by the CERD to Thailand.	This is to be achieved by enforcing implementation of existing positive laws and policies effectively by prioritising them over conflicting laws and policies; eliminating biases and discrimination in the laws and justice system through sensitisation and awareness-raising of security and judicial personnel; and addressing practical limitations of language challenges and need for legal assistance through the provision of effective interpretation and free legal aid services. Support mechanisms such as the Justice Fund should be strengthened by providing more resources and independence while setting up separate dedicated mechanisms that should be considered for groups requiring particular attention such as marginalised communities, indigenous peoples, and women.	MoJ	The presence of structural and functional barriers must be reviewed periodically through a study of individual cases. Timeline: 2 years – 2019-2020
Ensure that security forces perform their duties strictly in accordance with the law.	Eradicate the concept of impunity by bringing security personnel guilty of wrongdoing to justice and providing prompt and sufficient remedies to victims of human rights violations.	MoJ, The royal Thai Police	Perpetrators must be brought to justice through these processes. Timeline: 1 year – 2019
For complaints filed against state authorities and law enforcement officials, ensure prompt investigation through an impartial, independent and an autonomous team of experts.	Strengthen the Ombudsman, the Administrative Courts, and the NHRCT at the national and local levels through capacity, resources, and knowledge building on BHR.	MoJ	A timeline must provide for the court decision as well as for the implementation of the same. The efficacy of these mechanisms must be analysed and any inadequacies must be resolved. Timeline: 1 year – 2019



Undertake fair and effective investigation into the disappearance, killing, and other reprisals against indigenous leaders, HRDs, and community members.	Create an independent, dedicated and well-resourced mechanism to protect and support EHRDs, community rights defenders, and HRDs against ongoing and future reprisals, which are on the rise, including in business contexts.	NHRCT, MoJ	Take steps to ensure access to justice for such reprisals in order to guarantee the end of impunity and insecurity in the communities from the government authorities, businesses or other community members. Timeline: 2 years – 2019-2020
The NHRCT should enhance its role as an effective non-judicial grievance mechanism as part of a comprehensive State-based system for remedy of business-related human rights abuses, including for Thai investments abroad.	Greater powers and mandate for the NHRCT should also be accompanied by greater resources to undertake its works. Further, setting up new mechanisms such as parliamentary committees could also be considered.	NHRCT	These non-judicial mechanisms should take into account the local context and practices of communities, where they do not violate human rights standards. Timeline: 1 year – 2019
End all land related legal proceedings against those facing investigation, charges or prosecution initiated by State authorities for engaging in legitimate activities protected by international human rights law or for addressing violations.	Any processes and proceedings must be withdrawn or refrained from. Compensation must be provided for the actual loss of livelihood, the loss caused by unintended deficiencies, and the cost incurred as a result of legal proceedings.	The Public Prosecutors Office	Full and adequate compensation must extend to community members and their families. Timeline: 1 year – 2019
Increase the capacity and budget of as well as access to the Justice Fund.	Support mechanisms such as the Justice Fund should be strengthened by providing more resources and independence while setting up of separate dedicated mechanisms should be considered for groups requiring particular attention such as marginalised communities and women.	MoJ	Accessibility to the Justice Fund must be extended to include unhindered access to all community members that are located remotely and are victims of human rights violations. Timeline: 3 years – 2019-2021

6. RECOMMENDATIONS AND ACTION PLAN FOR BUSINESSES: PILLAR II AND PILLAR III

PILLAR II: CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY TO RESPECT			
Priority Area 1 Fulfilment of International Obligations			
Recommendations (Goal to be achieved)	Action	Lead Agency/ Jurisdiction	Performance Indicators/ Timeline



Prevent or cease to carry out any activity that causes environmental harm or that violate the rights of the community.	Carry out periodic reviews of the project and share the reports with the representatives of the community and ensure transparency in the report. Carry out need assessment studies to create project plans, without adverse impacts. Regulated, periodic, and frequent visits to the community should be carried out by business representatives, to collect information on the detrimental effects of their business on the community and the environment. Immediately decommission projects negatively affecting local communities and restore rivers and the environment to re-establish local communities' livelihoods.	Businesses	Ensure the inclusion of a community representative in the project review team of the company. Timeline: 2 Years – 2019-2020
Implement projects on social, cultural, and community development by directly connecting with the community, and carry out a need assessment study to create project plans.	A social development programme committee should be created to monitor, evaluate, and oversee all the projects carried out in the community. This committee should comprise of representatives from the business, local government, and community.	Businesses	These must constructively engage, develop, and benefit the community. Timeline: 2 Years – 2019-2020
Priority Area 2	Abstain from policies	and actions that	violate human rights
Recommendations (Goal to be achieved)	Action	Lead Agency/ Jurisdiction	Performance Indicators/ Timeline
Take all necessary and lawful measures to ensure that business practices do not cause, contribute or remain complicit in violations, with respect to the rights of communities.	Avoid contributing to any actions amounting to land grabbing and forced evictions; structure arrangements with corporate partners to ensure all parties uphold responsibilities with respect to these rights, and build leverage in pre-existing	Businesses	All actions resulting from external interactions of the business should be without adverse actual and potential human rights impacts that the business causes, contributes to or is linked with through any operation, investment, product or service in the country or



Abstain from advocating for legislation that restrict rights of communities, in contravention of the duty to respect set out for businesses in the UNGPs through corporate capture of the legislature. Investors should ensure that they consider environmental and social risks as mitigating factors while investing in projects, within the country and abroad.	business relations to prevent or mitigate adverse impacts of development projects or other business activities. Companies should understand and promote the rights of communities, which are beneficial to them and their economic well-being as well. Internal policy should mandate the requirement of investment projects to address any negative impacts that projects may have on the environment and at the social level.	Businesses	through extra-territorial investments. Timeline: 1 year – 2019 Coordination with domestic civil society and those affected could ensure a social license to operate. Timeline: 1 year – 2019 Development in a sustainable manner should be a priority in their investment profile. Independent assessments of mitigating factors should be carried out by investors, before and during the project. Timeline: 1 year – 2019
	PILLAR III: ACCESS TO REI	MEDY	
Priority Area 1	Drop Legal Actions and force		community members initiated
		by Businesses	
Recommendations (Goal to be achieved)	Action	Lead Agency/ Jurisdiction	Performance Indicators/ Timeline
End all legal proceedings against individuals facing investigation, charges or prosecution initiated by	Any processes and proceedings must be withdrawn or refrained	Businesses	Compensation must be full and adequate, and extend to
businesses for engaging in legitimate activities protected by international human rights law or for addressing violations.	from. Compensation must be provided for the actual loss of livelihood, the loss caused by intended deficiencies, and the cost incurred as a result of legal proceedings.		community members and their family, in a strict time bound manner. Timeline: 1 year – 2019
legitimate activities protected by international human rights law or	from. Compensation must be provided for the actual loss of livelihood, the loss caused by intended deficiencies, and the cost incurred as a result of legal	Businesses	their family, in a strict time bound manner.



	in motion and completed with a time-frame.		bound manner. Timeline: 2 Years – 2019 - 2020
Priority Area 2	Grievance re	dressal processes	of businesses
Recommendations (Goal to be achieved)	Action	Lead Agency/ Jurisdiction	Performance Indicators/ Timeline
Business enterprises and associations or multi-stakeholder bodies should establish and participate in effective non-Statebased grievance mechanisms, including at operational levels.	Requirements for such mechanisms can be included in the granting or renewal of licenses and/or agreements with business enterprises or in the statutes of business associations with consideration to the size, operation, and experiences or potential of harms of the business/sector.	Businesses	Those mechanisms should be culturally appropriate and take into consideration the local context, circumstances and languages when engaging with them. Timeline: 2 years – 2019-2020



ENDNOTES

Manushya Foundation, Business & Human Rights Strategy, (2017), available at: https://www.manushyafoundation.org/business-human-rights

Manushya Foundation, *Meeting Report: Coalition Building Workshop on Business & Human Rights – Towards a 'Thai BHR Network'*, (18-20 November 2018), available at: https://www.manushyafoundation.org/coalition-building-workshop-report

The four regional NBA dialogues were conducted by Manushya Foundation as follows: The Northern Regional NBA Dialogue in Chiang Mai (29 - 30 January 2017), The Northeastern Regional NBA Dialogue in Khon Kaen (23 - 24 February 2017), The Southern Regional NBA Dialogue in Hat Yai (20 - 21 March 2017) and The Eastern and Central Regional NBA Dialogue in Rayong (30 - 31 March 2017). Please access the NBA Regional Dialogues Report here: Manushya Foundation, Meeting Report: Regional Dialogues for the CSO National Baseline Assessment (NBA) on Business and Human Rights, (2017), available at: https://www.manushyafoundation.org/nba-dialogues-report

Manushya Foundation conducted two Experts Meetings to get input from national, regional and international experts to inform its NBA and ultimately provide guidance for the development of the National Action Plan on Business and Human Rights. The First Experts' Meeting aimed at Informing the CSO NBA on BHR in Thailand in Bangkok (2-3 September 2017) and the Second Experts' Meeting focused on Findings and Recommendations for CSO BHR NBA in Bangkok (28 February to 1 March 2018). Please see: Manushya Foundation, Executive Summary: First Experts Meeting to inform the independent national baseline assessment on business and human rights in Thailand, 2-3 September 2017, (2017), available at:

https://www.manushyafoundation.org/single-post/RELEASE-OF-FIRST-BHR-NBA-EXPERTS-MEETING; and:

Manushya Foundation, Executive Summary: Second Experts Meeting to discuss the findings and recommendations of the independent national baseline assessment on business and human rights in Thailand, 28 February-1 March 2018, (2018), available at:

https://www.manushyafoundation.org/single-post/2018/07/31/RELEASE-OF-SECOND-BHR-NBA-EXPERTS-MEETING Manushya Foundation & ThaiBHRNetwork, *Independent CSO National Baseline Assessment on Business and Human Rights in Thailand*, (2019), available at: https://www.manushyafoundation.org/bhr-cso-nba-thailand

The four regional NBA dialogues were conducted by Manushya Foundation as follows: The Northern Regional NBA Dialogue in Chiang Mai (29 - 30 January 2017), The Northeastern Regional NBA Dialogue in Khon Kaen (23 - 24 February 2017), The Southern Regional NBA Dialogue in Hat Yai (20 - 21 March 2017) and The Eastern and Central Regional NBA Dialogue in Rayong (30 - 31 March 2017). Please access the NBA Regional Dialogues Report here: Manushya Foundation, Meeting Report: Regional Dialogues for the CSO National Baseline Assessment (NBA) on

Manushya Foundation, Regional BHR workshops held to demystify corporate accountability concepts with HRDs, May-June 2017, (2017), available at: https://www.manushyafoundation.org/single-post/2018/07/31/RELEASE-OF-BHR-WORKSHOPS

Business and Human Rights, (2017), available at: https://www.manushyafoundation.org/nba-dialogues-report

Manushya Foundation, Executive Summary: First Experts Meeting to inform the independent national baseline assessment on business and human rights in Thailand, 2-3 September 2017, (2017), available at:

 $\underline{https://www.manushyafoundation.org/single-post/RELEASE-OF-FIRST-BHR-NBA-EXPERTS-MEETING;} \ \textbf{and:}$

Manushya Foundation, Executive Summary: Second Experts Meeting to discuss the findings and recommendations of the independent national baseline assessment on business and human rights in Thailand, 28 February-1 March 2018, (2018), available at:

https://www.manushyafoundation.org/single-post/2018/07/31/RELEASE-OF-SECOND-BHR-NBA-EXPERTS-MEETING

- Manushya Foundation, *Meeting Report: Coalition Building Workshop on Business & Human Rights Towards a 'Thai BHR Network'*, (18-20 November 2018), available at: https://www.manushyafoundation.org/coalition-building-workshop-report
- La Via Campesina, Who are we?, available at: https://viacampesina.org/en/who-are-we/
- La Via Campesina, *Declaration of Rights of Peasants*, (2009), available at:
 - https://www.eurovia.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/EN-LVC-declaration-of-rights-of-peasants.pdf
- World Intellectual Property Organization, Glossary of Key Terms Related to Intellectual Property and Genetic Resources, Traditional Knowledge and Traditional Cultural Expressions, (17 April 2012), available at: http://www.wipo.int/edocs/mdocs/tk/en/wipo_grtkf ic 22/wipo_grtkf ic 22 inf 8.doc
- United Nations Human Rights Council, Open-ended intergovernmental working group on a UN Declaration on the rights of peasants and other people working in rural areas, Final Study 2012, available at: https://www.ohchr.org/EN/HRBodies/HRC/RuralAreas/Pages/WGRuralAreasIndex.aspx
- Geneva Academy, *The Rights of Peasants*, (2008), available at:



https://www.geneva-academy.ch/research/our-project/detail/13-the-rights-of-peasants

- United Nations Human Rights Council, Open-ended intergovernmental working group on a United Nations declaration on the rights of peasants and other people working in rural areas, (July 2013), available at: http://www.ohchr.org/EN/HRBodies/HRC/RuralAreas/Pages/WGRuralAreasIndex.aspx
- Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), Human Rights Council adopts five resolutions, including on Burundi, Syria, and on the Rights of Peasants, (28 September 2018), available at: https://www.ohchr.org/EN/HRBodies/HRC/Pages/NewsDetail.aspx?NewsID=23660&LangID=E
- Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), *Draft United Nations declaration on the rights of peasants and other people working in rural areas,* (10 September 2018), p. 3, available at: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/HRBodies/HRCouncil/WGPleasants/Session5/A-HRC-WG.15-5-3.pdf
- Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, *Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Land Rights in Thailand*, developed by the Southern Peasant Federation of Thailand (SPFT) and Focus on the Global South to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at: https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr advocacy factsheets thailand2016-en.pdf
- Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Land Rights in Thailand, developed by the Southern Peasant Federation of Thailand (SPFT) and Focus on the Global South to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at: https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr advocacy factsheets thailand2016-en.pdf; and Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Mining, Petroleum, Environment and Human Rights, developed by the Legal Centre for Human Rights to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at:
 - https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr advocacy factsheets thailand2016-en.pdf
 - Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Land Rights in Thailand, developed by the Southern Peasant Federation of Thailand (SPFT) and Focus on the Global South to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at: https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr_advocacy_factsheets_-_thailand2016-en.pdf; and Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Mining, Petroleum, Environment and Human Rights, developed by the Legal Centre for Human Rights to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at:
 - https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr advocacy factsheets thailand2016-en.pdf; and Protection International, Submission prepared for 1st periodic report of Thailand, 117th session of the United Nations Human Rights Committee (CCPR) (20 June-15 July 2016), (2016), available at:
 - https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CCPR/Shared%20Documents/THA/INT CCPR ICO THA 23629 E.pdf
 - Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Natural Resource Management and Human Rights (Dam), developed by Samacha Khon Jon Korani Kuen Pakmoon, FTA Watch, Justice for Peace Foundation (JPF) and Land Watch Working Group (LWWG) to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at: https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr advocacy factsheets thailand2016-en.pdf; Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Mining, Petroleum, Environment and Human Rights, developed by the Legal Centre for Human Rights to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at: https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr advocacy factsheets-thailand2016-en.pdf
- Yuka Kiguchi, Pak Mun Dam: 25 years after World Bank's loan, problems remain, (3 May 2016), available at: http://www.mekongcommons.org/pak-mun-dam-25-years-world-banks-loan-problems-remains/
- Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Land Rights in Thailand, developed by the Southern Peasant Federation of Thailand (SPFT) and Focus on the Global South to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at: https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr advocacy factsheets thailand2016-en.pdf; and Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Mining, Petroleum, Environment and Human Rights, developed by the Legal Centre for Human Rights to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at:
 - https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr_advocacy_factsheets_-_thailand2016-en.pdf
- Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, *Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Land Rights in Thailand*, developed by the Southern Peasant Federation of Thailand (SPFT) and Focus on the Global South to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at: https://www.upr-



info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr advocacy factsheets - thailand2016-en.pdf; and Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand – UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Mining, Petroleum, Environment and Human Rights, developed by the Legal Centre for Human Rights to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at:

https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr advocacy factsheets - thailand2016-en.pdf; and Massachusetts Institute of Technology, *Environmental Risks of Mining*, (2016), available at: http://web.mit.edu/12.000/www/m2016/finalwebsite/problems/mining.html

- Jonathan Rigg, Counting the Costs: Economic Growth and Environmental Change in Thailand, (2000), Institute of South East Asian Studies, Singapore
- Asian Development Bank, Fossil Fuel Subsidies in Thailand: Trends, Impacts, and Reform, (2015), p.1, available at: https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publication/175455/fossil-fuel-subsidies-thailand.pdf
 - Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Natural Resource Management and Human Rights (Dam), developed by Samacha Khon Jon Korani Kuen Pakmoon, FTA Watch, Justice for Peace Foundation (JPF) and Land Watch Working Group (LWWG) to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at: https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr advocacy factsheets thailand2016-en.pdf; Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Mining, Petroleum, Environment and Human Rights, developed by the Legal Centre for Human Rights to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at: https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr advocacy factsheets thailand2016-en.pdf
 - Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Natural Resource Management and Human Rights (Dam), developed by Samacha Khon Jon Korani Kuen Pakmoon, FTA Watch, Justice for Peace Foundation (JPF) and Land Watch Working Group (LWWG) to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at: https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr advocacy factsheets thailand2016-en.pdf
- Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Land Rights in Thailand, developed by the Southern Peasant Federation of Thailand (SPFT) and Focus on the Global South to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at: https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr advocacy factsheets thailand2016-en.pdf; and Human Rights Watch, Toxic Water, Tainted Justice Thailand's Delays in Cleaning up Klitty Creek, (2014), available at: http://features.hrw.org/features/HRW 2014 reports/Toxic Water Tainted Justice/thailand1214 web.pdf; Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), Mandates of the Independent Expert on the issue of human rights obligations related to the enjoyment of a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable environment; the Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of the right to freedom of opinion and expression; the Special Rapporteur on the rights to freedom and peaceful assembly and of association; and the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights defenders, (1 July 2014), available at: https://spdb.ohchr.org/hrdb/28th/public-AL Thailand 01.07.14 (5.2014).pdf
- Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Natural Resource Management and Human Rights (Dam), developed by Samacha Khon Jon Korani Kuen Pakmoon, FTA Watch, Justice for Peace Foundation (JPF) and Land Watch Working Group (LWWG) to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at: https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr advocacy factsheets thailand2016-en.pdf
- Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Mining, Petroleum, Environment and Human Rights, developed by the Legal Centre for Human Rights to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at:
 https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr advocacy factsheets thailand2016-
 - en.pdf
- Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Mining, Petroleum, Environment and Human Rights, developed by the Legal Centre for Human Rights to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at:
 - https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr_advocacy_factsheets thailand2016-en.pdf
- The Guardian, Almost four environmental defenders a week killed in 2017, (2 February 2018), available at: https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2018/feb/02/almost-four-environmental-defenders-a-week-killed-in-2017
- Human Rights Watch, At Your Own Risk Reprisals against Critics of World Bank Group Projects, (2015), p. 3-5, available at: https://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/report_pdf/worldbank0615_4up.pdf



- Minority Rights Group International, Self-determination, available at: https://minorityrights.org/law-and-legal-cases/self-determination/
- United Nations (UN), Charter of the United Nations, (1945), Article 1 (2), available at: https://treaties.un.org/doc/publication/ctc/uncharter.pdf
- United Nations (UN), *Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR)*, (10 December 1948), Article 15, available at: https://www.jus.uio.no/lm/un.universal.declaration.of.human.rights.1948/portrait.a4.pdf
- Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR), (23 March 1976), Article 1, available at: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/ProfessionalInterest/ccpr.pdf; Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR), (19 December 1966), Article 1, available at: https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/cescr.aspx
- Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR), (23 March 1976), Article 1(2), available at: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/ProfessionalInterest/ccpr.pdf; Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR), (19 December 1966), Article 1(2), available at: https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/cescr.aspx
- UN Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination (CERD), General Recommendation No. 21, Right to self-determination, (23 August 1996), U.N. Doc. A/51/18, para. 4, available at: https://www.uio.no/studier/emner/jus/humanrights/HUMR5508/v12/undervisningsmateriale/General%20Recommendation%20No21-self-determination.pdf
- UN Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), General comment No. 20 on Non-discrimination in economic, social and cultural rights (art. 2, para. 2 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights), (2 July 2009), E/C.12/GC/20, para. 2 and 7, available at:
 - http://docstore.ohchr.org/SelfServices/FilesHandler.ashx?enc=4slQ6QSmlBEDzFEovLCuW1a0Szab0oXTdImnsJZZVQdqeXgncKnylFC%2BlzJjLZGhsosnD23NsgR1Q1NNNgs2QindRvh9u9KQV6R%2Bo3nU%2FjZ%2BjGCkJ8Qmosooxr8fbCC0
- Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR), (23 March 1976), Article 2, available at:

 https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/ProfessionalInterest/ccpr.pdf; Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR), (19 December)
 - for Human Rights (OHCHR), International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR), (19 December 1966), Article 2, available at: https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/cescr.aspx; UN Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), General comment No. 20 on Non-discrimination in economic, social and cultural rights (art. 2, para. 2 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights), (2 July 2009), E/C.12/GC/20, para. 2 and 7, available at:
 - http://docstore.ohchr.org/SelfServices/FilesHandler.ashx?enc=4slQ6QSmlBEDzFEovLCuW1a0Szab0oXTdImnsJZZVQdqeXgncKnylFC%2BlzJjLZGhsosnD23NsgR1Q1NNNgs2QindRvh9u9KQV6R%2Bo3nU%2FjZ%2BjGCkJ8Qmosooxr8fbCC0
- United Nations (UN), United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Persons Belonging to National or Ethnic, Religious and Linguistic Minorities, (3 February 1992), A/RES/47/135, Article 1, available at: https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/minorities.aspx
- United Nations (UN), United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Persons Belonging to National or Ethnic, Religious and Linguistic Minorities, (3 February 1992), A/RES/47/135, Article 2(3), available at: https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/minorities.aspx
- United Nations (UN), United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Persons Belonging to National or Ethnic, Religious and Linguistic Minorities, (3 February 1992), A/RES/47/135, Article 5, available at: https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/minorities.aspx
- United Nations (UN), *United Nations Declaration on the Right to Development*, (4 December 1986), A/RES/41/128, Article 1, available at: https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/righttodevelopment.aspx
- United Nations (UN), *United Nations Declaration on the Right to Development*, (4 December 1986), A/RES/41/128, Article 2, available at: https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/righttodevelopment.aspx
- United Nations, Report of the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development, (3-14 June 1992), available at: https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/168679?ln=en
- ⁴⁹ United Nations, *Report of the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development*, (3-14 June 1992), available at: https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/168679?ln=en
- James Cameron and Juli Abouchar, *The Precautionary Principle: A Fundamental Principle of Law and Policy for the Protection of the Global Environment*, Boston College International and Comparative Law Review 14, no. 1, (January 1991), available at: https://lawdigitalcommons.bc.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1335&context=iclr
- United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, *Paris Agreement*, (2015) available at: https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/english-paris-agreement.pdf



- La Via Campesina, *Press Release: Third Committee approves the UN Declaration on the Rights of Peasants and Other People Working in Rural Areas*, (20 November 2018), available at: https://viacampesina.org/en/united-nations-third-committee-approves-the-un-declaration-on-the-rights-of-peasants-and-other-people-working-in-rural-areas/
- UN General Assembly, *United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Peasants and Other People Working in Rural Areas*, (30 October 2018), Preamble, available at: http://undocs.org/A/C.3/73/L.30
- UN General Assembly, *United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Peasants and Other People Working in Rural Areas*, (30 October 2018), Article 2, p. 5, available at: http://undocs.org/A/C.3/73/L.30
- UN General Assembly, *United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Peasants and Other People Working in Rural Areas*, (30 October 2018), Article 2, p. 5, available at: http://undocs.org/A/C.3/73/L.30
- UN General Assembly, *United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Peasants and Other People Working in Rural Areas*, (30 October 2018), p. 6, available at: http://undocs.org/A/C.3/73/L.30
- Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, *Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Mining, Petroleum, Environment and Human Rights*, developed by the Legal Centre for Human Rights to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at:
 - https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr advocacy factsheets thailand2016-en.pdf
- Constitution of the Kingdom of Thailand (2017), available at:
 - http://www.constitutionalcourt.or.th/occ_en/download/article_20170410173022.pdf
- Enhancement and Conservation of the National Environmental Quality Act (1992), available at: http://greenaccess.law.osaka-u.ac.jp/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Enhancement-and-Conservation-of-the-National-Environmental-Quality-Act.pdf
- Enhancement and Conservation of the National Environmental Quality Act (1992), Section 47, available at: http://greenaccess.law.osaka-u.ac.jp/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Enhancement-and-Conservation-of-the-National-Environmental-Quality-Act.pdf
- Enhancement and Conservation of the National Environmental Quality Act (1992), Section 47, available at: http://greenaccess.law.osaka-u.ac.jp/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Enhancement-and-Conservation-of-the-National-Environmental-Quality-Act.pdf
- EarthRights International, Environmental Impact Assessment in the Mekong Region: Materials and commentary, (October 2016), p. 100-101, available at: https://earthrights.org/wp-content/uploads/eia manual final 0.pdf
- Enhancement and Conservation of the National Environmental Quality Act (1992), Section 7, available at: http://greenaccess.law.osaka-u.ac.jp/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Enhancement-and-Conservation-of-the-National-Environmental-Quality-Act.pdf
- Chutarat Chompunth, Public Participation in Environmental Management in Constitutional and Legal Frameworks, American Journal of Applied Science, 10 (1): 73-80 (2013), p.75, available at: https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/25729553.pdf
- Asian Environmental Compliance and Enforcement Network (AECEN), Assessing Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) in Thailand: Implementation Challenges and Opportunities for Sustainable Development Planning, (March 2015), available at:
- https://www.iges.or.jp/en/publication_documents/pub/workingpaper/en/5601/EIA+Thai+study_10Mar15-Final.pdf
- Industrial Product Standard Act (1968), available at: http://thailaws.com/law/t_laws/tlaw0130.pdf
- Act on the Maintenance of the Cleanliness and Orderliness of the Country (1992), available at: http://web.krisdika.go.th/data/document/ext809/809966 0001.pdf
- Hazadous Substance Act (1992), available at:
 - http://web.krisdika.go.th/data/outsitedata/outsite21/file/Hazardous Substance Act B.E. 2535.pdf
- 69 Public health Act (1992), available at: http://thailaws.com/law/t_laws/tlaw0223.pdf
- Factory Act (1992), available at:
 - http://web.krisdika.go.th/data/outsitedata/outsite21/file/FACTORY ACT, B.E.2535 (1992).pdf
- Fuel Control Act (1999), available at: http://elaw.doeb.go.th/document_doeb/627_0001.pdf
- Ministry of Natural Resources and Environment, *The Climate Change Master Plan 2015-2050*, (2015), available at: http://www.lse.ac.uk/GranthamInstitute/wp-content/uploads/laws/2052.pdf
- Energy Policy and Planning Office, *Gas Plan 2015*, (22 October 2015), available at: http://www.eppo.go.th/images/POLICY/PDF/Gas%20Plan%20 Final Publish.pdf
- Energy Policy and Planning Office, *Thailand Power Development Plan 2015-2036*, (2015), available at: http://www.eppo.go.th/index.php/en/policy-and-plan/en-tieb/tieb-pdp/item/download/10900/4052f21bc643ff20b625b22acc35e07e
- Department of Renewable Energy Development and Energy Efficiency, Alternative Energy Development Plan: AEDP2015, (2015), available at: http://www.lse.ac.uk/GranthamInstitute/wp-content/uploads/laws/2048.pdf



- Energy Policy and Planning Office, Energy Efficiency Plan; EEP 2015, (2015) available at: :
 - http://www.eppo.go.th/images/POLICY/PDF/EEP2015.pdf
- 77 Royal Thai Embassy, *Thailand 4.0*, available at: http://thaiembdc.org/thailand-4-0-2/
- Office of the National Economic and Social Development Board, The Twelfth National Economic and Social Development Plan (2017-2021), (2017) available at:
 - https://www.greengrowthknowledge.org/sites/default/files/downloads/policy-
 - $\frac{database/THAILAND\%29\%20 The\%20 Twelfth\%20 National\%20 Economic\%20 and\%20 Social\%20 Development\%20 Plan\%20\%282017-2021\%29.pdf$
- Government Gazette, National Strategies (B.E. 2561-2580), (2017) available at:
 - http://www.ratchakitcha.soc.go.th/DATA/PDF/2561/A/082/T 0001.PDF
- Minerals Act (2017), available at: http://www.dpim.go.th/en/media/002 2560.pdf
- Petroleum Act (No. 7), (2017) available at: http://library2.parliament.go.th/giventake/content_nla2557/law65-220660-32.pdf
- Government Gazette, Petroleum Income Tax Act (No. 7) (2017) available at:
 - http://www.rd.go.th/publish/fileadmin/user_upload/kormor/newlaw/prboil7.pdf
- The Asian Legal Resource Centre (ALRC) and Protection International, Submission prepared for the joint initial and second report of Thailand, at the 55th Session of the United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), (1-19 June 2015), (April 2015), available at:
 - http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/ layouts/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=INT%2fCESCR%2fCSS%2fTHA%2f0514&Lang=en
- Constitution of the Kingdom of Thailand (Interim) (2014), available at:
 - http://web.krisdika.go.th/data/outsitedata/outsite21/file/Constitution of the Kingdom of Thailand (Interim),B.E. 2557 (2014).pdf
- National Legislative Assembly, *Head of the National Council for Peace and Order (NCPO) Order 3/2016*, (2016), available at: http://library2.parliament.go.th/giventake/content-ncpo/ncpo-head-order3-2559.pdf
- National Legislative Assembly, *Head of the National Council for Peace and Order (NCPO) Order 4/2016,* (2016), available at: http://library2.parliament.go.th/giventake/content_ncpo/ncpo-head-order4-2559.pdf
- Government Gazette, Head of the *National Council for Peace and Order (NCPO) Order No. 9/2016*, (2016), available at: http://www.ratchakitcha.soc.go.th/DATA/PDF/2559/E/059/46.PDF
- The Secretariat of the House of Representatives, *National Council for Peace and Order (NCPO) Order No. 28/2560*, (2017), available at: http://library2.parliament.go.th/giventake/content_ncpo/ncpo-head-order28-2560.pdf
- 89 Industrial Product Standard Act (1968), available at: http://thailaws.com/law/t_laws/tlaw0130.pdf
- Act on the Maintenance of the Cleanliness and Orderliness of the Country (1992), available at:
- http://web.krisdika.go.th/data/document/ext809/809966 0001.pdf
- 91 Hazardous Substance Act (1992), available at:
 - https://www.chemsafetypro.com/Topics/Thailand/Thailand Hazardous Substance Act BE 2535.pdf
- Public Health Act (1992), available at: http://thailaws.com/law/t_laws/tlaw0223.pdf
- ⁹³ Factory Act (1992), available at:
 - http://web.krisdika.go.th/data/outsitedata/outsite21/file/FACTORY ACT, B.E.2535 (1992).pdf
- Fuel Oils Control Act (No. 2), (2007), available at: http://thailaws.com/law/t_laws/tlaw0465.pdf
- Land Development Act (2008), available at: https://www.samuiforsale.com/law-texts/land-development-act.html
- ⁹⁶ Royal Decree on Criteria and Procedures for Good Governance (2003), available at:
- http://thailaws.com/law/t laws/tlaw17512.pdf
- State Administration Act (1991), available at:
 - http://web.krisdika.go.th/data/outsitedata/outsite21/file/State Administration Act BE 2534 (1991).pdf
- Rule of the Office of the Prime Minister on Public Consultation (2005), available at:
 - http://thailaws.com/law/t laws/tlaw10785.pdf
- Administrative Procedure Act (No. 2), (2014), available at:
 - http://web.krisdika.go.th/data//document/ext825/825512 0001.pdf
- Town Planning Act (No. 4), (2015), available at:
 - http://web.krisdika.go.th/data//document/ext810/810083_0001.pdf
- National Health Act, (A.D. 2007), (2007), available at:
 - http://thailawforum.com/laws/National%20Health%20Act 2007.pdf
- Bangkok Post, 20-year National Strategy comes into effect, (13 October 2018), available at:
- https://www.bangkokpost.com/news/general/1557462/20-year-national-strategy-comes-into-effect
- 103 Government Gazette, เรื่อง ยุทธศาสตร์ชาติ (พ.ศ. ๒๕๖๑ ๒๕๘๐), (2018), available at:
 - http://www.ldd.go.th/www/files/90058.pdf



- 104 Government Gazette, เรื่อง ยุทธศาสตร์ชาติ (พ.ศ. ๒๕๖๑ ๒๕๘๐), (2018), available at:
 - http://www.ldd.go.th/www/files/90058.pdf
- 105 Government Gazette, เรื่อง ยุทธศาสตร์ชาติ (พ.ศ. ๒๕๖๑ ๒๕๘๐), (2018), available at:
 - http://www.ldd.go.th/www/files/90058.pdf
- 106 Government Gazette, เรื่อง ยุทธศาสตร์ชาติ (พ.ศ. ๒๕๖๑ ๒๕๘๐), (2018), available at:
 - http://www.ldd.go.th/www/files/90058.pdf
- 107 Government Gazette, เรื่อง ยุทธศาสตร์ชาติ (พ.ศ. ๒๕๖๑ ๒๕๘๐), (2018), available at::
 - httn://www.ldd.go.th/www/files/90058.ndf
- iLaw, *ยุทธศาสตร์ชาต*ิ 20 **ปี คืออะไร? เข้าใจกันแบบย่อๆ**, (19 October 2018), available at: https://ilaw.or.th/node/4570
- 109 iLaw, *การแก้ไขยุทธศาสตร์ชาติ / ยุทธศาสตร์ชาติ คสช*, (17 October 2018), available at: https://ilaw.or.th/node/4977
- ¹¹⁰ iLaw, การแก้ไขยุทธศาสตร์ชาติ / ยุทธศาสตร์ชาติ คสช, (17 October 2018), available at: https://ilaw.or.th/node/4977
- Bangkok Post, Community Forest Bill passes NLA, (17 February 2019), available at: : https://www.bangkokpost.com/news/environment/1630550/community-forest-bill-passes-nla; Reuters, Thai community forest bill won't benefit all, campaigners say, (21 February 2019), available at: http://news.trust.org/item/20190221070445-25s3t/
- Reuters, *Thai community forest bill won't benefit all, campaigners say*, (21 February 2019), available at: http://news.trust.org/item/20190221070445-25s3t/
- Bangkok Post, Community Forest Bill passes NLA, (17 February 2019), available at:
 - https://www.bangkokpost.com/news/environment/1630550/community-forest-bill-passes-nla
- Bangkok Post, Community Forest Bill passes NLA, (17 February 2019), available at:
 - https://www.bangkokpost.com/news/environment/1630550/community-forest-bill-passes-nla
- Reuters, *Thai community forest bill won't benefit all, campaigners say*, (21 February 2019), available at: http://news.trust.org/item/20190221070445-25s3t/
- Reuters, *Thai community forest bill won't benefit all, campaigners say*, (21 February 2019), available at: http://news.trust.org/item/20190221070445-25s3t/
- 117 Bangkok Post, Time for regime to suspend lawmaking, (27 February 2019), available at: https://www.bangkokpost.com/opinion/opinion/1635846/time-for-regime-to-suspend-lawmaking; The Nation, **Activists** in arms over new factory law, (20 **February** 2019), available at: https://www.nationthailand.com/national/30364470
- The Nation, Waste-to-energy plants 'an environmental hazard', (3 March 2019), available at: https://www.nationthailand.com/news/30365118; The Nation, Power plan 'a setback for sustainable energy', (9 December 2018), available at: https://www.nationthailand.com/national/30360098; Department of Alternative Energy Development and Efficiency, Thailand needs to promote Energy-from-Waste, available at: http://weben.dede.go.th/webmax/sites/default/files/03%20Thailand%20needs%20to%20promote%20Energy%20fr
- The Nation, National parks bill deliberation disrupted at parliament as forest group 'makes noise', (6 March 2019), available at: https://www.nationthailand.com/news/30365324; The Nation, NLA offends forest dwellers with nation parks amendments, (7 March 2019), available at: https://www.nationthailand.com/national/30365367
- Bangkok Post, Assembly Retreats on Rice Bill, (16 February 2019), available at:
 - https://bangkokpost.com/news/general/1629926/assembly-retreats-on-rice-bill
- Bangkok Post, *Rice Bill not in Farmers Interest*, (17 February 2019), available at:
 - https://bangkokpost.com/opinion/opinion/1630206/rice-bill-not-in-farmers-interests
- Bangkok Post, Assembly Retreats on Rice Bill, (16 February 2019), available at: https://bangkokpost.com/news/general/1629926/assembly-retreats-on-rice-bill
- The Nation, *NLA in a hurry to push Rice Bill,* (18 February 2019), available at:
 - https://www.nationthailand.com/news/30364354

om%20waste.pdf

- Chiang Rai Times, *Thai Farmers Raise Concerns Over Junta Rice Bill That Would Ban Non-Certified Paddy Seeds,* (15 February 2019), available at: https://www.chiangraitimes.com/lifestyles/thai-farmers-raise-concerns-over-junta-rice-bill-that-would-ban-non-certified-paddy-seeds/
- The Nation, *NLA in a hurry to push Rice Bill,* (19 February 2019), available at: https://www.nationthailand.com/news/30364354
- Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights: Implementing the United Nations "Protect, Respect and Remedy" Framework, (2011), p. 3, available at: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR EN.pdf
- Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights: Implementing the United Nations "Protect, Respect and Remedy" Framework, (2011), p. 4, available at: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR EN.pdf



- Government of Thailand, Submission prepared for the 2nd cycle of the Universal Periodic Review of Thailand, 25th Session of the Human Rights Council (April-May 2016), (12 February 2016), para. 42, available at: https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/G16/025/43/PDF/G1602543.pdf?OpenElement
- Constitution of the Kingdom of Thailand (2017), Articles 66 and 67, available at: http://www.constitutionalcourt.or.th/occ_en/download/article_20170410173022.pdf
- Pawat Satayanurug, *Business and Human Rights in ASEAN A Baseline Study: Thailand*, (2012), p.381, available at: http://hrrca.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/10.-BHR-Thailand.pdf
- Constitution of the Kingdom of Thailand (2017), Articles 41, 42, 43, 57, 58, 59 and 77, available at: http://www.constitutionalcourt.or.th/occ en/download/article 20170410173022.pdf
- Constitution of the Kingdom of Thailand (2017), Articles 41, 58, 59 and 77, available at: http://www.constitutionalcourt.or.th/occ_en/download/article_20170410173022.pdf
- iLaw, Section 77 of Thai Constitution, (11 July 2017), available at: https://ilaw.or.th/node/4557
- iLaw, A Beginner's Guide to RIA and Public Consultation: Looking at US standards, available at: https://ilaw.or.th/node/4557
- iLaw, A Beginner's Guide to RIA and Public Consultation: Looking at US standards, available at: https://ilaw.or.th/node/4557
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), *Background Document on Public Consultation*, available at: https://www.oecd.org/mena/governance/36785341.pdf
- Chutarat Chompunth, *Public Participation in Environmental Management in Consitutional and Legal Frameworks*, American Journal of Applied Sciences, 10 (1): 73-80 (2013), p.75, available at: https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/25729553.pdf
- Ministry of Natural Resources and the Environment, Announcement of the Ministry of Natural Resources and the Environment, Determination of the type and size of projects or activities that need to prepare an EIA report, and rules, regulations and guidelines for preparing the report, 16 June 2009, available at:

 http://www.ratchakitcha.soc.go.th/DATA/PDF/2552/E/125/13.PDF?fbclid=IwAR0BjjIdE7vcK18y4dUFh3njOVL2kMVW07vjQNHTBr6Wy-UgqBefbZFhQxl
- Minerals Act (2017), available at: http://www.dpim.go.th/en/media/002 2560.pdf
- Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Land Rights in Thailand, developed by the Southern Peasant Federation of Thailand (SPFT) and Focus on the Global South to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at: https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr advocacy factsheets thailand2016-en.pdf
- State Administration Act (1991), available at:
 - http://web.krisdika.go.th/data/outsitedata/outsite21/file/State Administration Act BE 2534 (1991).pdf
- Rule of the Office of the Prime Minister on Public Consultation (2005), available at: http://thailaws.com/law/t_laws/tlaw10785.pdf
- Administrative Procedure Act (No. 2), (2014), available at:
 - http://web.krisdika.go.th/data//document/ext825/825512 0001.pdf
- Factory Act (1992), available at:
 - http://web.krisdika.go.th/data/outsitedata/outsite21/file/FACTORY_ACT,_B.E.2535_(1992).pdf
- Town Planning Act (No. 4), (2015), available at: http://web.krisdika.go.th/data//document/ext810/810083 0001.pdf
- National Health Act, (A.D. 2007), available at:
 - http://www.thailawforum.com/laws/National%20Health%20Act 2007.pdf
- National Health Act, (A.D. 2007), available at:
 - http://www.thailawforum.com/laws/National%20Health%20Act 2007.pdf
- National Human Rights Commission of Thailand (NHRCT), Submission prepared for the joint initial and second report of Thailand, at the 55th Session of the United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), (1-19 June 2015), (April 2015), para. 17 available at:
 - http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CESCR/Shared%20Documents/THA/INT CESCR NHS THA 20024 E.docx
- Community Resource Centre, Northern Development Foundation, Thai Sea Watch Association, E-Sarn Human Rights and Peace Information Centre, and the Project for Campaign for Public Policy on Mineral Resources, *Joint Submission prepared for the joint initial and second report of Thailand, at the 55th Session of the United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), (1-19 June 2015),* (April 2015), available at:
 - http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CESCR/Shared%20Documents/THA/INT CESCR CSS THA 20443 E.pdf
- Earthrights International, Environmental Impact Assessment in the Mekong Region, (2016), available at:
 - https://earthrights.org/wp-content/uploads/eia manual final 0.pdf
- The Nation, Fast-tracked EEC poses 'risks environment, social unrest', (8 May 2017), available at: https://www.nationthailand.com/national/30316575



- The Nation, Fast-tracked EEC poses 'risks environment, social unrest', (8 May 2017), available at: https://www.nationthailand.com/national/30316575; and Bangkok Post, Order flawed but regime doesn't care, (2016), available at: https://www.bangkokpost.com/print/897784/
- The Nation, Fast-tracked EEC poses 'risks environment, social unrest', (8 May 2017), available at: https://www.nationthailand.com/national/30316575
- National Human Rights Commission of Thailand (NHRCT), Submission prepared for the joint initial and second report of Thailand, at the 55th Session of the United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), (1-19 June 2015), (April 2015), para. 18 available at:
 - http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CESCR/Shared%20Documents/THA/INT CESCR NHS THA 20024 E.docx
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), *Multi-dimensional Review of Thailand,* available at: http://www.nesdb.go.th/download/document/Full%20report%20Multi-dimensional%20Review%20of%20Thailand%20Volume%201.pdf
- Dawei Development Association (DDA), Voices from the Ground: Concerns Over the Dawei Special Economic Zone and Related Projects, (2014), available at: http://www.burmalibrary.org/docs19/Voices_from_the_ground-en-red.pdf
- National Human Rights Commission of Thailand (NHRCT), Submission prepared for the joint initial and second report of Thailand, at the 55th Session of the United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), (1-19 June 2015), (April 2015), available at:
 - http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CESCR/Shared%20Documents/THA/INT CESCR NHS THA 20024 E.docx
- ¹⁵⁸ Constitution of the Kingdom of Thailand (2017), Article 43(1), available at:
 - http://www.constitutionalcourt.or.th/occ_en/download/article_20170410173022.pdf
- Ministry of Natural Resources and Environment, Strengthening the Right to Access Environmental Information in Thai land, available at: http://www.accessinitiative.org/sites/default/files/simachaya-strengthening the right to access environmental information.pdf
- Business and Human Rights Resource Centre, *Interview of Sor. Rattanamanee Polkla: Legal remedies do not only mean compensation, they mean prevention*, available at: https://www.business-humanrights.org/en/legal-remedies-do-not-only-mean-compensation-they-mean-prevention
- Government of Thailand, Reply to the List of Issues prepared for the joint initial and second report of Thailand, at the 55th Session of the United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), (1-19 June 2015), (April 2015), para. 8, available at:
 - https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/ layouts/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=E%2fC.12%2fTHA%2fQ%2f1-2%2fAdd.1&Lang=en
- Government of Thailand, Reply to the List of Issues prepared for the joint initial and second report of Thailand, at the 55th Session of the United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), (1-19 June 2015), (April 2015), para. 10, available at:
 - https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/ layouts/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=E%2fC.12%2fTHA%2fQ%2f1-2%2fAdd.1&Lang=en
- Government of Thailand, Reply to the List of Issues prepared for the joint initial and second report of Thailand, at the 55th Session of the United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), (1-19 June 2015), (April 2015), para. 16, available at:
 - https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/ layouts/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=E%2fC.12%2fTHA%2fQ%2f1-2%2fAdd.1&Lang=en
- Government of Thailand, Reply to the List of Issues prepared for the joint initial and second report of Thailand, at the 55th Session of the United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), (1-19 June 2015), (April 2015), para. 32, available at:
 - https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/_layouts/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=E%2fC.12%2fTHA%2fQ%2f1-2%2fAdd.1&Lang=en
- Government of Thailand, Reply to the List of Issues prepared for the joint initial and second report of Thailand, at the 55th Session of the United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), (1-19 June 2015), (April 2015), para. 32, available at:
 - https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/_layouts/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=E%2fC.12%2fTHA%2fQ%2f1-2%2fAdd.1&Lang=en
- Human Rights Resource Centre, *Business and Human Rights in ASEAN: A Baseline Study* p. 376, available at: http://hrrca.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/10.-BHR-Thailand.pdf
- National Human Rights Commission of Thailand (NHRCT), Yearly statistical Information on complaints (2553-2559), available at:



http://www.nhrc.or.th/NHRCT-Work/Statistical-information/Statistical-information-on-complaints/Yearly-(2548-Now).aspx

- National Human Rights Commission of Thailand (NHRCT), Submission prepared for the 2nd cycle of the Universal Periodic Review of Thailand, 25th Session of the Human Rights Council (April-May 2016), (2015), available at: https://www.ohchr.org/EN/HRBodies/UPR/Pages/UPRTHStakeholdersInfoS25.aspx
- Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights: Implementing the United Nations "Protect, Respect and Remedy" Framework, (2011), Guiding Principle 13, available at: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR EN.pdf
- Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights: Implementing the United Nations "Protect, Respect and Remedy" Framework, (2011), Guiding Principle 18, p. 19 available at:
 - https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR EN.pdf
- Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights: Implementing the United Nations "Protect, Respect and Remedy" Framework, (2011), Guiding Principle 18, available at: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR EN.pdf
- Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights: Implementing the United Nations "Protect, Respect and Remedy" Framework, (2011), Guiding Principle 29, available at: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR EN.pdf
- Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights: Implementing the United Nations "Protect, Respect and Remedy" Framework, (2011), Guiding Principle 31, available at: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR EN.pdf
- Bangkok Post, *PTTGC sued over Rayong spill*, (26 July 2014), available at:
 - https://www.bangkokpost.com/print/422546/
- Bangkok Post, *PTTGC sued over Rayong spill*, (26 July 2014), available at: https://www.bangkokpost.com/print/422546/
- Bangkok Post, *PTTGC sued over Rayong spill*, (26 July 2014), available at: https://www.bangkokpost.com/print/422546/
- Bangkok Post, *PTTGC sued over Rayong spill*, (26 July 2014), available at: https://www.bangkokpost.com/print/422546/
- National Human Rights Commission of Thailand (NHRCT), Submission prepared for the 2nd cycle of the Universal Periodic Review of Thailand, 25th Session of the Human Rights Council (April-May 2016), (2015), available at: https://www.ohchr.org/EN/HRBodies/UPR/Pages/UPRTHStakeholdersInfoS25.aspx
- Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT), Environmental Risks of Mining, (2016), available at:
 - http://web.mit.edu/12.000/www/m2016/finalwebsite/problems/mining.html
- Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT), Environmental Risks of Mining, (2016), available at: http://web.mit.edu/12.000/www/m2016/finalwebsite/problems/mining.html; and Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Mining, Petroleum, Environment and Human Rights, developed by the Legal Centre for Human Rights to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at:
 - https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr advocacy factsheets thailand2016-en.pdf
- Massachusetts Institute of Technology, *Environmental Risks of Mining*, (2016), available at: http://web.mit.edu/12.000/www/m2016/finalwebsite/problems/mining.html
- John R. Owen and Deanna Kemp, *Mining-induced Displacement and Resettlement: A Critical Appraisal*, Journal of Cleaner Production, 87(1), (January 2014), available at:
 - https://www.researchgate.net/publication/266857659_Mining-
 - Induced Displacement and Resettlement A Critical Appraisal
- Human Rights Watch, *Toxic Water, Tainted Justice Thailand's Delays in Cleaning up Klity Creek,* (2014), available at: http://features.hrw.org/features/HRW 2014 reports/Toxic Water Tainted Justice/thailand1214 web.pdf
- The Nation, *Klity residents win Bt36m in decade-long fight over mine*, (12 September 2017), available at: https://www.nationthailand.com/national/30326430



190

- Khaosod, ชาวคลิดี้อัด คพ. ฟื้นลำหัวยเปื้อนพิษไม่ตรงคำพิพากษา ทั้งยังปิดบังรายละเอียดการฟื้นฟู, (9 April 2018) available at: https://www.khaosod.co.th/around-thailand/news_944355
- ¹⁸⁶ Matichon Online, **ตรวจแผนพื้นฟู กำจัดมลพิษคลิตี้ได้จริงหรือ**?, (14 April 2018), available at:

https://www.matichon.co.th/region/news 916080

- Khaosod, ชาวคลิติ์อัด คพ. ฟื้นลำหัวยเปื้อนพิษไม่ตรงคำพิพากษา ทั้งยังปิดบังรายละเอียดการฟื้นฟู, (9 April 2018), available at: https://www.khaosod.co.th/around-thailand/news_944355
- ¹⁸⁸ Khaosod, ชาวคลิตี้อัด คพ. ฟื้นลำหัวยเปื้อนพิษไม่ตรงคำพิพากษา ทั้งยังปิดบังรายละเอียดการฟื้นฟู, (9 April 2018), available at: https://www.khaosod.co.th/around-thailand/news 944355
- Khaosod, ชาวคลิตี้อัด คพ. ฟื้นลำหัวยเปื้อนพิษไม่ตรงคำพิพากษา ทั้งยังปิดบังรายละเอียดการฟื้นฟู, (9 April 2018) available at https://www.khaosod.co.th/around-thailand/news 944355

Matichon Online, ตรวจแผนพื้นฟู กำจัดมลพิษคลิตี้ได้จริงหรือ?, (14 April 2018), available at:

httns://www.matichon.co.th/region/news_916080

- Matichon Online, ตรวจแผนฟื้นฟู กำจัดมลพิษคลิตี้ได้จริงหรือ?, (14 April 2018), available at: https://www.matichon.co.th/region/news 916080; Matichon Online, รองอธิบดีกรมควบคุมมลพิษ เกาะติดพื้นฟู 'สำห้วยคลิตี้' เตรียมสร้างระบบส่งน้ำประปา ปี 62, (30 April 2018), available at: https://www.matichon.co.th/news-monitor/news 936627
- 191 Khaosod, ชาวคลิตี้อัด คพ. ฟื้นลำห้วยเปื้อนพิษไม่ตรงคำพิพากษา ทั้งยังปิดบังรายละเอียดการฟื้นฟู, (9 April 2018), available at: https://www.khaosod.co.th/around-thailand/news 944355
- Minerals Act (2017), available at: http://www.dpim.go.th/en/media/002 2560.pdf
- Petroleum Act (No. 7), (2017), available at: http://library2.parliament.go.th/giventake/content_nla2557/law65-220660-32.pdf
- Government Gazette, Head of the *National Council for Peace and Order (NCPO) Order No. 9/2016*, (2016), available at: http://www.ratchakitcha.soc.go.th/DATA/PDF/2559/E/059/46.PDF
- National Legislative Assembly, *Head of the National Council for Peace and Order (NCPO) Order 3/2016*, (2016), available at: http://library2.parliament.go.th/giventake/content_ncpo/ncpo-head-order3-2559.pdf
- National Legislative Assembly, *Head of the National Council for Peace and Order (NCPO) Order 4/2016,* (2016), available at: http://library2.parliament.go.th/giventake/content ncpo/ncpo-head-order4-2559.pdf
- The Secretariat of the House of Representatives, *National Council for Peace and Order (NCPO) Order No. 28/2560*, (2017), available at: http://library2.parliament.go.th/giventake/content_ncpo/ncpo-head-order28-2560.pdf
- ILaw, Unofficial Translation of NCPO order No. 3/2015, (1 April 2015), available at: https://voicefromthais.files.wordpress.com/2015/04/order-number-3-2558-3-2015-of-the-head-of-the-ncpo-on-maintaining-public-order-and-national-security.pdf
- Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Mining, Petroleum, Environment and Human Rights, developed by the Legal Centre for Human Rights to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at:

https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr advocacy factsheets - thailand2016-en.pdf

- Public Assembly Act (2015), available at: http://demonstration.police.go.th/law140758.pdf
- Manushya Foundation, First Experts Meeting to inform the CSO National Baseline Assessment (NBA) on Business and Human Rights, (September 2017), available at: https://www.manushyafoundation.org/single-post/RELEASE-OF-FIRST-BHR-NBA-EXPERTS-MEETING
- World Bank, Food Security and Conflict, (22 October 2010), available at:

 https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/9107/WDR2011 0031.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed

 =y
- The Nation, Coal plant in Thepa 'would inflame the insurgency', (16 February 2016), available at: https://www.mekongeye.com/2016/02/16/coal-plant-in-thepa-would-inflame-the-insurgency/
- The Nation, *Coal plant in Thepa 'would inflame the insurgency'*, (16 February 2016), available at:
 - https://www.mekongeye.com/2016/02/16/coal-plant-in-thepa-would-inflame-the-insurgency/
- The Nation, Locals in South 'lack details on coal plants', (11 April 2016), available at:
 - https://www.nationthailand.com/news/30283699?utm_source=category&utm_medium=internal_referral
- Bangkok Post, Razor wire rings Thepa power plant hearing, (27 July 2015), available at:
 - https://www.bangkokpost.com/news/general/635844/razor-wire-rings-thepha-power-plant-hearing
- The Nation, Coal plant in Thepa 'would inflame the insurgency', (16 February 2016), available at: https://www.mekongeye.com/2016/02/16/coal-plant-in-thepa-would-inflame-the-insurgency/
- Bangkok Post, *Academics join to bail our anti-coal protesters*, (30 November 2017), available at: https://www.bangkokpost.com/news/politics/1369143/academics-join-to-bail-out-anti-coal-protesters



- ²⁰⁹ Bangkok Post, *Academics join to bail our anti-coal protesters*, (30 November 2017), available at:
 - https://www.bangkokpost.com/news/politics/1369143/academics-join-to-bail-out-anti-coal-protesters
- The Nation, Anti-coal protesters start new hunger strike demanding end to two projects, (12 February 2018), available at: https://www.nationthailand.com/national/30338680
- The Nation, Coal-fired electricity projects deal struck, (20 February 2018), available at: https://www.nationthailand.com/news/30339339
- ²¹² MGR Online, ตะลึงงัน! กลุ่มหนุนโรงไฟฟ้าถ่านหินเทพาใต้ปึก กฟผ.ลอกข้อสอบทำ MOU กับ 'รมว.พลังงาน', (28 March 2018), available at: https://mgronline.com/south/detail/9610000030940
- Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Natural Resource Management and Human Rights (Dam), developed by Samacha Khon Jon Korani Kuen Pakmoon, FTA Watch, Justice for Peace Foundation (JPF) and Land Watch Working Group (LWWG) to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at:
 - https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr advocacy factsheets thailand2016-en.pdf
- The Nation, *Questions raised over Cabinet nod for SCG use of forest reserve*, (6 March 2019), available at: https://www.nationthailand.com/national/30365332
- Community Resource Centre, Northern Development Foundation, Thai Sea Watch Association, E-Sarn Human Rights and Peace Information Centre, and the Project for Campaign for Public Policy on Mineral Resources, *Joint Submission prepared for the joint initial and second report of Thailand, at the 55th Session of the United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), (1-19 June 2015),* (April 2015), available at:
 - http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CESCR/Shared%20Documents/THA/INT_CESCR_CSS_THA_20443_E.pdf
- Community Resource Centre, Northern Development Foundation, Thai Sea Watch Association, E-Sarn Human Rights and Peace Information Centre, and the Project for Campaign for Public Policy on Mineral Resources, Joint Submission prepared for the joint initial and second report of Thailand, at the 55th Session of the United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), (1-19 June 2015), (April 2015), available at:
 - http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CESCR/Shared%20Documents/THA/INT_CESCR_CSS_THA_20443_E.pdf
- Community Resource Centre, Northern Development Foundation, Thai Sea Watch Association, E-Sarn Human Rights and Peace Information Centre, and the Project for Campaign for Public Policy on Mineral Resources, *Joint Submission prepared for the joint initial and second report of Thailand, at the 55th Session of the United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), (1-19 June 2015),* (April 2015), available at:
 - http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CESCR/Shared%20Documents/THA/INT CESCR CSS THA 20443 E.pdf
- Prachatai, National Action Plan on Business and Human Rights: Hope or a Blank Page? (5 March 2019), available at: https://prachatai.com/english/node/7955
- The Isaan Record, Isaan villagers continue mobilizing against the Dong Mun gas field operations, (22 February 2016), available at:
 - https://isaanrecord.com/2016/02/22/isaan-villagers-continue-mobilizing-against-the-dong-mun-gas-field-operations/
- Prachatai, National Action Plan on Business and Human Rights: Hope or a Blank Page? (5 March 2019), available at: https://prachatai.com/english/node/7955
- The Isaan Record, Locals protest sugarcane factory project in Khon Kaen's Ban Phai District, (3 February 2019), available at: https://isaanrecord.com/2019/03/02/locals-protest-sugarcane-factory-project/
- Prachatai, National Action Plan on Business and Human Rights: Hope or a Blank Page? (5 March 2019), available at: https://prachatai.com/english/node/7955
- The Nation, National parks bill deliberation disrupted at parliament as forest group 'makes noise', (6 March 2019), available at: https://www.nationthailand.com/news/30365324; The Nation, NLA offends forest dweller with nation parks amendments, (7 March 2019), available at: https://www.nationthailand.com/breakingnews/30365367
- Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Natural Resource Management and Human Rights (Dam), developed by Samacha Khon Jon Korani Kuen Pakmoon, FTA Watch, Justice for Peace Foundation (JPF) and Land Watch Working Group (LWWG) to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at: https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr advocacy factsheets thailand2016-en.pdf
- International Women's Rights Action Watch Asia Pacific (IWRAW Asia Pacific), Women's Human Rights and Natural Resources Briefing Paper, (2017), available at: https://www.iwraw-ap.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Briefing-paper-Womens-Human-Rights-and-Natural-Resources.pdf
- International Women's Rights Action Watch Asia Pacific (IWRAW Asia Pacific), Women's Human Rights and Natural Resources Briefing Paper, (2017), available at: https://www.iwraw-ap.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Briefing-paper-Womens-Human-Rights-and-Natural-Resources.pdf



- Danish Institute of Human Rights, Women in business and human rights: A mapping of topics for state attention in United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights implementation processes, (February 2018), p. 25, available
 - https://www.humanrights.dk/sites/humanrights.dk/files/media/dokumenter/projects docs/gender business/bhr gender mapping notes draft 2018.pdf
- National Human Rights Commission of Thailand (NHRCT), Submission prepared for the 2nd cycle of the Universal Periodic Review of Thailand, 25th Session of the Human Rights Council (April-May 2016), (2015), para. 12 available at: https://www.ohchr.org/EN/HRBodies/UPR/Pages/UPRTHStakeholdersInfoS25.aspx
- Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Natural Resource Management and Human Rights (Dam), developed by Samacha Khon Jon Korani Kuen Pakmoon, FTA Watch, Justice for Peace Foundation (JPF) and Land Watch Working Group (LWWG) to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at: https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr_advocacy_factsheets thailand2016-en.pdf; Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Mining, Petroleum, Environment and Human Rights, developed by the Legal Centre for Human Rights to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at: https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr_advocacy_factsheets-thailand2016-en.pdf
- OECD Ecoscope, *Thailand is advancing in participatory and evidence0based regulatory reform,* (17 May 2018), available at: https://oecdecoscope.blog/2018/05/07/thailand-is-advancing-in-participatory-and-evidence-based-regulatory-reform/
- OECD Ecoscope, Thailand is advancing in participatory and evidence0based regulatory reform, (17 May 2018), available at: https://oecdecoscope.blog/2018/05/07/thailand-is-advancing-in-participatory-and-evidence-based-regulatory-reform/
- OECD Ecoscope, Thailand is advancing in participatory and evidence0based regulatory reform, (17 May 2018), available at: https://oecdecoscope.blog/2018/05/07/thailand-is-advancing-in-participatory-and-evidence-based-regulatory-reform/
- OECD Ecoscope, *Thailand is advancing in participatory and evidence0based regulatory reform,* (17 May 2018), available at: https://oecdecoscope.blog/2018/05/07/thailand-is-advancing-in-participatory-and-evidence-based-regulatory-reform/
- OECD Ecoscope, *Thailand is advancing in participatory and evidence0based regulatory reform,* (17 May 2018), available at: https://oecdecoscope.blog/2018/05/07/thailand-is-advancing-in-participatory-and-evidence-based-regulatory-reform/
- OECD Ecoscope, *Thailand is advancing in participatory and evidence0based regulatory reform,* (17 May 2018), available at: https://oecdecoscope.blog/2018/05/07/thailand-is-advancing-in-participatory-and-evidence-based-regulatory-reform/;
- Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Natural Resource Management and Human Rights (Dam), developed by Samacha Khon Jon Korani Kuen Pakmoon, FTA Watch, Justice for Peace Foundation (JPF) and Land Watch Working Group (LWWG) to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at: https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr advocacy factsheets thailand2016-en.pdf
- Manushya Foundation, Second Experts Meeting to Discuss Findings & Recommendations of the CSO National Baseline Assessment (NBA) on Business & Human Rights in Thailand, Executive Summary, (February March 2018) available at: https://docs.wixstatic.com/ugd/0ac4f6 a93b289b64984a38a6f78740644a7771.pdf
- Community Resource Centre, Northern Development Foundation, Thai Sea Watch Association, E-Sarn Human Rights and Peace Information Centre, and the Project for Campaign for Public Policy on Mineral Resources, *Joint Submission prepared for the joint initial and second report of Thailand, at the 55th Session of the United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), (1-19 June 2015),* (April 2015), available at:
 - http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CESCR/Shared%20Documents/THA/INT_CESCR_CSS_THA_20443_E.pdf
- ²³⁹ Community Resource Centre, Northern Development Foundation, Thai Sea Watch Association, E-Sarn Human Rights and Peace Information Centre, and the Project for Campaign for Public Policy on Mineral Resources, *Joint Submission prepared for the joint initial and second report of Thailand, at the 55th Session of the United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), (1-19 June 2015),* (April 2015), available at:
 - http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CESCR/Shared%20Documents/THA/INT CESCR CSS THA 20443 E.pdf
- Community Resource Centre, Northern Development Foundation, Thai Sea Watch Association, E-Sarn Human Rights and Peace Information Centre, and the Project for Campaign for Public Policy on Mineral Resources, *Joint Submission prepared for the joint initial and second report of Thailand, at the 55th Session of the United Nations Committee on*



Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), (1-19 June 2015), (April 2015), available at:

http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CESCR/Shared%20Documents/THA/INT CESCR CSS THA 20443 E.pdf

Community Resource Centre, Northern Development Foundation, Thai Sea Watch Association, E-Sarn Human Rights and Peace Information Centre, and the Project for Campaign for Public Policy on Mineral Resources, *Joint Submission prepared for the joint initial and second report of Thailand, at the 55th Session of the United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), (1-19 June 2015),* (April 2015), available at:

http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CESCR/Shared%20Documents/THA/INT_CESCR_CSS_THA_20443_E.pdf

- Dawei Development Association (DDA), Voices from the Ground: Concerns Over the Dawei Special Economic Zone and Related Projects, (2014), available at: http://www.burmalibrary.org/docs19/Voices from the ground-enred.pdf
- The Asian Legal Resource Centre (ALRC) and Protection International, Submission prepared for the joint initial and second report of Thailand, at the 55th Session of the United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), (1-19 June 2015), (April 2015), available at:

 http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/ layouts/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=INT%2fCESCR%2fCSS%2fTHA%

2f20514&Lang=en

- Prachatai, National Action Plan on Business and Human Rights: Hope or a Blank Page? (5 March 2019), available at: https://prachatai.com/english/node/7955
- The Isaan Record, Isaan villagers continue mobilizing against the Dong Mun gas field operations, (22 February 2016), available at:
 - https://isaanrecord.com/2016/02/22/isaan-villagers-continue-mobilizing-against-the-dong-mun-gas-field-operations/
- Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, *Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Mining, Petroleum, Environment and Human Rights*, developed by the Legal Centre for Human Rights to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at:
 - https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr_advocacy_factsheets thailand2016-en.pdf
- Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, *Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Mining, Petroleum, Environment and Human Rights*, developed by the Legal Centre for Human Rights to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at:
 - https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr_advocacy_factsheets_-_thailand2016-en.pdf;
 - Isra News, Udon conservation group's meeting against Potesh mining, (2013), available at: http://www.isranews.org/community-newsประชานิยม-ประชาคม/item/20963-pcnypt030513.html
- Earthrights International, *Environmental Impact Assessment in the Mekong Region*, (October 2016), p. 107-108, available at:
 - https://earthrights.org/wp-content/uploads/eia manual final 0.pdf
- Laungaramsri Pinkaew, *The Politics of Nature Conservation in Thailand*, (7 March 2017), available at: https://nature.hypotheses.org/328
- National Human Rights Commission of Thailand (NHRCT), Submission prepared for the joint initial and second report of Thailand, at the 55th Session of the United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), (1-19 June 2015), (April 2015), available at:
 - http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CESCR/Shared%20Documents/THA/INT_CESCR_NHS_THA_20024_E.docx
- National Human Rights Commission of Thailand (NHRCT), Submission prepared for the joint initial and second report of Thailand, at the 55th Session of the United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), (1-19 June 2015), (April 2015), available at:
- http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CESCR/Shared%20Documents/THA/INT CESCR NHS THA 20024 E.docx
- Manushya Foundation, First Experts Meeting to inform the CSO National Baseline Assessment (NBA) on Business & Human Rights in Thailand, (September 2017), available at: https://www.manushyafoundation.org/single-post/RELEASE-OF-FIRST-BHR-NBA-EXPERTS-MEETING
- Prachatai, ชาวกระแสบนต้านโรงไฟฟ้าชีวมวล ป้องแหล่งน้ำประปา-รักษาพื้นที่เกษตร, (8 October 2015), available at: https://prachatai.com/journal/2015/10/61819
- Prachatai, ชาวกระแสบนต้านโรงไฟฟ้าชีวมวล ป้องแหล่งน้ำประปา-รักษาพื้นที่เกษตร, (8 October 2015), available at: https://prachatai.com/journal/2015/10/61819
- Manushya Foundation, First Experts Meeting to inform the CSO National Baseline Assessment (NBA) on Business & Human Rights in Thailand, (September 2017), available at: https://www.manushyafoundation.org/single-post/RELEASE-OF-FIRST-BHR-NBA-EXPERTS-MEETING



- Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Mining, Petroleum, Environment and Human Rights, developed by the Legal Centre for Human Rights to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at: https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr advocacy factsheets thailand2016-en.pdf; Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), Mandates of the Independent Expert on the issue of human rights obligations related to the enjoyment of a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable environment; the Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of the right to freedom of opinion and expression; the Special Rapporteur on the rights to freedom and peaceful assembly and of association; and the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights defenders, (1 July 2014), available at: https://spcommreports.ohchr.org/TMResultsBase/DownLoadPublicCommunicationFile?gld=16503; and The Asian Le gal Resource Centre (ALRC) and Protection International, Submission prepared for the joint initial and second report of Thailand, at the 55th Session of the United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), (1-1 9 June 2015), (April 2015), p.6 available at https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/layouts/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=INT%2fCESCR%2fCSS%2fTHA%2f20514&Lang=en
- Front Line Defenders, Case History: Surapan Rujichaiwat, available at:
 https://www.frontlinedefenders.org/en/case/case-history-surapan-rujichaiwat#case-update-id-457
- Thai CSOs Coalition for the UPR, Information on the Status of the Human Rights Situation in Thailand UPR Advocacy Factsheet on Mining, Petroleum, Environment and Human Rights, developed by the Legal Centre for Human Rights to inform Thailand 2nd UPR Cycle, (2016), available at: https://www.upr-info.org/sites/default/files/general-document/pdf/upr advocacy factsheets thailand2016-en.pdf
- Prachatai English, Court dismisses mining company's case against Thai PBS, (16 November 2016), available at: https://prachatai.com/english/node/6719
- Prachatai English, Court dismisses mining company's case against Thai PBS, (16 November 2016), available at: https://prachatai.com/english/node/6719; Prachatai English, Mining operator urged to drop lawsuit against high school student, (17 December 2015), available at: https://prachatai.com/english/node/5706
- Freedom iLaw, Somlak 2nd Case: Posted Facebook criticizing a gold mine in Pichit province, available at: https://freedom.ilaw.or.th/en/case/745#progress of case
- Prachatai English, Journalist sued by Thai mining company operating in Myanmar, (15 May 2017), available at: https://prachatai.com/english/node/7141; and Reporters Without Borders, Thailand: RSF backs Thai journalist Pratch Rujivanarom, (17 May 2017), available at: https://rsf.org/en/news/thailand-rsf-backs-thai-journalist-pratch-rujivanarom
- The Nation, *Pongpipat follows Myanmar environmental regulation,* (11 September 2017), available at: https://www.nationthailand.com/national/30326330
- ENLAWTHAI Foundation (EnLAW), The Network of People in Eight Provinces with the ENLAWTHAI Foundation (EnLAW) suing the Head of the National Council for Peace and Order (NCPO), (18 April 2016), available at: http://enlawfoundation.org/newweb/wp-content/uploads/160418-PressRelease-Lawsuit-NCPO4-2559-Eng.pdf
- ENLAWTHAI Foundation (EnLAW), The Network of People in Eight Provinces with the ENLAWTHAI Foundation (EnLAW) suing the Head of the National Council for Peace and Order (NCPO), (18 April 2016), available at: http://enlawfoundation.org/newweb/wp-content/uploads/160418-PressRelease-Lawsuit-NCPO4-2559-Eng.pdf
- ENLAWTHAI Foundation (EnLAW), The Network of People in Eight Provinces with the ENLAWTHAI Foundation (EnLAW) suing the Head of the National Council for Peace and Order (NCPO), (18 April 2016), available at: http://enlawfoundation.org/newweb/wp-content/uploads/160418-PressRelease-Lawsuit-NCPO4-2559-Eng.pdf
- ENLAWTHAI Foundation (EnLAW), The Network of People in Eight Provinces with the ENLAWTHAI Foundation (EnLAW) suing the Head of the National Council for Peace and Order (NCPO), (18 April 2016), available at: http://enlawfoundation.org/newweb/wp-content/uploads/160418-PressRelease-Lawsuit-NCPO4-2559-Eng.pdf
- ENLAWTHAI Foundation (EnLAW), The Network of People in Eight Provinces with the ENLAWTHAI Foundation (EnLAW) suing the Head of the National Council for Peace and Order (NCPO), (18 April 2016), available at: http://enlawfoundation.org/newweb/wp-content/uploads/160418-PressRelease-Lawsuit-NCPO4-2559-Eng.pdf; International Commission of Jurists (ICJ) and Thai Lawyers for Human Rights (TLHR), Joint Submission prepared for 2nd periodic report of Thailand, 119th session of the United Nations Human Rights Committee (CCPR) (6-29 March 2017), (2017), p.2, available at:
- https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CCPR/Shared%20Documents/THA/INT_CCPR_CSS_THA_26602_E.pdf
 International Commission of Jurists (ICJ) and Thai Lawyers for Human Rights (TLHR), Joint Submission prepared for 2nd
 periodic report of Thailand, 119th session of the United Nations Human Rights Committee (CCPR) (6-29 March 2017),
 (2017), p.2 and 3, available at:
 - https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CCPR/Shared%20Documents/THA/INT CCPR CSS THA 26602 E.pdf



- International Commission of Jurists (ICJ) and Thai Lawyers for Human Rights (TLHR), Joint Submission prepared for 2nd periodic report of Thailand, 119th session of the United Nations Human Rights Committee (CCPR) (6-29 March 2017), (2017), p.2 and 3, available at:
- https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CCPR/Shared%20Documents/THA/INT CCPR CSS THA 26602 E.pdf
- Bangkok Post, Gold mine should cough up, says locals, (3 October 2018), available at:
- https://www.bangkokpost.com/news/general/1550858/gold-mine-should-cough-up-say-locals
- Bangkok Post, Gold mine should cough up, says locals, (3 October 2018), available at:
 - https://www.bangkokpost.com/news/general/1550858/gold-mine-should-cough-up-say-locals
- Bangkok Post, *Gold mine should cough up, says locals*, (3 October 2018), available at:
 - https://www.bangkokpost.com/news/general/1550858/gold-mine-should-cough-up-say-locals
- The Nation, *Loei mining firm loses battle*, (13 December 2018), available at:
 - https://www.nationthailand.com/national/30360354
- The Nation, *Loei mining firm loses battle*, (13 December 2018), available at:
 - https://www.nationthailand.com/national/30360354
- Business and Human Rights Resource Centre, *Interview of Sor. Rattanamanee Polkla: Legal remedies do not only mean compensation, they mean prevention*, available at: https://www.business-humanrights.org/en/legal-remedies-do-not-only-mean-compensation-they-mean-prevention
- International Land Coalition, Asia Indigenous Peoples Pact, Sustainable forest management ties indigenous group together against eviction threats, (2016), available at:

 https://learn.landcoalition.org/en/good-practices/sustainable-forest-management-ties-indigenous-group-
 - together-against-eviction-threats/; See also: Manushya Foundation, Submission to the UN Special Rapporteur on the Right to Development for the Asia Regional Consultation on Practical Implementation of the Right to Development: Identifying and Promoting Good Practices, 12 and 13 December 2018, Bangkok, (2018), available at: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Development/SR/Bangkok/ManushyaFoundation.pdf
- Asian Environmental Compliance and Enforcement Network (AECEN), Assessing Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) in Thailand: Implementation Challenges and Opportunities for Sustainable Development Planning, (March 2015), p. 56, available at:
- https://www.iges.or.jp/en/publication documents/pub/workingpaper/en/5601/EIA+Thai+study 10Mar15-Final.pdf
 Asian Environmental Compliance and Enforcement Network (AECEN), Assessing Environmental Impact Assessment
 (EIA) in Thailand: Implementation Challenges and Opportunities for Sustainable Development Planning, (March 2015), p. 56, available at:
- https://www.iges.or.jp/en/publication_documents/pub/workingpaper/en/5601/EIA+Thai+study_10Mar15-Final.pdf
 Asian Environmental Compliance and Enforcement Network (AECEN), Assessing Environmental Impact Assessment
 (EIA) in Thailand: Implementation Challenges and Opportunities for Sustainable Development Planning, (March 2015), p. 57, available at:
- https://www.iges.or.jp/en/publication documents/pub/workingpaper/en/5601/EIA+Thai+study 10Mar15-Final.pdf
 Phayong Thepaksorn, Wattasit Siriwong and Sathirakorn Pongpanic, Integrating Human Health into Environmental Impact Assessment: Review of Health Impact Assessment in Thailand, Applied Environmental Research Journal (March 2016), p. 72, available at:
 - https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Phayong Thepaksorn/publication/320442838 Integrating Human Health in to Environmental Impact Assessment Review of Health Impact Assessment in Thailand/links/59e58664a6fdcc1 b1d8f7ead/Integrating-Human-Health-into-Environmental-Impact-Assessment-Review-of-Health-Impact-Assessment-in-Thailand.pdf
- Chaunjit Chanchitpricha and Alan Bond, *Investigating the effectiveness of mandatory integration of health impact assessment within environmental impact assessment (EIA): a case study of Thailand,* Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal (November 2017), Conclusions, p.29, available at:
- https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/14615517.2017.1364019

 Chaunjit Chanchitpricha and Alan Bond, Investigating the effectiveness of mandatory integration of health impact assessment within environmental impact assessment (EIA): a case study of Thailand, Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal (November 2017), Conclusions, p.29, available at:
- https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/14615517.2017.1364019
- ²⁸⁴ Chaunjit Chanchitpricha and Alan Bond, *Investigating the effectiveness of mandatory integration of health impact assessment within environmental impact assessment (EIA): a case study of Thailand*, Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal (November 2017), Conclusions, p.29, available at:
 - https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/14615517.2017.1364019
- Irit Tamir and Sarah Zoen, Human Rights Impact Assessments in a Brazil Land Conflict: Towards a Hybrid Approach, Business and Human Rights Journal, Vol. 2, Issue 2, (July 2017), available at:



https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/business-and-human-rights-journal/article/human-rights-impact-assessments-in-a-brazil-land-conflict-towards-a-hybrid-approach/B0BEFFC7B3C2FCA3565D74A2F201EE18

lrit Tamir & Sarah Zoen, Human Rights Impact Assessments in a Brazil Land Conflict: Towards a Hybrid Approach, Cambridge University Press, (July 2017), Volume 2, Issue 2, pp. 371-377, available at: https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/business-and-human-rights-journal/article/human-rights-

<u>impactassessments-in-a-brazil-land-conflict-towards-a-</u>

hybridapproach/B0BEFFC7B3C2FCA3565D74A2F201EE18

- Oxfam and the International Federation for Human Rights (FIDH), Community-Based Human Rights Impact Assessment: The Getting it Right Tool Training Manual, p. 2, available at:
 - https://www.oxfamamerica.org/static/media/files/COBHRA Training Manual English.pdf
- Intern-Mountain Peoples' Education and Culture in Thailand Association, *Indigenous Peoples and Protected Areas in Thailand: A Review,* (10 January 2011), available at:
 - http://www.forestpeoples.org/sites/default/files/news/2011/01/Media%20briefing_Thailand_IPs_and_PAs_Sharing %20Power_2011_Eng.pdf
- ²⁸⁹ French Law No. 2017-399, (27 March 2017), available at:
 - https://business-humanrights.org/sites/default/files/documents/Texte%20PPL EN-US.docx
- Morgan Lewis, Charles Dauthier and Sabine Smith-Vidal, French Companies Must Show Duty of Care for Human and Environmental Rights, (4 April 2017), available at: https://www.jdsupra.com/legalnews/french-companies-must-show-duty-of-care-56981/
- Anne-Marie Lévesque, France's Duty of Vigilance Law: what can we expect?, (6 December 2017), available at: http://ergonassociates.net/frances-duty-vigilance-law-can-expect/
- Anne-Marie Lévesque, France's Duty of Vigilance Law: what can we expect?, (6 December 2017), available at: http://ergonassociates.net/frances-duty-vigilance-law-can-expect/
- Ahmad Ashov Birry, *This court victory in Indonesia could send shock waves across the fashion world,* (June 1, 2016) available at: https://www.greenpeace.org/international/story/7522/this-court-victory-in-indonesia-could-send-shock-waves-across-the-fashion-world/
- The International Organization for Standardization (ISO) and the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), ISO 26000 and OECD Guidelines Practical Overview of the Linkages, (7 February 2017), p. 11, available at: https://www.iso.org/files/live/sites/isoorg/files/store/en/PUB100418.pdf
- The International Organization for Standardization (ISO) and the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), ISO 26000 and OECD Guidelines Practical Overview of the Linkages, (7 February 2017), p. 48, available at: https://www.iso.org/files/live/sites/isoorg/files/store/en/PUB100418.pdf
- AccountAbility, AA1000 Stakeholder Engagement Standard 2015, (2015), p. 9, available at: http://www.accountability.org/standards/
- AccountAbility, AA1000 Stakeholder Engagement Standard 2015, (2015), 'About AccoutAbility', available at: http://www.accountability.org/standards/
- Chris Laszlo, Sustainable Value How the World's Leading Companies Are Doing Well by Doing Good, Stanford University Press (2008), p. 103-105
- International Finance Corporation (IFC), Stakeholder Engagement: A Good Practice Handbook for Companies Doing Business in Emerging Markets, (May 2007), p. 116, available at:

 http://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/topics ext content/ifc external corporate site/sustainability-at
 - ifc/publications/publications handbook stakeholderengagement wci 1319577185063
- United Nations Global Compact (UNGC), Participation, available at: https://www.unglobalcompact.org/participation
- United Nations Global Compact (UNGC), *Our Mission*, available at: https://www.unglobalcompact.org/what-is-gc/mission
- United Nations Global Compact (UNGC), *The Ten Principles of the UN Global Impact*, available at: https://www.unglobalcompact.org/what-is-gc/mission/principles
- UN Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), General comment No. 24 on State obligations under the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights in the context of business activities, (10 August 2017), E/C.12/GC/24, paras 17-18, available at:
 - $\frac{https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/_layouts/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=E\%2fC.12\%2fGC\%2f24\&Lang=\underline{en}$
- UN Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), General comment No. 24 on State obligations under the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights in the context of business activities, (10 August 2017), E/C.12/GC/24, para 18, available at:
 - https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/ layouts/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=E%2fC.12%2fGC%2f24&Lang=en



- United Nations Global Compact (UNGC), *The Ten Principles of the UN Global Impact*, available at: https://www.unglobalcompact.org/what-is-gc/mission/principles
- United Nations Global Compact (UNGC), Participation, available at: https://www.unglobalcompact.org/participation
- United Nations Global Compact (UNGC), Communication on progress 2016: KCE, (2016), available at: https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/ungc-production/attachments/cop 2017/370901/original/Communication on Progress for 2016.pdf?1490775832
- SDG Resource Centre, *The UN Global Compact and Human Rights*, available at: https://sdgresources.relx.com/legal-practical-guidance/un-global-compact-and-human-rights
- United Nations Global Compact (UNGC), *Our Participants*, available at: https://www.unglobalcompact.org/what-is-gc/participants/search%5Bcountries%5D%5B%5D=196
- United Nations Global Compact (UNGC), Force for a sustainable life: sustainability report 2016 of Charoen Pokphand Group, (2016), available at: https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/ungc-production/attachments/cop 2017/375181/original/Sustainabiliy Report 2016 %28external%29.pdf?1492003483
- United Nations Global Compact (UNGC), Communication on progress for the LEAD level of the United Nations Global Compact: PTTGC, (2017), available at: https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/ungc-production/attachments/cop 2017/359841/original/UNGC COP PTTGC 2017.pdf?1486629561
- United Nations Global Compact (UNGC), Sustainability Report 2016: True, (2016), available at: https://s3-us-west-2.a/mazonaws.com/ungc-production/attachments/cop_2017/410781/original/True_Corp_SD_2016-report_en.pdf?1502780308
- The Voluntary Principles on Security and Human Rights, (2000), p. 1, available at: http://www.voluntaryprinciples.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/TheVoluntaryPrinciples.pdf
- The Voluntary Principles on Security and Human Rights, (2000), p. 3, available at:
- http://www.voluntaryprinciples.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/TheVoluntaryPrinciples.pdf

 The Equator Principles, (June 2013), available at: https://equator-principles.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/equa
- tor_principles_III.pdf
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), *OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises*. (2011), General Policy 14, p. 20, available at: http://www.oecd.org/investment/mne/1922428.pdf
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), *OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises*, (2011), Section IV., p. 31-34, available at: http://www.oecd.org/investment/mne/1922428.pdf
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), OECD Due Diligence Guidance for Meaningful Stakeholder Engagement in the Extractive Sector, (2017), p. 29, available at: https://www.oecd.org/daf/inv/mne/OECD-Guidance-Extractives-Sector-Stakeholder-Engagement.pdf
- Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO), Voluntary Guidelines on the Responsible Governance of Tenure of Land, Fisheries and Forests in the Context of National Food Security, (2012), p. iv and 1, available at: http://www.fao.org/docrep/016/i2801e/i2801e.pdf
- Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO), Voluntary Guidelines on the Responsible Governance of Tenure of Land, Fisheries and Forests in the Context of National Food Security, (2012), p. 4 and 16, available at: http://www.fao.org/docrep/016/i2801e/i2801e.pdf
- International Finance Corporation (IFC), *Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability*, (1 Januar y 2012), Performance Standards 1, available at: https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/c02c2e86-e6cd-4b55-95a2-b 3395d204279/IFC Performance Standards.pdf?MOD=AJPERES&CVID=kTjHBzk
- International Finance Corporation (IFC), *Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability*, (1 Januar y 2012), Performance Standards 3, available at: https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/c02c2e86-e6cd-4b55-95a2-b 3395d204279/IFC Performance Standards.pdf?MOD=AJPERES&CVID=kTjHBzk
- International Finance Corporation (IFC), Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability, (1 Januar y 2012), Performance Standards 4, available at: https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/c02c2e86-e6cd-4b55-95a2-b3395d204279/IFC Performance Standards.pdf?MOD=AJPERES&CVID=kTjHBzk
- International Finance Corporation (IFC), *Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability*, (1 Januar y 2012), Performance Standards 5, available at: https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/c02c2e86-e6cd-4b55-95a2-b 3395d204279/IFC Performance Standards.pdf?MOD=AJPERES&CVID=kTjHBzk
- International Finance Corporation (IFC), *Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability*, (1 Januar y 2012), Performance Standards 6, available at: https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/c02c2e86-e6cd-4b55-95a2-b 3395d204279/IFC Performance Standards.pdf?MOD=AJPERES&CVID=kTjHBzk
- Corporate Human Rights Benchmark, Corporate Human Rights Benchmark Methodology 2018: For the Agricultural Products, Apparel and Extractive Industries, p. 5, available at: https://www.ihrb.org/uploads/news-uploads/CHRB 2018 Methodology Web Version.pdf



- ³²⁷ Corporate Human Rights Benchmark, *Corporate Human Rights Benchmark Methodology 2018: For the Agricultural Products, Apparel and Extractive Industries*, p. 5, available at:
 - https://www.ihrb.org/uploads/news-uploads/CHRB 2018 Methodology Web Version.pdf
- Corporate Human Rights Benchmark, Corporate Human Rights Benchmark Methodology 2018: For the Agricultural Products, Apparel and Extractive Industries, p. 5, available at:
 - https://www.ihrb.org/uploads/news-uploads/CHRB 2018 Methodology Web Version.pdf
- Corporate Human Rights Benchmark, Corporate Human Rights Benchmark Methodology 2018: For the Agricultural Products, Apparel and Extractive Industries, p. 46-47, available at:
 - https://www.ihrb.org/uploads/news-uploads/CHRB 2018 Methodology Web Version.pdf



Founded in 2017, Manushya Foundation serves as a bridge to engage, mobilise, and empower agents of change by: connecting humans through inclusive coalition building and; by developing strategies focused at placing local communities' voices in the centre of human rights advocacy and domestic implementation of international human rights obligations and standards.

Manushya Foundation strengthens the solidarity and capacity of communities and grassroots to ensure they can constructively raise their own concerns and provide solutions in order to improve their livelihoods and the human rights situation on the ground.